


 

ACCELL GROUP AT A GLANCE







PROFILE
Accell Group is an international player in the field of high-quality bicycles, bicycle parts and
accessories in the middle and top segments of the market. As a group, we are market
leader in Europe and the number one in e-bikes. We manage a portfolio of strong national
and international (sports) brands, each with their own distinctive market positioning.

Accell Group has more than 3,000 employees across 18 countries. In 2018, we sold 1.1 million bicycles and
recorded turnover of more than € 1 billion. Accell Group shares are listed on the NYSE Euronext in Amsterdam
and are included in the Small Cap Index.
 



OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Our product range consists of bicycles and bicycle parts and accessories. The highly
complementary combination of the two product groups strengthens our client proposition
and facilitates cross-selling.

Consumers who buy one of our bikes can add accessories to personalise their bike. These accessories range
from children’s seats, bike locks, luggage racks to navigation systems and cycling computers. Bicycles are often
used intensively and this increases the sales of various parts that are subject to wear and tear, such as tyres,
lighting, derailleurs and chains. The growing popularity of e-bikes has also led to an increase in demand for
more complex parts such as batteries, chargers and motors.

On the bicycle front, we handle everything from development and design, purchasing and assembly and
distribution and sales, while bicycle parts and accessories is primarily a trading activity.

BICYCLES
 
BRANDS
We offer various national bicycle brands to respond to the differences in popularity, preferences and tastes
that exist between countries. There are also clear differences in the perception of price, quality and service
between the various countries we operate in. When it comes to our international (high-end) sports brands,
consumer preferences and tastes are much more universal.

COLLECTIONS
Our brands offer collections that respond as closely as possible to the preferences and wishes of consumers.
They are distinctive in terms of design and innovation, which means we can continue to surprise consumers.

SEASONAL PATTERNS
The bicycle industry has a fixed seasonal pattern that may nevertheless vary per country. In Europe, the bicycle
season starts with the major introduction of the new collections in the months of July through September and
the first deliveries for the shop floors from September through December/January. Consumer sales peak in the
period from February through August, with differences per bicycle type and depending on the weather
conditions.



 
DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN
A bicycle is a lifestyle product and our bicycles stand out thanks to design and innovation. Bicycles are also
increasingly a high-tech product and therefore ever more complex. We are constantly working on new
applications in the field of performance enhancement by using new, more light-weight and more efficient
materials. We are also working on the integration of components and accessories in the frame, as well as on
increasing the functionality of our bicycles by making use of the opportunities created by the Internet of Things.
Accell Group has various ongoing innovation and development programmes, both for bicycles as a product and
for bicycle use. These programmes are an opportunity for us to make use of the insights we gain from
consumers. Whenever possible, we involve them in the development process, for instance in the testing of
prototypes.

PROCUREMENT AND PRODUCTION
We use professional and high-quality suppliers in Europe and Asia for the procurement of materials. Our own
production is focused on assembly and spray painting. Around 77% of the bicycles we sell are finished at our
own production plants. We have a number of large-scale production hubs complemented by smaller local
production facilities. The remaining 23% of the bicycles we sell are purchased as ready-made products.



DISTRIBUTION AND SALES
Consumers must be able to find our bicycles where they expect to find them and be able to buy them in what
they consider the best and most convenient manner. We are therefore working on an omnichannel sales
model, with the specialist retail trade playing a crucial role. We are not concerned about whether consumers
buy via a webshop or in a physical store. What matters is that we provide consumers with the highest levels of
service and ensure that prices are fair and comparable across all channels.

BICYCLE PARTS AND ACCESSORIES
 
BRANDS
Brand experience is less marked among consumers when it comes to bicycle parts and accessories than for
bicycles, with the exception of parts in the top segment of the market. We focus strongly on our own
international private label XLC, which we supplement with (top) brands from third parties. 

COLLECTIONS
Our product range includes approximately 85,000 different items in the long tail and this range covers all the
key price points.

SEASONAL PATTERNS
Sales of bicycle parts and accessories are relatively flat when compared to bicycles. The season runs roughly
from February through November, with clear differences between countries and markets. 

DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN
Product innovation plays a modest role in the strategy for our own brand XLC. However, we constantly adapt
parts and accessories to meet the product and design innovations at our bicycle brands. Specific product
categories in the accessories range, such as helmets, clothing, bicycle racks, child trailers and bags do have
their own distinctive style and design.

PROCUREMENT
The products sold under our own XLC brand are always selected in-house and also partly designed in-house.
We frequently collaborate with suppliers we also use for other bicycle parts and accessories for either
assembly or sales on the consumer market. This enables us to safeguard the high quality requirements we set
for all XLC products.

DISTRIBUTION AND SALES
We focus primarily on the European market. We have our own sales organisation and advanced distribution
centres in 11 countries, which together form a comprehensive network in the north, west and south of Europe.
This enables us to supply our clients quickly, which is a key distinguishing factor in this market. While most
consumer sales are still via specialist bicycle and sports stores, we are seeing a steady increase in the number
of sales via webshops. So in effect we are shifting more and more towards an omnichannel sales approach for
our bicycle parts and accessories business, just as we are on the bicycles front.



MESSAGE FROM THE CEO

Dear reader,

The year 2018 was very much a year of contrasts for Accell Group. On the one hand, our
core operations (excluding North America) recorded solid turnover growth of 6.1% with an
EBIT margin of 5.2% and an operating result of € 54 million. At the same time, 2018 was
also a year of transition, in which we made numerous adjustments and changes in line
with our refined strategy ‘Lead global. Win local’, to enable us to generate more growth
and create more value in the years 2019-2022.

 

At the end of 2018, we decided to focus on Europe and run our North American operations (around 6% of our
group turnover) as a separate business. We made this decision in response to the persistently disappointing
results and the fact that we do not expect to realise any marked improvement in North America in the near
future. In 2018, as a group we ultimately realised a total added value of 29.7% (2017: 28.3%). Working capital
also declined to 26.4% last year (2017: 29.5%).   

The trend on the e-bike front was once again very positive in 2018. E-bikes accounted for 71% of overall bicycle
turnover in 2018 (63% in 2017). This constitutes a 17% increase in e-bike sales compared to 2017. The e-MTBs
in German-language countries and France (Haibike, Ghost and Lapierre) made particularly strong contributions
to this growth. The bicycle parts and accessories operations in Europe also performed well in 2018 and
recorded a solid improvement in turnover.



Accell the Netherlands recorded markedly lower turnover than in 2017. This was largely due to the fact that we
chose to bid farewell to a key internet player in June 2018, and to a number of delayed innovations at Koga and
at Sparta/Batavus. At the same time, we are now seeing a gradual improvement in our relationship with the
specialist retail trade in the Netherlands. For instance, the order intake based on signed contracts was up 10%
as per year-end 2018.

Due to developments in North America and in the Netherlands, group volume once again declined in 2018, to
1.1 million bicycles sold. This decline pertains primarily to regular bikes.

Following the announcement of the strategy refinement in March 2018, we began implementing the new,
centralised organisational structure, primarily for the commercial and supply chain processes and functional
areas. We also put together a new senior management team that comprises a mix of our own people with the
right expertise and newly hired talents from outside the company, primarily in the field of commerce and e-
commerce. Following the arrival of Ruben Baldew as our new CFO on 1 November 2018, our team is now at
full strength.  

We acquired the mobile bicycle service Beeline in North America in March 2018 and Dutch (e-)cargo bike
specialist Velosophy (known for Babboe) in August 2018. Both strategic acquisitions made an immediate
contribution to the realisation of our growth targets for 2022.  Velosophy recorded strong sales in 2018 at
margins well above the group average.

In May, we launched the centralisation of the management of our activities in the field of bicycle parts and
accessories and continued the expansion of our own rapidly growing XLC brand. We also integrated our bicycle
parts and accessories activities with our bicycle activities (marketing, sales and support) in all regions.

In the summer of 2018, we made a start on the implementation of a new regional division. We have defined a
strategic brands portfolio for each region based on our selection of 11 strategic brands. We also refined the
positioning of our brands on the basis of consumer surveys and this now provides much clearer direction for
the innovation, communication and distribution of each brand. The key task for the new regions is the perfect
execution of the annual plans without any distractions from their own local and independent innovation
funnels, their own production facilities or their own export strategies.

In the summer of 2018, we also made a start setting up our omnichannel environment with our own e-
commerce platforms, experience centres and the mobile bicycle service of Beeline. This is typically, something
we always do in close cooperation with and via our dealers.

The primary driver behind all these major changes is our ambition to grow into a truly consumer-driven e-
commerce and marketing company in the years ahead. This means that all our innovations in the coming years
will be increasingly driven by and developed on the basis of real consumer needs. Innovations will focus
primarily on e-bikes, smart technology and clean, healthy urban mobility solutions aimed at creating more
sustainable cities. In short, nothing inspires us more than highly satisfied consumers and dealers! 



Finally, we aim to generate savings of more than € 60 million in the coming years, especially in the supply
chain, by reducing complexity (40% reduction of all models and stock keeping units as of end 2019), the
standardisation of platforms (bicycle frames) and the rationalisation of our supply chain footprint. We launched
the first initiatives on this front in 2018 and we will continue on this path in 2019. The first results of these
efforts will be clearly visible from 2019 onwards, in a further increasing added value, lower working capital and
a higher return on invested capital. The efficiency and sustainability of our own organisation will also contribute
to this effort, through measures such as devoting continuous attention to the reduction of our energy
consumption and the reduction of packaging, especially the use of plastic.

As a company, we have now reached the stage at which in 2019 we will be able to harvest the first fruits of all
the initiatives we launched in 2018 in the context of our refined strategy. I would therefore like to thank all our
staff for their commitment, their contribution and their loyalty in what was certainly not always an easy
transitional phase we are going through as a company It is only by working together that we will ultimately
make the difference and actually realise our ambition to be an international, professional, trendsetting
consumer and dealer-driven, omnichannel marketing company in bicycles, bicycle parts and accessories. 

Ton Anbeek
Chairman of the Board
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1 ACCELL GROUP IN 2018

Last year was an exciting year in more ways than one. Below you will find an overview of
the main developments, results and the Accell share.

1.1 FACTS AND FIGURES 2018
2018 IN BRIEF
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 2018 2017 2016 2015

Results (in millions of euro)

Net turnover 1,094.3 1,068.5 1,048.2 986.4

Operating profit (EBIT) 33.0 38.0 60.4 58.5

Net profit 20.3 10.5 32.3 32.3

Free cash flow 1 15.9 -4.9 61.3 -31.2
 

Balance sheet data (in millions of euro)

Group equity 322.4 299.3 319.4 305.9

Net debt 151.8 161.0 147.3 200.0

Balance sheet total 5 761.9 705.3 703.4 731.7

Capital employed 2 513.7 486.2 494.1 532.3
 

Ratios (in %)

EBIT/Capital employed 6.4 7.8 12.2 11.0

Operating profit/turnover 3.0 3.6 5.8 5.9

Net profit/turnover 1.9 1.0 3.1 3.3

Working capital/turnover 26.4 29.5 29.2 34.2
 

Data per share 3

Number of issued shares at year-end 26,597,354 26,255,179 25,834,236 25,270,327

Weighted average number of issued shares 26,474,308 26,101,222 25,623,405 25,116,249

Net profit 0.77 0.40 1.23 1.22

Free cash flow 1 0.60 -0.19 2.33 -1.18

Group equity 12.18 11.33 12.13 11.61

Dividend 4 0.50 0.49 0.68 0.65
 
Average number of employees (fte) 3,327 3,088 3,124 3,371
 1) Free cash flow is defined as the balance of the net cash flow from operating- and investing activities.
 2) Capital employed is the balance sheet total minus cash and cash equivalents and current non-interest bearing obligations (including current part of provisions).
 3) The data per share are calculated based on the weighted average number of issued shares. The data per share for the years 2015-2017 have been adjusted for the dilution
resulting from the issue of stock dividend charged to the share premium reserve in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IAS33). The adjustment factor
that was applied in the reporting year for 2017 and for previous years is 0.98816.
 4) The dividend per share relating to the financial year 2018 concerns the proposal to be submitted to the General Meeting of Shareholders.
 5) Balance sheet total 2016 is determined after offsetting the balances in the notional cash pooling arrangements.

KEY FIGURES
 

(in euro, unless stated otherwise)
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1.2 BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The composition of the Board of Directors of Accell Group changed in 2018 and now
consists of three members: Ton Anbeek (CEO), Ruben Baldew (CFO) and Jeroen Both
(CSCO).

TON (A.H.) ANBEEK (1962) - CEO
Mr. Anbeek joined Accell Group at the end of 2017. Mr. Anbeek (1962) studied Business Administration at
Rotterdam’s Erasmus University and Organisational Psychology at Utrecht University. He started his
professional career in 1987 at Unilever, where he held a number of positions in marketing and sales at various
operating companies in the Netherlands and abroad through to 2006. These positions included Global
Marketing Director for all Unilever fabric softener brands and Managing Director Unilever Mahgreb S.A. (Libya,
Tunisia, Algeria, Morocco and Mauritania). In early 2007, he joined Royal Auping B.V. in Deventer as the
company’s General Director. From 2010 through October 2017, Mr. Anbeek held the position of CEO of Beter
Bed Holding N.V. Ton Anbeek has experience in the field of marketing, sales, retail and omnichannel e-
commerce.

RUBEN (R.S.) BALDEW RC (1977) - CFO
Ruben Baldew joined Accell Group as Chief Financial Officer on 1 November 2018. He studied tax law at Leiden
University and completed a post-doctoral programme to become a qualified register controller at Maastricht
University. Mr. Baldew started his professional career in 2001 at Unilever, where he held various financial
positions in a number of countries. He has worked as a finance partner in the supply chain, procurement,
marketing and sales. He held a variety of positions, including financial director for the European laundry
detergents and care products supply chain and was later appointed financial director of Unilever Benelux. Until
recently, he was financial director of Unilever Thailand. In addition to his financial responsibilities, in these latter
roles he was closely involved in IT matters, in areas including ERP and CRM.

JEROEN (J.J.) BOTH (1964) - CSCO
Mr. Both joined Accell Group in 2015 as Chief Supply Chain Officer. After studying Economics at Groningen
University, he began his professional career in 1989 at British American Tobacco. Mr. Both held various
positions in supply chain, procurement and production at the company. He has extensive international
experience, in both western and eastern Europe, as well as in Asia, where he was supply chain director and in
charge of the introduction and management of British American Tobacco’s central supply chain organisations
in Moscow and Singapore.
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In 2018, we made a number of drastic changes to the structure and management of the
organisation. As of July 2018, we operate under a new structure with a centralised
commercial, supply chain and IT function.

 

 

1.3 ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

In this new structure, the Chief Commercial Officer is responsible for innovation, marketing, e-commerce and
retail. The Chief Supply Chain Officer is responsible for the global supply chain, including production facilities
and planning.

Accell Group is active in two segments: bicycles and bicycle parts and accessories. We have set up a new
regional structure for our bicycle business in 2018, with each region focusing on the perfect execution of
commercial plans. We have placed our bicycle parts and accessories business under a single centralised
management in Accell Bike Parts as of May 2018, to create the right conditions and synergies that will enable
continued profitable growth in this segment and for our company as a whole.
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1.4 THE SHARE
STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Accell Group shares have been listed on the official market of Euronext Amsterdam since 1998 and are
included in the Amsterdam Small Cap Index (AScX). The listing contributes to disciplined and transparent
operations and gives us improved access to external capital for growth financing and consequently contributes
to the realisation of our ambitions.

Each ordinary share entitles the holder to one vote. To protect the continuity of (the strategy of) Accell Group
and its stakeholders, the Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group has the option to acquire the number of
cumulative preference shares B required to make the Stichting, once it has acquired said shares, the holder of
one half, less one share, of the (increased) issued and paid-up capital. We refer you to Chapter 4 Corporate
governance for more detailed information.

SHARE PRICE MOVEMENT AND TRADABILITY

 

In 2018, the share price fell by 19.6%. In the period year-end 2014 through year-end 2018, the overall increase
in the share price was 38.5%. Share turnover increased by 6% in 2018 and by 517% compared with 2014.
Market capitalisation declined by 19% in 2018 to €501.1 million at year-end.
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Note: The percentages above represent real capital interests and are based on the disclosures of major holdings reported to the Dutch Financial Markets
Authority AFM pursuant to the Financial Supervision Act (Wft). As soon as an interest rises to 3% or more of the issued share capital, the holder must report
same. Shareholders are subsequently obliged to file a new disclosure as soon as the major holding reaches, exceeds or drops below a threshold level. This
may be the case if a shareholder obtains or loses control of shares, or as a result of an increase or decrease in the company’s issued capital. The thresholds
for this are: 3%, 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 30%, 40%, 50%, 60%, 75% and 95%.
 
 

Note: The data per share is calculated on the basis of the weighted average number of outstanding shares. The figures for 2014 through 2017 have been
adjusted to reflect the dilution resulting from the issue of a stock dividend charged against the share premium reserve, in line with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IAS33). The correction factor used in the year under review for 2017 and preceding years is 0.,98816.
 
 

OVERVIEW SHAREHOLDER BASE

DIVIDEND

 

Accell Group strives for a stable dividend policy, with the aim of paying out at least 40% of its net profit.
Historically speaking, the dividend pay-out percentage has been around 50%. Accell Group proposes to pay an
optional dividend of € 0.50 for the financial year 2018 (2017: € 0.50), in cash or shares. The dividend proposal
is based on the net profit excluding exceptional income (related to the revaluation profit on the acquisition of
Velosophy and Beeline, which amounted to € 9.2 million) and expenses (related to € 1.4 million extra pension
expenses in the United Kingdom and € 3.5 million largely related to restructuring) in 2018, and is equivalent to
a pay-out ratio of 83%. Over the past five years (period 2014 through 2018) Accell Group has paid out a
combined cash and stock dividend to shareholders with a value of € 78.4 million.
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An optional dividend enables Accell Group to realise a higher pay-out while maintaining a strong balance sheet
for the roll-out of our strategy and possible future acquisitions. This is an excellent fit with our growth strategy.
In addition to a high dividend return for the shareholders, the optional dividend also enables Accell Group to
improve its solvency ratio. Our dividend return and the type of dividend we pay out are competitive compared
to other listed companies. In the previous four years (2014 through 2017), an average of around 51% of our
shareholders opted for a stock dividend.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Accell Group strives to provide its shareholders, potential shareholders, analysts and other financial
stakeholders with all relevant strategic, financial and other material information, accurately, meticulously and
in a timely fashion, to improve insight into the company, current developments and the market in which it
operates.

Accell Group’s financial year is the same as the calendar year and runs from January through December. Accell
Group publishes its full financial results annually and semi-annually. From 2017 onwards, Accell Group only
publishes interim trading updates on the company’s financial and operational developments when there is
reason to do so. Such publications, as well as other (non-financial) announcements, appointments and reports
will always be made in accordance with the prevailing regulations and the guidelines of Euronext Amsterdam
and the Dutch Financial Markets Authority (AFM).

The company organises meetings and conference calls with (institutional) investors, analysts and gives
interviews to the media for the presentation and explanation of the annual and interim results. Prior to the
publication of annual and interim results, Accell Group maintains closed periods of 30 days. We have no
meetings or conversations with (potential) shareholders, analysts or other financial stakeholders during these
closed periods.

In the course of the year and outside the closed periods, members of the Board of Directors have regular one-
on-one meetings with (major) shareholders and interested institutional investors. It is worth noting that there
is increasing awareness of and interest in Accell Group among foreign investors. The same is true for the
interest shown by investors with a focus on sustainability and corporate social responsibility, themes Accell
Group also focuses on via its products and strategy.

You will find more information on the policy regarding bilateral contacts with shareholders on Accell
Group’s corporate website.

https://www.accell-group.com/en/investor-relations/investor-relations-policy/investor-relations-policy.htm
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2 STRATEGY ‘LEAD GLOBAL. WIN
LOCAL’

In 2018, we defined a new vision for Accell Group. Working together, we also determined
what drives us, what we want to achieve and how we want to achieve it. 

2.1 KEY TRENDS AND MARKET DEVELOPMENTS
Bicycles in general and e-bikes in particular are increasingly considered an important part of the solution to
congestion in cities, safer city transport, CO2 reduction and healthier lifestyles.

Various European governments are encouraging the use of e-bikes with purchase subsidies or tax breaks. The
European Union, as well as various individual European countries, is making subsidy schemes available to
improve the infrastructure for cyclists both within and outside cities and to stimulate innovation.

The popularity of e-bikes is set to continue for the foreseeable future. The market for e-bikes is still growing in
virtually all Western countries. Demand for regular e-bikes and e-performance bikes (B2C) is on the rise, but
we are also seeing strong growth in demand for e-cargo bikes (B2B and B2C).

Bicycles have evolved into a highly popular lifestyle product. More than ever before, strong brands and
distinctive designs are making the difference in the likes of sports and urban biking. Smart internet technology
and handy apps for connected bikes are enriching the bicycle experience and continue to make bicycles better
and safer in all kinds of ways. 

 

2.2 VISION AND MISSION
Vision 
Our vision is to be the market leader in mid and high-end e-bikes and in bicycle parts and accessories in all our
chosen regions, with consumer needs and corporate social responsibility at the heart of everything we do.  

Mission
Nothing inspires and motivates us more than highly satisfied consumers and dealers. This is what drives us at
every turn. We sum up our mission in the slogan ‘Great bikes win great likes’.
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In 2018, we formulated the following general annual goals for Accell Group:

 

2.3 GOALS

 
 

 

If we translate that into concrete financial goals for what we want to achieve in 2022, it looks as follows:
 
 

 

Accell Group targets average organic annual turnover growth of around 7%.
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As of July 2018, we operate under a new organisational structure with a centralised commercial, supply chain�

and IT function. We have also created six new regions for the bicycle segment, all of which focus on excellent
execution of commercial plans.
As of 1 January 2018, the Chief Supply Chain Officer is responsible for a global supply chain, including�

production facilities and planning. On 1 March 2018, we appointed a Chief Commercial Officer, who is
responsible for innovation, marketing, e-commerce and retail. Our new Chief Financial Officer started on 1
November 2018.
We strengthened the senior management team in the period May-September and created a new, strong mix�

of our own people with the right experience and new commercial and e-commerce talents from outside the
company.
In the second half of 2018, we started preparations for the implementation of a new Enterprise Resource�

Planning system (Infor) and for the launch of a new Customer Relationship Management system (Salesforce).
In December 2018, we decided to focus on our European activities and continue the loss-making North�

American activities as a separate non-core business, for which we are currently assessing all options. 

We selected Babboe, Batavus, Diamondback, Ghost, Haibike, Koga, Lapierre, Raleigh, Sparta and Winora as�

our 10 strategic bicycle brands. For each individual region, we have established an appropriate strategic brand
portfolio with refined brand positioning (on the basis of research among 7,500 consumers in various regions),
which provides clear direction in terms of innovation, communication and distribution.
In each region, we will work with dealers on the basis of selective distribution contracts. In mid-2019, we�

want to be working in this way in every region, to create win-wins, to prevent channel and price conflicts to
enable both Accell group and its dealers to achieve their shared goals even more effectively (satisfied and
loyal customers).
Every region will focus on the perfect execution of plans without daily distractions from their own local�

innovation funnels, their own production facilities or their own export strategies.

2.4 UPDATE STRATEGY 2018-2022
On 9 March 2018, we announced our new, refined strategy - 'Lead global. Win local' - with
six new strategic thrusts. The execution of the strategy and the associated transition of
Accell Group are on schedule. We launched a variety of initiatives within all six thrusts,
some of which have been completed and some of which are work in progress.
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With a clear focus on consumers and e-bikes, we have drawn up a three-track omnichannel distribution�

model, which we will implement in 2019.
Construction of webshop and e-commerce platforms to attract consumers and generate better leads for�

our dealers. In the first half of the year, we will launch a new, centrally operated e-commerce platform for
webshops that will replace each of our individual brand websites in Europe. Subsequently, we will also
introduce a multi-brand e-commerce platform.
Set-up of experience centres in 2019, in cooperation with (large) dealers, where consumers can primarily�

test e-bikes.
Roll-out of a mobile bicycle service that improves customer journeys and customer experience, while at�

the same time offering dealers the opportunity to earn money from online sales via order and service
handling, maintenance and repair options. To this end, we will introduce North American Beeline (acquired
in March 2018) to dealers as Software as a Service (SaaS). We will introduce the mobile bike service in
Europe in the second half of 2019.

Most major innovations have been delayed and postponed from the second half of 2018 to the first half of�

2019 due to our streamlining of the innovation process and quality requirements.
In 2019 we will introduce the Haibike Flyon and Lapierre’s eZesty and e-Xelius. All three bikes are innovative�

products with potentially high turnover and high margins. The same is true for the Koga Pace, which was
introduced November 2018. We used the Winora platform as a basis for numerous other brands, to introduce
new models and stock keeping units.
For the connected bikes, we have identified technology partners we want to work with to gain experience in�

the field of the Internet of Things and to develop technological innovations. We intend to use these
innovations to augment the bicycle experience and convince more consumers to get cycling, both for health
reasons and sustainable mobility purposes.
On the urban mobility front, we are working hard with Velosophy on e-cargo bike innovations. Velosophy�

(known for Babboe and other e-cargo bikes and acquired in July 2018) recorded strong turnover growth in the
B2C market in 2018 and plans to enter the B2B market in 2019.
We are also innovating and experimenting in areas such as re-use, minimising material use and end-of-life�

solutions. We minimise the use of plastic in our packaging.
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We centralised the activities in the field of bicycle parts and accessories under a single management as of�

May 2018, to create the right conditions and synergies that will help us realise continued profitable growth in
this segment.
The bicycle parts and accessories business have been effectively integrated with our bicycle business at a�

regional and local level in the second quarter of 2018. This will make it easier for us to offer dealers and
consumers the best combination of bicycles, bicycle parts and accessories.
Our own, rapidly growing, XLC brand with higher margins, an improved competitive edge in logistics, smart�

cross-selling following the launch of our brands’ new webshops and the multi-brand e-commerce platform,
and the addition of more brands and products to our portfolio of bicycle parts and accessories are all strong
growth and profit drivers.

With ‘Fit to compete’, we are targeting the realisation of more than € 60 million (2022 versus 2017) in�

savings in our supply chain. These savings will be driven primarily by three concrete initiatives, and this will
make a positive contribution primarily to our added value:

Reduction in complexity. In the second quarter of 2018, we launched a process to reduce the complexity in�

bicycle parts, models and stock keeping units by some 40% by year-end 2019. At the end of 2018, we had
inventoried around 30% of these units and have started the phase-out operation.
Standardisation of product platforms (including bicycle frames) geared towards lifestyle and e-bike sports.�

We are currently creating standard product platforms for brands / regions and submarkets.
Rationalisation of the supply chain footprint and business complexity in general.�

We have earmarked the savings we want to realise for the period 2019-2022 and all projects are now in�

progress. We realised almost € 12 million in savings in 2018, and half of these saving made an immediate
contribution to our result. In 2019, we expect to realise additional savings of € 10 - € 12 million, with a
comparable immediate contribution to our result. This includes savings we have earmarked in expenditures
that are not directly product-related, such as travel expenses, third-party hiring and IT systems.
We want to work in a socially responsible manner in this supply chain. This will include frequent audits of�

suppliers on social and environmental aspects, based on our risk profile and the interests of Accell Group with
attention devoted to more efficient energy use and a transition to more sustainable energy sources.
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VALUE CREATION MODEL
The value creation model below shows how we use our business model to create added value and for which
stakeholders (including society as a whole).
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Accell Group’s three core competencies are:

Our strong brands in lifestyle and sports, which give us a head start in the introduction of new innovations.�

We are the number one bicycle manufacturer and the market leader in e-bikes in Europe. We are the number�

two player in bicycle parts and accessories. This gives us considerable purchasing power and financial
strength, which will enable us to invest in an increasingly complex e-bike product and in the development of
new bike-centric mobility solutions.

Finally, our innovative strength. We are particularly strong in innovation in the sports segment and we have�

once again succeeded in setting the new standard for e-MTBs with the Haibike Flyon, which will be on the
market in 2019.

 

 

2.5 CORE COMPETENCIES
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2.6 TOP 4 VALUE CREATION DRIVERS FOR SHAREHOLDERS
The key drivers for value creation for shareholders in our business model are:

 
1.
Average annual organic turnover growth of around 7%, largely driven by new innovations in e-bikes, smart
technology and urban mobility solutions.

2.
Improvement in added value to at least 31% in 2022, driven by a reduction in complexity, the standardisation
of platforms and supply chain footprint rationalisation. These three initiatives should generate more than € 60
million in cost savings in five years (2018-2022).

3.
We expect our fixed costs as a percentage of turnover to decline in the coming years, as a result of cost
savings at both central and local levels combined with turnover growth.

4.
Working capital improvement (as a percentage of turnover), due to improvements in stock keeping driven by
the reduction in complexity and greater predictability, focus on our client payments and the right payment
terms for to our suppliers. 
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3 REPORT OF THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

3.1 GROUP PERFORMANCE
Accell Group had an exciting year in 2018. A lot happened and we worked hard on the
implementation of our refined strategy, the formation of the new team and the transition
of our organisation. Towards the end of the year, we took the decision to focus on our core
business in Europe and will explore strategic options for our North American business.

GENERAL
In 2018, net turnover came in € 26 million higher (+2.4%) partly on the back of the positive development in
electric bike sales in the German-language, southern European and Scandinavian countries. Our bicycle parts
and accessories business and the acquisition of Velosophy also contributed to the higher turnover. We saw a
decline in bicycle sales in the Benelux and North America. In North America this was largely due to a drop in
Diamondback and Raleigh sales, in part due to the loss of a large client in the multi-sports channel in the
previous year. In the Benelux, the decline was primarily due to our decision to bid farewell with a large internet
client.

The share of e-bikes in overall bicycle turnover increased to 71% in 2018, from 63% a year-earlier. The volume
in bicycle sales declined by 1.9% in Europe and by 55% in North America, which resulted in an overall decline of
15% in the number of bicycles sold. The decline in volume involved traditional bicycles.

The added value increased by some 140 basis points to 29.7% in 2019 (2017: 28.3%). The main reason for this
increase included cost-savings and the positive contribution from e-bikes in the product mix. North America
made a positive numerical contribution compared to 2017, due to a one-off correction for import levies in that
year. In addition, an accounting correction also contributed to the improvement in margin, as revenue from
delivery costs invoiced to clients is now recognised in turnover, while it was previously included in the
distribution costs.
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The operating result declined to € 33 million in 2018, from € 38 million in 2017, partly as a result of an increase
in the overhead and consultancy costs (which were € 28 million higher at € 292 million) and due to the
implementation of the refined strategy. These costs were primarily expenses for the set-up of the centralised
e-commerce, marketing and innovation department and associated costs related to the introduction of new IT
systems (such as ERP and CRM). In addition, as part of our strategy we invested in the centralisation of
activities in the field of bicycle parts and accessories. The acquisition of Velosophy also increased costs, while
spending in our production facilities in Europe was higher due to the growth and increasing complexity of e-
bike production.

The tax rate declined to 44% in 2018, from 65% in the previous year. This relatively high tax rate was due to
non-compensable losses at our North American business.

Net profit came in € 9.2 million higher as a result of the net revaluation profit on the acquisitions Velosophy
and Beeline in 2018.

Working capital had declined by around 300 basis points to 26.4% at year-end 2018 (year-end 2017: 29.5%).
This was largely due to an increase in accounts payable. 

The return on invested capital fell to 6.4% in 2018, from 7.8% in 2017. This was largely due to the lower
operating result in combination with an increase in invested capital, due in part to the acquisition of Velosophy.

For purposes of comparison, the table below shows the condensed consolidated statement of income, as well
as the condensed statement of income for our core business (excluding North America).
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PERFORMANCE PER SEGMENT

BICYCLES
Net turnover in this segment was up 1.7% at € 845 million. The share of e-bikes in overall bicycle turnover
increased to 71% in 2018. The overall segment result declined due to the extra investments we made in
connection with the implementation of our refined strategy.

Bicycle turnover in our core business (excluding North America) increased by 6.5%. Volume was down 1.9%,
with the decline particularly marked in the Netherlands (where we bid farewell to a large internet client) and
the United Kingdom (less focus on traditional bikes with a low margin).

The e-MTBs of Haibike, Ghost and Lapierre were once again responsible for the bulk of the growth. Demand for
electric sports bikes continues to show strong growth in Europe, while demand for regular bikes is under
pressure in most countries, both in terms of volume and value. In North America, we saw a sharp decline in
both bicycle turnover (-36%) and sales volume (-55%).

The segment result declined due to the extra investments, largely related to the implementation of our refined
strategy.

BICYCLE PARTS AND ACCESSORIES
Net turnover in the bicycle parts and accessories segment was up € 12 million at € 249 million in 2018 (+ 4.9%).
We saw particularly strong growth in the second half of the year (+ 10.3%), partly driven by more integrated
and centralised management and the growth of the XLC brand.

The segment result declined as a result of the extra investments in centralised management and investments
in e-commerce and the IT infrastructure.
 

PERFORMANCE PER REGION
In Germany, turnover continued to grow mainly on the back of strong demand for e-bikes. Our brands Haibike,
Ghost and Winora have successfully responded to consumer demand with the right innovations in e-bikes.
Turnover in bicycle parts and accessories also increased in Germany. Bicycle turnover in the Netherlands
declined, following our decision to bid farewell to a large internet client in 2018.

In Southern Europe, our bicycle turnover increased, primarily on the back of strong demand for Lapierre’s
electric sports bikes in the second half of the year. In the United Kingdom, the greater focus on premium bikes
and e-bikes resulted in stable turnover. In Scandinavia, our brands showed strong growth, particularly in e-
bikes and bicycle parts and accessories. In 2018, the market in Sweden benefited from government subsidies
on bicycle purchases.

Bicycle turnover North America declined substantially in 2018, as a result of the loss of a large client in the
multi-sports channel and general pressure on turnover, in particular on the Diamondback and Raleigh brands,
partly due to discounted sales of old inventories. At the end of 2018, we decided to run our North American
business as a separate business and review the strategic options for eliminating the losses in North America.
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3.2 FINANCIAL STRENGTH AND CAPITAL EFFICIENCY
The working capital came in at € 289 million, a decline of 8.2% (- € 26 million) compared to year-end 2017. As a
percentage of net turnover, working capital declined to 26.4% compared to 29.5% at year-end 2017.

Inventories increased by € 6 million to € 340 million. This item saw an increase in the average price per unit
due to the growth in e-bikes and e-bike parts. This was offset by a decline in the total number of inventory
units, particularly in North America. As a percentage of net turnover, inventories declined to 31.1% (year-end
2017: 31.2%).

Accounts receivable were up slightly at € 128.3 million, from € 127.1 million at year-end 2017. Despite higher
turnover, receivables were up only slightly in absolute terms due to the stricter management of overdue
invoices. Receivables as a percentage of net turnover declined to 11.7% (2017: 11.9%). 

Accounts payable increased by € 33.4 million (22.9%) to €179.1 million, which is the equivalent of 16.4% of net
turnover (year-end 2017: 13.6%). This major improvement was largely due to longer payment terms, which we
received due to the increased centralisation of our procurement processes.

The working capital of our core business (excluding North America) came in at € 272.3 million, a decline of 4.2%
(- € 11.8 million). Expressed as a percentage of net turnover, this represents a reduction to 26.3% (year-end
2017: 29.4%). Here too, the improvement in accounts payable was a significant driver behind the decline in
working capital in absolute terms.

Total net debt, comprising interest-bearing loans, borrowings and cash and cash equivalents, fell to € 151.8
million (year-end 2017: € 161.0 million), largely due to the lower working capital uptake.  EBITDA declined by
7.7% to € 45.3 million.

Shareholder’s equity increased by 7.7% (+ € 23.1 million) to 322.4 million, largely as a result of the addition of
net profit (+ € 20.3 million), dividend payments (- € 7.4 million), changes in the valuation of financial
instruments (+ € 9.7 million) and currency exchange rate differences. The solvency rate stood at 42.3% at
year-end 2018 (year-end 2017: 42.4%). 
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Top-down and bottom-up identification of the company’s key strategic, operational, financial and compliance�

risks;
Top-down and bottom-up evaluation of risks associated with the company’s strategic alternatives and�

objectives. The risk management programme has been summarised in a document to identify possible risks
and set priorities on the basis of a risk classification system that estimates both the impact and the likelihood
of a risk;
The development of a cohesive system of measures to control, mitigate, avoid or transfer risks. This system�

is then used to outline actions and describe control measures on the basis of guidelines and standards. This
risk management system is tailored to the size of the company and our adjusted organisational structure.

3.3 RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
There are inherent risks in Accell Group’s business activities and organisation. Accell Group
may fail to meet strategic, operational and financial objectives in full and the company also
faces risks in the field of financial reporting and the application of laws and regulations.
The extent to which the company is willing to run these risks in striving to achieve its goals
differs per risk category.

Accell Group has a relatively high risk appetite with respect to innovation, development and marketing. At the
same time, the company has a low risk appetite on the product safety front. Where possible, Accell Group has
transferred the risks it is unwilling to take on independently to an insurance company.

Risk management is a significant part of the tasks of Accell Group’s Board of Directors, with the aim of having a
positive impact on the realisation of our corporate objectives.

RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
We use a risk management system that identifies and mitigates risks at all levels of the organisation. We
analyse risks during formal meetings, such as those of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board, and
in our day-to-day work in all our operations around the world. In 2018, we worked with external consultants to
implement a risk management programme that was in line with the strategy we refined in March 2018.

This risk management system comprises the following components:

Even when our risk management and control system operates effectively, material errors, fraud or illegal acts
may occur. The system therefore does not provide absolute certainty that objectives will be realised, but was
developed to achieve a reasonable level of assurance with regard to the effectiveness of the internal controls
pertaining to financial and operational risks that may affect the organisation’s objectives.

ORGANISATION
The Board of Directors takes stock of and analyses the risks associated with the strategy and the company’s
business operations. The Board determines the risk appetite and decides which measures to take to mitigate
risks.

Based on the risk analysis, the Board of Directors implements and maintains suitable internal risk
management and control systems. Where relevant, these systems are integrated in Accell Group’s operating
processes and we ensure that all relevant employees are conversant with these systems.
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The Board of Directors monitors the operation of the systems. This monitoring covers all material control
measures related to our key risks. The Board of Directors discusses the risk management with the audit
committee.

Market and operational risk management is organised at regional level, while the organisation of the supply
chain and HRM is increasingly managed at group level. We have centralised management and control
measures related to acquisitions, treasury, financial reporting, tax and legal issues at group level.

As of July 2018, at group level we are working with a more centralised management, a new region structure
and on the basis of a new strategic brand portfolio. This creates more consistency and direction in our
innovation, marketing and distribution. In line with this adjustment, we have also centralised our bicycle parts
and accessories business under a single management.

The targets per region, which relate primarily to sales and distribution, are determined in consultation between
the Board of Directors and the regional management. We have set cost savings targets for 2019-2022. The
company monitors progress through the financial planning cycle and management information, the risk
analysis and regular visits by the Board of Directors and other group-level employees to the various regions.

RISK ANALYSIS
The Board of Directors, the management of the various regions and the central supply chain team periodically
draw up an analysis of the strategic, operational, financial and compliance risks. For the purposes of the risk
analysis, Accell Group conducts a detailed inventory of internal and external risks, which the members of the
Board of Directors and the management of the subsidiaries then assess individually in terms of their potential
impact on the company.

The company also periodically assesses the control measures related to the key risks. The aim of the Board of
Directors is to continuously assess the system and make any necessary improvements. The Board of Directors
periodically discusses the key risks with the Supervisory Board.

FINANCIAL PLANNING CYCLE AND MANAGEMENT INFORMATION
Accell Group’s various local companies draw up strategic plans each year, partly based on the main trends and
developments in their region and the local environment. Once harmonised and approved, these plans are
translated into annual budgets. The Board of Directors discusses the consolidated strategic plan and budget
with the Supervisory Board.

Management information reports are compiled on a weekly and monthly basis. Prognoses are drawn up at
least three times a year. The actual results are reviewed and compared to budgets and prognoses on a monthly
basis and the outcome is reported to the Board of Directors.
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AUTOMATION AND SYSTEMS
To safeguard the quality of the company’s financial reporting and operational controls, Accell Group works with
a clearly defined administrative organisation and extensive system of internal controls. The internal control
system is largely embedded in the company’s information systems.

We are aiming for greater automation of our internal controls at group level. And we want to embed our entire
administrative organisation more strongly in this internal control system. In 2018, we completed the selection
procedure for a new, robust ERP system for the entire group and we have set up an implementation team for
the phased transition to this system in the coming years.

FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION GUIDELINES
Financial department staff are provided with guidelines and instructions pertaining to the structure and
maintenance of the financial administration and reporting systems. Details of these are provided in a reference
document. The guidelines and instructions comply with prevailing IFRS standards.

INTERNAL AUDIT
We added two members to our internal audit team in 2018 and this now has three members. The team carries
out its tasks on the basis of a detailed internal audit plan, a predetermined assessment framework and an
internal control framework. This framework outlines the inherent risks per process and the associated internal
control measures.

Findings from the internal audits and associated recommendations are reported to the Board of Directors to
reinforce the internal control process. The Board of Directors makes any decisions required and these are
subject to a fixed follow-up deadline. It has been agreed with the Supervisory Board’s audit committee that the
internal auditor reports any high-priority findings directly to the committee. This also applies to the follow-up
on previous high-priority findings. The follow-up on high-priority findings is a regular item on the agenda of the
audit committee meetings.

The internal control framework also includes embedded internal procedures, guidelines and management
regulations for decisions that could have a financial impact. These rules have been drawn up with the purpose
of involving the Board of Directors in important decentralised decisions and for it to approve such decisions,
frequently in writing. The management regulations were amended in 2018. These new regulations came into
force on 1 January 2019 and have been shared with the management teams in the regional and country
operations.

In recent years, Accell Group has conducted internal audits at various local companies and devoted attention to
group-wide control measures. As part of the internal audit plan, the subject of fraud is discussed with the local
management, as well as in regular consultations with the CFO. The subject of fraud risk management is an
item on the agenda of the controllers meeting and in consultations between the Board of Directors and the
Supervisory Board. This helps to raise awareness of the responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud
risk among local management and to share this responsibility with them.

In 2019, the internal audit team will continue to develop the internal control framework and the group-wide
control measures. The team uses data analysis for auditing purposes. The purpose of this is to apply
continuous monitoring, aimed at obtaining indicators from IT systems, processes and control measures, which
are collected, controlled and monitored on a regular basis. The team will also review the risk management
system and facilitate the risk management process. In addition to the previously mentioned regular internal
audits, specific ad hoc tasks are also carried out at the request of the Board of Directors or the audit
committee.
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In 2019, we will hire a team of external specialists to support our internal audit team in the audits of the
implementation of the new ERP system. The findings of these audits will be reported to the members of the IT
steering group, the Board of Directors and the audit committee. Accell Group has started the search for these
external specialists.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR
The external auditor draws up an annual audit plan. In the context of the audit of the financial statements, the
external auditor conducts an assessment of the structure and presence of the most important internal controls
of the business processes insofar as these are relevant to the audit of the financial statements.

The external auditor reports the outcome of this assessment in a formal management letter. The most
important findings are discussed with the Board of Directors and with the Supervisory Board (partly in the
absence of the Board of Directors).

LETTER OF REPRESENTATION
Each year, the directors of our local companies sign a Letter of Representation, a detailed statement pertaining
to financial annual reports and the existence and functioning of their internal control systems. For this detailed
statement, the company has drawn up a checklist of subjects that is also signed annually by other local
managers.

OTHER RISK MANAGEMENT MEASURES
Accell Group has an internal code of conduct. This code was updated in 2018 and re-adopted by the Board of
Directors and approved by the Supervisory Board. This internal code of conduct applies to all employees and is
published on our corporate website.

The basic rules for the directors of our local companies have been laid down in management regulations. These
include detailed procedures related to internal decision-making and communications.

Accell Group has a whistle-blower regulation, which is available on our corporate website. The whistle-blower
regulation ensures that any violations of existing policy and procedures can be reported without any negative
consequences for the person reporting the violation.

https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/whistle-blower-regulations/whistle-blower-regulations.htm
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MAIN RISKS AND MITIGATION OF THESE RISKS
The results of Accell Group are affected by the general economic conditions and the economic outlook of the
countries in which the company is active. The conditions in the group’s key purchasing markets also play a role.
We divide the risks into the following categories: strategic, operational, financial and compliance risks. Social
and environmental risks have been integrated in these categories with a view to integrated reporting. The
following overview is not an exhaustive list of risks to which the company is exposed. Additionally, some risks
are listed only once, while they may fit into various risk categories.
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Re-evaluation of the main risks, using input from the operating companies, the Board of Directors and the�

Supervisory Board to assess whether the currently identified risks and associated risk appetite are still fit for
purpose;
Further integration of the risks related to sustainability, with specific attention for both the human and�

environmental aspects of same;
Involving the internal audit team in the assessment of the follow-up to control measures and the assessment�

of risks;
Recruitment of an internal control coordinator to bolster our financial department at group level. The internal�

control coordinator will review the existing internal control framework, make recommendations and
coordinate the implementation of same. Taking into consideration the implementation of the new ERP
system, the coordinator will be closely involved in the setting up of an adequate separation of functions in the
new system. The emphasis on this front will be on the application of automated control measures. The
coordinator will also train the staff at our financial department in the application of the standardised internal
control framework;
Increasing the focus on the change agenda, because in addition to the required organisational adjustments,�

this year will also see the start of the implementation of the new ERP system. The Board of Directors wants
to set more priorities in the sequentiality of the change process with the support of the change manager
hired in mid-2018.

IMPROVEMENTS PLANNED FOR 2019

Accell Group’s risk control system is embedded in the organisation and the company has continued to extend
and improve the system in recent years. The company is planning the following actions and/or
improvements for 2019:
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In accordance with Best Practice provision 1.4.3 of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code,
and taking into account the aforementioned, the Board of Directors states that:

the report provides sufficient insights into any failings in the effectiveness of the internal risk managementi.
and control systems;
the aforementioned systems provide reasonable assurance that the financial reporting does not contain anyii.
material inaccuracies;
based on the current state of affairs, it is justified that the financial reporting is prepared on a going concerniii.
basis;
the report provides information on those material risks and uncertainties that are relevant to theiv.
expectation of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of twelve months after the
preparation of this report.

 the financial statements as included in chapter 6 of this report provide a true representation of the assets,�

liabilities and the financial position as at 31 December 2018, as well as the profit for the financial year 2018
of Accell Group N.V. and the companies included in the consolidation;
 the annual report provides a true representation of the situation on 31 December 2018, and the course of�

business at Accell Group and at companies included in the consolidation during the 2018 financial year and
the annual report includes a description of the material risks Accell Group N.V. faces.  

3.4 IN CONTROL STATEMENT

 

With reference to article 5:25c, section 2 sub c, of the Financial Supervision Act and with due observance of the
above, and based on the audit of the financial statements by the external auditor, the Board of Directors as a
whole and the persons responsible for these matters, Mr. Ton Anbeek (CEO), Mr. Ruben Baldew (CFO) and Mr.
Jeroen Both (CSCO) state that, to the best of their knowledge:

The Board of Directors wishes to note that the internal risk management and internal control system is
intended to identify and control significant risks to which the company is exposed, taking into account the
nature and scope of the organisation.

Such a system does not provide absolute certainty that objectives will be realised. Nor is it possible to
completely prevent potential material errors, damage, fraud or the violation of statutory regulations. The actual
effectiveness of these systems can only be assessed on the basis of the results across a longer period of time.

Board of Directors,
Ton Anbeek (CEO)
Ruben Baldew (CFO)
Jeroen Both (CSCO)
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3.5 MANAGEMENT AGENDA AND OUTLOOK
We continue to see strong market growth in the cycling industry. Consumers are choosing
bicycles as a sustainable solution for mobility. Especially interest in electric bikes and
cargo bikes will continue to grow fast. Consumers will continue to look for more
convenient and digital solutions in finding, researching, buying and servicing their bikes.
Our strategy ‘Lead Global. Win Local’ is key to position ourselves at the centre of these
trends.

Successful innovations and improved availability of our products will continue to drive growth. This through
more connected and more digital platforms. The now centralised bicycle parts and accessories business will
drive further roll out of the XLC brand expanding into new channels. We expect our ‘fit to compete’ program to
continue driving cost savings next to strict cost control on all our discretionary expenditure.

Based on our management agenda and barring unforeseen circumstances we expect continued turnover
growth and an increase in EBIT of our core business for the year 2019.

The strategic review for the North American business will be concluded in Q3 2019 latest and subsequently be
executed. Any potential consequences of this strategic study are excluded from the above outlook.
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3.6 BRANDS AND PRODUCTS
‘WINNING PORTFOLIO OF GLOBAL BRANDS’
As part of our strategic pillar ‘Winning at the point of purchase’, in 2018 we conducted a thorough qualitative
and quantitative consumer survey in the Netherlands, Germany, France, the UK and North America. The survey
yielded valuable consumer insights about the use of bicycles in general and the awareness and perception of
our own brands and those of our competitors

Based on this survey, we identified new target group segments. We have designated Babboe, Batavus, Haibike,
Ghost, Sparta, Lapierre, Koga, Raleigh, Diamondback and Winora as our 10 strategic bicycle brands. We have
established a more well-defined and renewed brand positioning for each of these brands, which will provide
clear direction for our innovation, marketing and distribution. We subsequently established a new strategic
brand portfolio for each of our regions, which has created a solid foundation for the creation of a ‘Winning
portfolio of global brands’.

MARKETING-LED ORGANISATION
In 2018, we made some fundamental changes to how we organise our operations. We now use a strong
outside-on approach and focus more explicitly on consumers. We are moving from a product-driven
organisation to an organisation in which the consumer is at the heart of everything we do.

At group level, we have created an umbrella marketing team that uses a modern matrix organisation to
manage the local marketing teams on the basis of the new commercial premises. Consumer and dealer
insights, data and trend analysis combined with the new brand positioning and the innovation funnel form the
basis for all new commercial and marketing activities. We developed plans for 2019 and we are now executing
these plans. We will see the impact of these in the course of 2019.

CENTRALISATION OF INNOVATION AND TECHNOLOGY
In 2018, we integrated the innovation teams that used to be part of our local companies into four umbrella
innovation centres, each with a specific area of attention: lifestyle, sports, urban mobility and advanced
development.

What this means in effect is that we have combined all the expertise that was available within the group and all
this know-how is now available to all our brands. We have streamlined the structure of the organisation and
professionalised innovation processes, which has created a strong platform for cooperation with marketing,
supply chain and the regions.

As part of this transition, we have developed a new and advanced innovation policy that spearheads a new
design philosophy, the application of smart technology and the introduction of breakthrough innovations. The
new Innovation & Technology team now reports to the Chief Commercial Officer, which emphasises the
importance of innovation to the company and also safeguards a rapid decision-making process.
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FEWER INNOVATIONS, MORE IMPACT
Our collections have expanded enormously in recent years and this meant that we needed to conduct a
thorough analysis. By making a fresh and more critical assessment of our collections based on various critical
aspects (such as turnover, margin, rotation on the shop floor, production efficiency, procurement and
availability), we concluded in 2018 that there is enormous potential for streamlining on this front.

On that basis, we have drawn up new plans and established processes with a strong emphasis on the drastic
reduction of the number of models with a clear structure per brand, the availability of the right models for the
dealers and consumers in every sales channel and on the overall reduction of innovations, but with more
consumer-driven innovations. We expect this to deliver a strong impetus to our sales and to also generate
procurement, working capital and supply chain benefits. This approach also creates the opportunity for us to
have a major impact on the sustainability front, by integrating this focal point in our processes: from design to
final product and service.

CONTRIBUTION TO SOCIETY
In 2018, we once again contributed our thoughts and ideas in various areas on the creation of new, clean and
safe mobility solutions, and we once again invested over € 1.0 million in the promotion and support for social
causes. We would like to note that this amount also includes 30% of our professional sports sponsoring. After
all, creating sports heroes stimulates people to take up sports themselves. 

We maintain an active dialogue and are affiliated with various national and international organisations,
industry associations, and initiatives specifically aimed at promoting health, safety and sustainable mobility.
These include the World Federation of Sporting Goods Industry (WFSGI), the European Cyclist Federation (ECF)
and the European umbrella organisation Conebi, which includes the Dutch RAI Vereniging, the Univelo in France
and ZIV in Germany. One very clear example of our contribution to society is our support for World Bicycle
Relief, a non-profit organisation that distributes bicycles in developing countries as a (free) mode of transport,
to give people access to education, healthcare and jobs.
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Improving availability and reducing delivery times;�

Improving quality assurance and product compliance;�

Taking greater advantage of benefits of scale and procurement;�

Reducing working capital utilisation;�

Reducing the complexity of the supply chain and the organisation as a whole.�

3.7 PROCESSES AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
Over the past few years, we have worked on the introduction of a new approach to supply
chain management and the introduction of the centralised management at group level.
This centralised management covers planning, procurement and logistics. In early 2018,
we also added all production companies, quality assurance and product compliance.

Based on the revised strategy and the implementation of the new regional structure, our focus has shifted to
boosting and streamlining a number of core processes, such as 'Sales & Operational Planning' (S&OP) and
‘New Product Initiation’ (NPI). An added challenge in this context is the evolution of the bicycle and how it is
used. E-bikes in particular are becoming an ever-more complex and advanced product, driven in part by
aspects such as component integration and the application of connectivity. We will have to adapt and
streamline quality assurance and compliance continuously in line with these developments, to safeguard
aspects such as the safety of the products themselves and how they are used.

This centralised management of the supply chain is aimed at:

SALES AND OPERATIONAL PLANNING (S&OP)
In 2018, we continued to work, at regional level, on the introduction of the S&OP process. This process has a
monthly cycle and comprises current demand planning and a product development plan that enables rapid
adjustments to production and inventory planning. We also use the production planning to calculate material
requirements planning, which we can then fine-tune with our suppliers.

As part of the S&OP process, in 2018 we continued to expand the programme for more intensive information
exchange with suppliers about planning (collaborative planning). Our main focus on this front was on our
largest suppliers and those with the highest delivery risks. In some specific instances, where at some point we
had faced limited availability of critical components for our e-bikes and our regular bikes, this more intensive
cooperation ensured that suppliers gave us priority on the delivery front.

In 2019, we will continue to streamline the S&OP process to arrive at an integrated operational management
system, with the aim of continued improvements to the supply chain performance, in particular in terms of
availability, working capital and the link to the financial planning process. Continued improvements in these
areas will also enable us to expand and deepen the supplier programme for collaborative planning, using
limited additional resources.

NEW PRODUCT INITIATION (NPI)  
In 2018, with the introduction of a centrally managed Innovation & Technology team, we also started setting
up an NPI process. This process comprises four phases (‘Ideation, Feasibility, Capability and Launch’), which
structures and facilitates the product development from idea and concept, via production to the market launch
of the end product. This process is primarily intended for our complex products with a high proportion of in-
house-developed components that require intensive cooperation between the various specialist teams
(Innovation & Technology, Supply Chain, Marketing) and the regional operations.
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The NPI process is supervised by the Innovation Board headed by the Chief Commercial Officer. This Board
decides on new initiatives and research & development projects on a monthly basis. Prioritisation and
allocation of people and resources to the NPI projects is based primarily on commercial considerations.

PROCUREMENT
Following the structuring of our central procurement organisation on the basis of category management, in
2018 we began a more detailed structuring of the supply chain roadmap and the implementation of same. Key
elements in this context are the reduction of the number of suppliers on the basis of total cost of ownership
criteria and the utilisation of benefits of scale by operating as a group. In the year under review, this approach
resulted in immediate savings and the professionalisation of our relationships with our suppliers.

PRODUCTION
As from early 2018, all production locations report to the Group Director Manufacturing. This director has
introduced a renewed production vision in which the production locations (primarily assembly) are considered a
network. This enables us to allocate production volumes more effectively within the available capacity to
realise efficiency benefits.

Accell Group has a number of centrally managed and ongoing programmes aimed at increasing the
sustainability of our production processes, such as efficient energy consumption, waste reduction and the use
of environment-friendly packaging. Subjects such as lifespan, reuse, recycling and end-of-life are also
important aspects that receive attention across the organisation. All initiatives and the progress made on same
are coordinated by our Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Manager.

In 2018, our production facility in Turkey received ISO 14001 certification and we launched a process to gain
the same certification at our production facility in Hungary. We have a certified Environment, Health & Safety
(EHS) Manager at our production facility in the Netherlands and their tasks include conducting energy audits.

Production footprint
In 2018, we used a footprint analysis to determine how many of our own production facilities we need for
assembly and what we can outsource to external assembly partners. As a result of this analysis, we have
decided to reduce the number of production facilities. For instance, the production of bicycle frames in China
will be transferred from our company Delta Metal Technology to one of our existing suppliers; the activities of
the Belgian company Brasseur will be integrated in Accell Benelux; and we will scale down the seat production
activities at Lepper in the Netherlands. In 2019, we will implement additional optimisations in the production
network, placing the emphasis increasingly at our three large assembly companies in the Netherlands, Hungary
and Turkey.   

Energy
Our production facilities account for most of our energy consumption, but our warehouses and offices also
affect (to a lesser extent) our energy use. We implemented a number of energy efficiency projects in 2018. For
instance, almost all local companies began using LED lighting and we are aiming to complete a full transition to
LED lighting in 2020. We have fitted motion sensors in many of our warehouses. In Heerenveen, we are
conducting a test that is charting energy use per hour in detail, in part to reduce the energy consumption
outside working hours. And also in 2018, we launched a study into alternatives to the use of gas for our paint
ovens.
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Our objective is to reduce our energy consumption by 1.5% annually. We measure our energy use and CO2

emissions and report the results in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). The table below
outlines all the energy sources our organisation uses, as well as natural gas and other fuels, including fuel used
to transport people and products.

Source conversion factors: Dutch list of energy carriers and standard CO2 emission factors 2017 (fuel), Defra 2018 (transport), IEA 2017 (electricity). Data is
derived from the financial administration. Data has been extrapolated where necessary.

In 2018, energy consumption declined both in absolute terms (6%) and measured against turnover in euros (9%)
compared to 2017. The balance between green and so-called grey energy was less positive (-2%) compared to
the previous year.

We expect the integration of our production facilities to enable us to further reduce our energy consumption
and CO2 emissions. In the future, we also want to start making the transition towards green energy, and
ultimately aim to operate fully on sustainable forms of energy in 2030.

Packaging and waste
Products and parts must be well-protected against damage during transport. This applies to our deliveries to
dealers and consumers and to deliveries from our suppliers. In addition to protection, we see increasing the
sustainability of our packaging as a priority. In this context, we look at the choice and optimisation of materials,
including the reduction of the use of plastics to a minimum, but also at minimising the waste created in the
production process and maximising the separation of this waste. Our aim is to reduce our footprint in the
organisation’s own packaging and waste by 2-4% per year, calculated per euro in turnover.
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CO2 conversion databases: EPA 2014, Eurostat 2016 and 2017, Ecoinvent 3.3. Data is derived from the financial administration, experience-based estimates
and extrapolation of weightings.

CO2 conversion databases: EPA 2014, Eurostat 2016 and 2017, Ecoinvent 3.3. Data partly measured, partly estimated.
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In 2018, the total environmental impact as a result of packaging and waste declined by just over 1,000 tonnes
of CO2 equivalents. After correction for the percentage of turnover for which data was collected (92%), this
results in a reduction of around 8% in CO2 equivalents, calculated per euro of turnover. As of 2018, we also
report how our waste is processed.

Data is derived from the waste processor. For readability purposes, percentages less than 1% are not shown.

Effective waste separation and compacting also reduces the number of transport movements and
simultaneously contributes to improved recycling.

End-of-life
We consider the collection of discarded e-bike batteries as a key priority. We work with local foundations (such
as Stibat and GRS) in Europe for the collection and responsible disposal of discarded batteries. We have made a
start on setting up an organisation for the recycling of complete electric bikes.

With the shift from ownership to use, we expect growing numbers of bicycles to eventually find their way back
to the manufacturer. We play an active role in working groups that focus on indirect waste flows,
environmental legislation and (future) applications that are linked to the creation of a circular economy.

QUALITY AND COMPLIANCE
Product quality requires quality assurance in terms of setting standards, monitoring, control and embedding
quality throughout the entire supply chain. This involves aspects such as product development, the suppliers
delivering the components, the production facilities and ultimately the delivery to our dealers. In view of the
increased complexity of our products, quality requirements and the need to safeguard product safety, in 2018
we initiated a process aimed at structuring our quality assurance and compliance at group level, with the
appointment of a Group Director Quality & Compliance.
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In 2018, we tightened our test protocols, for both components and finished products. These test protocols go
beyond the regular directives in common use or mandatory in the industry, as they also include our own
additional test requirements, which depend on the type of component and the type of bike. For instance, the
e-MTB models are subjected to a much more stringent test regime. In addition to the more stringent
standards, in 2019 we will also boost our monitoring, controls and safeguards.

CHAIN RESPONSIBILITY
Our scale and our membership of the World Federation of the Sporting Goods Industry (WFSGI) puts us in a
good position to encourage other players in the supply chain to respect human rights, sound labour practices
and environment protection. In our talks with suppliers about agreements and purchasing terms, which we
now conduct at group level, we also include our terms and guidelines with respect to chain responsibility.

In 2018, we drew up a standard contract which will form the basis of all future supplier contracts. The code of
conduct for suppliers is an integral part of this contract and suppliers are obliged to sign this code and be
willing to cooperate in any related audits. Our main suppliers have all now signed the improved contracts.

Supplier audits
We conduct audits among suppliers under the umbrella of the WFSGI (World Federation of the Sporting Goods
Industry). This approach is known as the ‘Responsible Sport Initiative’ (RSI). Accell Group was one of the
initiators of this approach. We have set a target of at least 20 audits a year. We also participate in audits
conducted at our suppliers by other participants in the RSI. The aim is for our suppliers to be audited once every
three years in terms of social and environmental aspects.  

In 2018, 22 audits were conducted at our request. The results for 2018 were comparable to previous years.
The majority of problems we found were related to the status of buildings (such as escape routes, fire
prevention and the storage of chemicals), the handling of the personnel and wage administration and keeping
to the correct working hours.

Audits of chemical substances
We conduct internal audits at our local companies on chemical substances from our suppliers. These
substances are used to paint parts such as the frame and the front fork, and they are also used in plastic
components such as saddles and handlebar grips. At Accell Group, we work exclusively with 100% water-based
paints.
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In 2018, our REACH laboratory tested a total of 265 components, on which the lab conducted a total of 1320
analyses. The products are selected on the basis of the risk profile of the product. Deviations were found in 9%
of cases. In these instances, we worked with the supplier to find a solution.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
In 2017, we adapted our Information Technology (IT) policy to bring it fully in line with our corporate strategy
and we have since launched various infrastructural, application and digital projects that support our
omnichannel and supply chain strategies. In this process, we are increasingly centralising and streamlining the
application landscape.
 
In 2018, this resulted in, among other things, the start of the implementation of a new ERP system in line with
an Accell Group template, the central management of data (Master Data Management) and the selection and
implementation of a Product Information Management (PIM) system and a CRM system.

PRIVACY AND GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATION (GDPR)
In the context of the new European GDPR privacy legislation coming into force, in 2018 we introduced systems
that enable us to register and manage privacy-related matters, such as cookie statements, privacy statements
and data processing agreements centrally. We have also taken additional measures to make the payment
process more robust. And we are now in much better position to detect issues such as deviations in payment
behaviours.

COOPERATION AND COMMUNICATION
In 2018, we introduced a central platform for cooperation and communication - the so-called Accell@Work
platform - across a large part of our organisation. The platform enables the staff at a large number of our local
companies to cooperate safely and simply with their colleagues and partners, regardless of their location. We
will roll out this platform to the rest of our companies in 2019.
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We organize our processes, protocols and systems with the consumer at the center;�

The Accell Group functional areas will be integrated to increase efficiency;�

Accell Group will have strong central coordination where adding value to processes such as innovation�

management, procurement, and digital and IT support, and local expertise where agility is needed most;
Communication is essential; by having an easy accessibility of information we prevent inventing the frame�

twice.

Our consumer facing activities get the attention they deserve by consistently presenting our brands in our�

chosen markets;
Innovation and design focus on the things that matter for the riders; not so much for our engineers;�

We share great design features across categories and countries without compromising the uniqueness of�

each brand;
We connect knowledge and experience by introducing a matrix-type of organization which is led by a strong�

central team;
We re-design internal processes with the purpose to soon work in an integrated and on-line environment;�

The with the above related change processes are facilitated by our very own change management expert.�

3.8 ORGANIZATION AND PEOPLE
As it became clear that a further integration of our functional capabilities will lead to a
more agile and efficient business, the following organization principles have been
formulated at the beginning of 2018:

While this may sound logical now, Accell Group for a long time had its excellent products and the dealer world
at the nr.1 spot in our organization philosophy. Therefore, with the strategy in mind, much time and effort was
invested in successfully implementing a new organizational structure, different way-of-working and changed
mind-set. 

So, now:

These are just a couple of examples of breaking down internal walls for the benefit of the greater Accell Group
cause of ‘Great Bikes win great likes’.

As can be observed in the enclosed high-level organization overview Accell Group has established strong
working relations between the market-oriented regional organisations and the centralized expert teams (eg
Technology & innovation, marketing & e-commerce, Finance, IT).

For much of our staff 2018 meant a year of learning - changing roles and processes, being part of
international/ multi-disciplinary teams for the first time, working across brands, etc. - and coping with a certain
degree of uncertainness.

In general people welcomed the new strategy. There is a lot of support for the direction chosen and the
willingness to change was and is high. People understand the need, see the benefits of working together as
one Accell Group and enjoy meeting colleagues from other brands, companies and countries, who have so
much experience and share the same passion for bikes.

To create the right foundation for change, most of the time and energy of HR was put to facilitate the
organization, teams and people during this transition. At the end of 2018 the organizational foundation was
laid-down, people understand the way-forward, new teams have started working together and first successes
have been celebrated. Ready to grow.
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LEADERSHIP
Changing the way the Accell Group organization works also has significant implications for governance and
leadership. New forums for consulting experts before decision making, building and connecting international
networks and other ways of creating one community have been established and are maturing quickly.

To manage and inspire these new ways and new teams 2018 has been a year of investing in leadership. Newly
formulated ‘winning values’ and a supporting 360 assessment tool, leadership training for teams as well as
individuals form a solid foundation to build a leadership framework and agenda.

It is understood that for existing leadership and management working in a new fast-pace, consumer focused
environment with strong centralized and international elements is not always an easy fit. Accell Group
therefore has seen change in leadership and management at various organization levels. We are proud to have
been able to continue our successful attraction of new talent with a variety of industry and functional
backgrounds. On-boarding and business simulation programs are in place to ensure the basics of Accell Group
and the bicycle industry are transferred in a quick and creative way.

PEOPLE
Within the Accell Group, the male-female ratio (in FTE) is 71%: 29%. In terms of age structure, the majority of
employees are aged between 30 and 50 years.

Reference date 30 November 2018. Data are from various HR information systems.

Coming to work in the morning means for most people at Accell Group to work for their own subsidiary, in their
own area of expertise, within their own team. The horizon of many experts and managers is different; often
national or regional or even global.
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Recruitment and selection: each year Accell Group production facilities attract hundreds of seasonal workers,�

essential for the production of High Quality bicycles and logistics activities at our warehousing locations.
Noticeable is the success of the targeted media campaign in Hungary for production and warehouse staff, the
social media campaign to attract highly skilled e-commerce and marketing specialists in the Netherlands and
the attraction, training and inclusion of female welders in Turkey. Accell Group is also proud to be the
employer of choice for an increasing number of bachelor and master of science trained young professionals in
Supply Chain, IT, Commerce, Technology and design as well as Finance.
Training and development: the new organization brings not only a new structure for many, yet also new�

accountabilities. These are trained on-the-job as well as by targeted programs for teams as well as
individuals. We have also started preparations for the 2019 first roll-out of new IT / ERP solutions for a wide
part of the Accell Group population. With the help of a third party, we have started to take our new regional
and functional management teams through essential team oriented leadership training. Giving and receiving
feedback is becoming an essential part of the employee experience.
 

Both perspectives are of high importance to ensure our consumers are efficiently serviced with great products.
The connection between the local and global point of view is made through sharing information, building trust
and respect and considering all arguments.  With the help of constructive employee representatives in many of
our subsidiaries a wide array of subjects has been discussed and brought to a close. On Group level a joint
works-council for Accell Operations B.V. and Accell Service B.V. was put in place, which once more shows the
significance and how much management values structured consultation of staff.

The Board of Directors considers it therefore unfortunate that while going through an important change
process in 2018 some trade unions have targeted specific Accell Group subsidiaries to strike for national labour
relation reasons.

Next to the change of perspective in many teams and roles, Accell Group continues to keep its focus on
essential people matters. Some of the highlights are mentioned below.

The amount of hours is determined based on data derived from HR systems and from the financial administration, interviews and are in part estimated and
extrapolated.

This year the average number of training hours per employee has again increased. In 2018 the goal was
increased to an average of 15 hours per employee per year. This revised objective has not yet been realized. In
the coming years we will continue to invest extra in knowledge and we will raise the bar step by step.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY
The safety and health of our employees is of great importance to us. We are well aware of the safety and
health risks associated with work in production, warehouses and offices. Within each company a responsible
person has been appointed, who, in addition to compliance with regulations, gives attention to strengthening
the health and safety culture. In addition to a healthy and safe working environment, we also promote
awareness of staff in the broader sense and attention to a healthy lifestyle. An example of this is encouraging
employees to come to work by bicycle.

 

Data are from various HR information systems.

 

Data are from various HR information systems.
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Building a community: the very essence of building an effective and inspiring matrix organization which�

focuses on the consumer, is stimulated by great workshops, conferences, inspiration meetings, forums and
much more. During these, long standing issues are tackled and resolved and new ways of working together
developed in a consumer focused way.  A great example on how this translates is the self-propelling initiative
of Accell Young; a new way in Accell Group in the Netherlands to bring together young professionals.
Accell Group values and behaviour: During our transformation journey it became clear that clarity about our�

most important values and behaviors is important to reflect on how we work with one another at Accell
Group, yet also with consumers, customers and suppliers. Acting as one Accell Group asks for a set of shared
and sharpened values; Consumer and customer obsession, Act as one team, Excellence and a passion for
winning, Lead by example.

Expressed in percentage of employees. Data derived from HR systems and from the financial administration, interviews and are in part estimated and
extrapolated.
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OUTLOOK 2019
2019 will be another exciting year in terms of organization and people. Next to continued work in attracting
and retaining great people we anticipate a continued stream of change initiatives. Preparing and facilitating the
Accell Group crew for this is a continuous activity area, therefore our management should have ‘a license to
change’ as part of their skills set.

On the 2019 agenda is a review and modernization of our compensation and benefits to ensure a closer link is
built between our results, individual performance and behaviors.

In Q1 2019, Accell Group will launch its first global Employee Engagement Survey to get a data driven insight
on how our staff experiences working at Accell Group in the broadest possible sense.

Also under preparation is an investment in a global payroll and HR information system to allow management
and staff to get insights on individual, team and business levels, unheard of thus far at Accell Group.
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the authorisation would be valid for 18 months (until 25 October 2019);�

the Supervisory Board’s approval would be required for the acquisition of Accell Group shares;�

the number of shares would never exceed 10% of the issued share capital; and�

the acquisition price would never exceed 110% of the average share price on the preceding five trading days.�

4 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Accell Group attaches great importance to good corporate governance. The Board of
Directors and the Supervisory Board are responsible for the corporate governance
structure of Accell Group and for compliance with the Dutch Corporate Governance Code
(the ‘Code’). This section of the report first describes Accell Group’s corporate governance
structure, our whistle-blower scheme and our protective measures. We also explain why
Accell Group deviates from certain best practice provisions of the Code.

4.1 GENERAL
Accell Group is a public limited liability company that applies the full two-tier board structure. Accell Group’s
corporate governance structure is laid down in the company’s articles of association and by law. The full text
of the articles of association can be found on our website.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors is responsible for the management of Accell Group and for the continuity of the
company and its associated enterprise. The Board of Directors is accountable to the Supervisory Board and the
General Meeting of Shareholders (the ‘General Meeting’) on these issues. In the performance of its tasks, the
Board of Directors is guided by the interests of the company and its associated enterprise. The Board of
Directors focuses in particular on the long-term value creation of the company and in doing so weighs the
relevant interests of the company’s stakeholders. The Board of Directors engages the Supervisory Board in the
formulation of the strategy for the realisation of the long-term value creation and does so in a timely fashion.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the identification and management of the risks associated with the
company’s strategy and activities. Accell Group has adequate internal risk management and control systems.
For more detailed information, please see section 3.3 ‘Risk management’ of this report. Certain significant
resolutions of the Board of Directors require the approval of the Supervisory Board. These include resolutions
on major investments, share issues and the establishment and/or termination of long-term alliances with
other companies. The General Meeting’s approval is required for resolutions of the Board of Directors that
involve significant changes to the identity or character of the company or the enterprise.

Certain significant resolutions of the Board of Directors require the approval of the Supervisory Board. These
include resolutions on major investments, share issues and the establishment and/or termination of long-term
alliances with other companies. The General Meeting’s approval is required for resolutions of the Board of
Directors that involve significant changes to the identity or character of the company or the enterprise.

On 25 April 2018, the General Meeting granted the Board of Directors the authority to repurchase Accell Group
shares. The authorisation was granted under the following conditions: 

https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/articles-of-association
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issue ordinary shares up to a maximum of 10% of the outstanding share capital, and�

limit or exclude pre-emptive rights upon the issuance of ordinary shares.�

The agenda for the General Meeting of Shareholders of 24 April 2019 includes a proposal to once again grant
the Board of Directors the authority to acquire Accell Group shares under the same conditions as those set out
above, such for a period of 18 months.

Resolutions to issue shares are adopted by the General Meeting, insofar as and as long as it has not
designated another company body. The pre-emptive rights can be limited or excluded by the company body
authorised to adopt resolutions on the issuance of shares, provided that said authorisation is granted expressly
to that company body. On 25 April 2018, a resolution of the General Meeting extended the period to 25
October 2019, during which the Board of Directors is authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board,
to:

The agenda for the General Meeting of Shareholders of 24 April 2019 includes a proposal to extend this term
to 24 October 2020.

The Board of Directors represents the company insofar as the law does not stipulate otherwise. Each member
of the Board of Directors also has the authority to represent the company.

The Supervisory Board determines the number of the members of the Board of Directors and appoints and
dismisses the members of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors currently has three members: T. (Ton)
Anbeek (CEO), R. (Ruben) Baldew (CFO) and J. (Jeroen) Both (CSCO). The Supervisory Board has appointed one of
the members, Ton Anbeek, as chairman of the Board of Directors.

The Supervisory Board determines the remuneration of the individual members of the Board of Directors, with
due observance of the remuneration policy adopted by the General Meeting, most recently on 22 April 2010.
Each year, the Supervisory Board compiles a remuneration report, which contains an explanation of the
remuneration of the individual members of the Board of Directors.

The remuneration report of the Supervisory Board for 2018 is available via the website (under ‘Corporate
Governance/Remuneration’)

SUPERVISORY BOARD
The Supervisory Board supervises the manner in which the Board of Directors executes the long-term value
creation strategy. The members of the Supervisory Board regularly discuss the strategy, the execution of same
and the key risks, while paying specific attention to the effectiveness of the internal risk management and
control systems and the integrity and quality of the company’s financial reporting.  In addition, the Supervisory
Board provides the Board of Directors with advice. In the performance of its tasks, the Supervisory Board is
guided by the interests of Accell Group and its associated enterprise and in doing so weighs the relevant
interests of all the company’s stakeholders. The Board of Directors provides the Supervisory Board with all the
information it requires to perform its tasks and does so in a timely manner.

The Supervisory Board has drawn up regulations which include the distribution of its tasks and its operating
methods. The regulations also include a section on its interaction with the Board of Directors and the General
Meeting. The regulations were adopted by means of a resolution dated 15 December 2017. The regulations
can be found on the Accell Group website (under ‘Corporate Governance/Supervisory Board).

The Supervisory Board comprises at least three members. The General Meeting appoints the members of the
Supervisory Board based on nominations drawn up by the Supervisory Board. The General Meeting can reject
the nomination with an absolute majority of the votes cast, representing at least one-third of the issued share
capital. If the nomination is rejected, the Supervisory Board shall draw up a new nomination. In the event that

https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/remuneration
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/remuneration
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/supervisory-board/supervisory-board.htm
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the General Meeting fails to appoint the nominee and also fails to reject the nomination, the Supervisory Board
shall appoint said nominee. The Supervisory Board announces the nominations simultaneously to the General
Meeting and the Works Councils of Accell Nederland B.V., Accell IT Services B.V. and the Joint Works Council of
Accell Operations B.V. and Accell Services B.V. The General Meeting and the Works Councils are entitled to
recommend nominees to the Supervisory Board for appointment as members of the Supervisory Board. The
Supervisory Board will fill the nominations for one-third of the number of members of the Supervisory Board
with persons recommended by the Works Councils, unless the Supervisory Board objects to said
recommendation and provides grounds for same. 

A member of the Supervisory Board shall resign no later than on the day of the first annual General Meeting of
Shareholders held four years after their appointment and immediately after the end of said meeting. A
resigning member of the Supervisory Board may be reappointed immediately. The members of the Supervisory
Board receive a remuneration to be determined by the General Meeting. 
 
The Supervisory Board has drawn up a retirement schedule, which is published on the Accell Group website
(under ‘Corporate Governance/Supervisory Board).
The Supervisory Board has four members and has appointed two committees from its midst, each with two
members. The Audit committee comprises Mrs. D. (Daniëlle) Jansen Heijtmajer (chair) and Mr. G. (Gert) van de
Weerdhof. The Selection/Remuneration committee comprises Mr. P.B. (Peter) Ernsting (chairman) and Mr. A.J.
(Ab) Pasman).

These committees are tasked with preparatory activities as part of the decision-making process of the
Supervisory Board. By means of a resolution dated 15 December 2017, the Supervisory Board established
revised regulations for the audit committee and the selection/remuneration committee. These regulations can
be found on the website (under ‘Corporate Governance/Supervisory Board’).
 
The Supervisory Board has drawn up a profile of its size and composition, taking into account the nature and
operations of Accell Group and the desired expertise and background of the members of the Supervisory Board.
The profile was most recently established by means of a Supervisory Board resolution dated 21 July 2011 and
is available on the Accell Group website (under ‘Corporate Governance/Supervisory Board’). The Supervisory
Board has appointed from its midst a chair and a vice chair. The Supervisory Board aims to align the experience
and expertise of its members effectively with the nature, activities and strategy of Accell Group. The
Supervisory Board’s composition is such that the members are able to operate independently and critically,
vis-à-vis each other, the Board of Directors and any company interest whatsoever.

COMPOSITION BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORY BOARD
The Board of Directors and Supervisory Board are composed in such a way that the required expertise,
background, and competencies are independently represented to ensure it can fulfil its tasks effectively. With
respect to the distribution of seats on the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board, Accell Group strives for
diversity in terms of aspects such as education and professional experience, age and gender. The
appointments to the Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors in 2018 increased the diversity of both
bodies. However, despite the steps taken in 2018, the current composition is not yet sufficiently balanced.
Accell Group will continue to strive for a more balanced composition in these bodies in future appointments of
directors and supervisory directors.

In addition, Accell Group is planning to start a diversity programme in the general management level of the
company, with the aim of working towards an improvement in the diversity (30%) of the broader organisation.

https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/supervisory-board/supervisory-board.htm
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/supervisory-board/supervisory-board.htm
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GENERAL MEETING
Key powers, such as powers regarding resolutions to amend the articles of association, legal mergers and
spin-offs, and the adoption of the annual accounts reside with the General Meeting. In addition, the General
Meeting adopts the remuneration policy for the members of the Board of Directors. The dividend policy and
discharge of the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board are also regular items on the agenda for the General
Meeting. A General Meeting of Shareholders is convened at least once a year. The General Meeting of
Shareholders is chaired by the chairman of the Supervisory Board. Minutes are taken of each General Meeting
of Shareholders.

Accell Group considers it important that as many shareholders as possible participate in the decision-making
processes of the General Meeting of Shareholders and others entitled to vote are therefore given the
opportunity to appoint proxies or to extend voting instructions ahead of the General Meeting. The engagement
of many shareholders, participation in the decision-making process and the high level of attendance at the
general meetings in recent years ensure that the corporate governance system operates effectively. At the
General Meeting held on 25 April 2018, 57.6% of the total number of outstanding shares was either present or
represented.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR
The General Meeting appoints the external auditor. The external auditor reports its findings related to the audit
of the annual accounts simultaneously to the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board and records the
results of its findings in a statement. During the General Meeting of Shareholders the external auditor may be
questioned about its statement regarding the true and fair nature of the annual accounts and the external
auditor attends said meeting and is authorised to speak at the same for that purpose.

KPMG Accountants N.V. has been the external auditor for Accell Group since 2016. The Supervisory Board has
put forward KPMG Accountants N.V. for reappointment as external auditor for the financial year 2019. The
reappointment of the external auditor is on the agenda for the General Meeting of Shareholders of 24 April
2019.

TAX POLICY
Accell Group operates in compliance with all relevant laws and regulations. Tax payments Accell Group makes
are largely related to corporate income tax, turnover tax, payroll taxes and social security premiums. Accell
Group’s guiding principle is to pay taxes in the various countries in proportion to the operating results realised
in the country in question.

Internal transactions are settled on the basis of the ‘at arm’s length’ principle. Periodically, Accell Group has
consultations with the Dutch tax authorities, during which they discuss important fiscal aspects and
developments. If necessary, Accell Group discusses important fiscal aspects with the tax authorities in
advance. 

CODES OF CONDUCT
The Board of Directors established a new internal code of conduct in 2018. This Code of Conduct incorporates
the desired conduct expected of everyone within Accell Group every day. The Code of Conduct also includes
instructions and recommendations on how employees should conduct themselves in certain specific
situations. The full text of the new internal code of conduct is available on the Accell Group website (under
'Corporate Governance’).

https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/internal-code-of-conduct
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/internal-code-of-conduct
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Accell Group has laid down its requirements for suppliers and other parties involved in the production and
sourcing process in a separate code of conduct. These requirements relate to issues including the prohibition of
child labour, involuntary labour and discrimination, safety requirements, environmental requirements and
labour conditions. The code of conduct for suppliers is available on the Accell Group website (under 'Corporate
Governance’).

WHISTLE-BLOWER REGULATIONS
The Board of Directors has established whistle-blower regulations and published the same on the Accell
Group website (under 'Corporate Governance’), so employees can report alleged irregularities without harming
their legal position.

INSIDER TRADING REGULATION
The Insider Trading Regulation established by the Board of Directors aims to provide rules to support the legal
provisions aimed at preventing insider trading. The basic premise of the Insider Trading Regulation is that
people should not conduct or recommend transactions in Accell Group shares and other Accell Group financial
instruments if they are in possession of inside information, such in accordance with Regulation (EU) no.
596/2014 of the European Parliament and the Council of 16 April 2014 on market abuse (Market Abuse
Regulation).

Pursuant to the Insider Trading Regulation, persons with a reporting obligation (including members of the
Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board) and the so-called designated persons at Accell Group are subject
to various closed trading periods, announced by the Compliance Officer, in which they are not allowed to
conduct any transactions, regardless of whether they are in possession of inside information or not. In line with
the Insider Trading Regulation, persons with a reporting obligation and designated persons must report any
transactions they have executed to the Compliance Officer. Those with a reporting obligation must also report
their transactions to the Dutch Financial Markets Authority (AFM).

On 12 December 2014, the Supervisory Board established a regulation that includes a number of provisions
related to the possession of and transactions in securities by members of the Board of Directors and of the
Supervisory Board, other than those issued by their ‘own’ company. This is the regulation as referred to in the
last sentence of best practice provision 2.7.2 of the Code.

https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/code-of-conduct-for-suppliers
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/code-of-conduct-for-suppliers
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/whistle-blower-regulations
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4.2 STICHTING PREFERENTE AANDELEN ACCELL GROUP
The Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group (the Accell Group preference share trust)
has its registered office in Heerenveen and its goal is to protect the interests of Accell
Group NV, hereinafter referred to as the Company and its associated enterprise, including
the enterprises carried out by the Companies with which it is affiliated in a group and all
parties involved in the same. In the performance of this task, Stichting Preferente
Aandelen Accell Group shall do its utmost to safeguard the interests of Accell Group and its
associated enterprise and all parties involved in the same, while at the same time doing its
utmost to resist any influences that may affect the independence and/or the continuity
and/or the identity of the company and its associated enterprise in conflict with those
interests.

To protect the continuity of (the strategy of) Accell Group and its stakeholders, Accell Group entered into an
option agreement with Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group in May 2015. This agreement replaced the
previous agreement dating from December 1998, which was later amended in 2009.

Pursuant to the option agreement, Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group shall have the right at any time
to acquire such a number of cumulative preference shares B as are required to make Stichting Preferente
Aandelen Accell Group, after the acquisition of said shares, the holder of one half, less one share, of the
(increased) issued share capital (following the issue of shares). Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group can
exercise this right at any time in the event that it believes there is a threat to the independence and/or the
identity and/or the continuity of (the strategy of) the company, the associated enterprise and any parties
involved in the same.

The option can be exercised, among other things, to (1) prevent or delay (the threat of) a public bid on the
shares in the share capital of the company that is deemed hostile, and/or (2) to prevent or oppose an
unwanted concentration of voting rights in the General Meeting of Shareholders, and/or (3) to resist any
unwanted influence or pressure from shareholders who wish to change the strategy of the Board of Directors.

In these cases, the issuance of cumulative preference shares B enables the company and its Board of Directors
and Supervisory Board to determine their standpoint vis-a-vis the bidder/hostile shareholder and any plans
they may have, to investigate alternatives and to defend the interests of the company and those of its
stakeholders.

Within six months after any issue of cumulative preference shares B, the Board of Directors shall convene a
General Meeting of Shareholders to inform the shareholders regarding the current status and discuss the same
with said shareholders.

Pursuant to article 2:346 section 1 sub e of the Dutch Civil Code, the Company has granted the Stichting
Preferente Aandelen Accell Group the authority to submit a written request to the Enterprise Chamber of the
Amsterdam Court of Appeal to initiate an inquiry into the policy and the general affairs of the Company, within
the meaning of article 2:345 of the Dutch Civil Code.
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The board of Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group comprises three members, namely Mr. M.P. (Marco)
Nieuwe Weme (Chairman), Mr. B. (Bart) van der Meer, and Mr. A.J.M. (Naud) van der Ven.

In the opinion of the company and in the opinion of Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group, Stichting
Preferente Aandelen Accell Group is independent from the company within the meaning of article 5:71,
subsection 1 under c of the Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wft).

Members can consult the website of Stichting Preferente Aandelen Accell Group via:
www.stichtingpreferenteaandelenaccellgroup.com.

 

http://www.stichtingpreferenteaandelenaccellgroup.com
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4.3 COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE
Accell Group complies with most of the principles and best practice provisions of the Code,
insofar as these are applicable to the company. In view of the nature, size and character of
our company, Accell Group believes that it is in its own best interest to deviate from the
best practice provisions listed below. The following explains why and to what extent Accell
Group deviates from said provisions.

Best practice provision 3.1.2 (VI)
The scheme for conditional shares stipulates a three-year reference period before the unconditional allocation.
Following unconditional allocation, the shares must be held for at least two years. Although the formal period
between conditional and unconditional allocation is two years, the reference period for unconditional allocation
is three years and the Supervisory Board believes the term stipulated by the entire scheme is sufficiently long
to secure the commitment of the members of the Board of Directors to the company and its associated
interests.

Best practice provision 3.2.3
The severance payment paid out to Mr. Sybesma in 2018 when he stepped down from the Board of Directors
exceeded the maximum laid down in this provision. The severance payment paid out to Mr. Sybesma was
based in part on his employment contract, which predated the first Corporate Governance Code. Accell Group
respected Mr. Sybesma’s rights laid down in the old contract. We refer to explanatory note 29 to the Financial
Statements (Remuneration Board of Directors and Supervisory Board) for the details of the severance
payment.

 
Best practice provision 4.3.2
Accell Group does not offer shareholders the opportunity to issue proxies and/or voting instructions to an
independent third party prior to the General Meeting of Shareholders. The company has chosen not to comply
with this provision to avoid incurring the costs associated with hiring an independent third party. However,
Accell Group does offer shareholders the opportunity to issue proxies and/or voting instructions to the
company itself.

Transactions involving conflicts of interest
In the financial year 2018, there were no transactions involving a conflict of interest with members of the
Board of Directors or of the Supervisory Board or with majority shareholders as provided for in best practice
provisions 2.7.4 and 2.7.5 of the Code. The regulations for the Supervisory Board include rules on how to deal
with (potential) conflicts of interest involving members of the Board of Directors or of the Supervisory Board
and the external auditor in relation to Accell Group and stipulate which transactions require the approval of the
Supervisory Board.
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The company’s authorised share capital amounts to € 1,200,000 divided into 120,000,000 shares with a�

nominal value of € 0.01 each, divided into 55,000,000 ordinary shares, 5,000,000 cumulative preference
shares F, and 60,000,000 cumulative preference shares B. As of 11 March 2019 (publication date annual
report 2018), the issued and paid-up capital of Accell Group amounts to € 266,034.26 divided into
26,603,426 ordinary shares with a nominal value of € 0.01 each.

An overview of substantial shareholdings in Accell Group is included in section 1.4 The share;�

The company has not issued any shares with special controlling rights;�

Accell Group does not have a monitoring mechanism for an employee share scheme;�

There are no limitations or terms on the execution of the voting rights attached to ordinary shares. There are�

no depositary receipts for shares issued with the cooperation of the company;
The company is not aware of any agreements involving a shareholder of the company that may limit the�

transfer of shares or that may limit the voting rights;
The provisions for the appointment and dismissal of members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory�

Board and for the amendment of the articles of association are incorporated in the articles of association of
the company, which can be consulted on the Accell Group website (under ‘Corporate Governance’);
The powers of the Board of Directors and in particular its power to issue shares in the company and acquire�

Accell Group shares are described in section 4.1 of this report;
A number of agreements between the company and its lenders include the provision that the lenders have�

the right to terminate the agreements and to reclaim the loans issued prematurely in the event of a
substantial change in the control over the company following a public bid as meant in article 5:70 of the
Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wft);
The company is not aware of any agreements with members of the Board of Directors or employees that�

provide for a payment in the event that the employment is terminated following a public bid as meant in
article 5:70 of the Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wft).

Decree article 10 of the takeover directive
The following is an overview of the information required under article 1 of the Decree article 10 of the Takeover
Directive:
 

The company has no statutory or contractual limitation on the transfer of shares, with the exception of the
statutory blocking provision with respect to the transfer of cumulative preference shares F.
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5 REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY
BOARD

In the course of 2018, the Supervisory Board supervised the progress the Board of
Directors made in terms of the changes to the organisation and the management of Accell
Group and the implementation of the refined strategy.

5.1 SUPERVISORY BOARD
The Supervisory Board consists of the following members:

AB (A.J.) PASMAN (1950)
Chairman
Mr. Pasman (Dutch) was appointed to the Supervisory Board and as Chairman of same on 22 April 2010. Mr.
Pasman was a member of the Board of Directors of Koninklijke Grolsch N.V. from 2003 to 2008 and was
appointed chairman of said board in 2004. He is a member of the Supervisory Boards of the following
companies: Berenschot Holding B.V. and Westland Kaas Groep B.V. Mr. Pasman was reappointed to the
Supervisory Board in 2018 for a third term of two years. His term of office runs until the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders due to be held in the spring of 2020.

GERT (G.) VAN DE WEERDHOF (1966)
Deputy chairman
Mr. van de Weerdhof (Dutch) was appointed to the Supervisory Board on 25 April 2018. Since 2017, he has
been member and chairman of the Supervisory Board of Ctac N.V. and member of the Supervisory Board of
Sligro N.V. He has also been a member of the Supervisory Board of Wereldhave N.V. since 2016. In the period
2013-2016, Mr. van de Weerdhof was CEO of RFS Holland Holding / Wehkamp B.V. and between 1992 and
2013 held various management, marketing and sales functions at Esprit B.V., Pearle Europe B.V., PepsiCo
International and Procter & Gamble Benelux N.V. Mr. van de Weerdhof was appointed for a term of four years.
His term of office runs until the General Meeting of Shareholders due to be held in the spring of 2022.

PETER (P.B.) ERNSTING (1958)
Mr. Ernsting (Dutch) was appointed to the Supervisory Board at the General Meeting of Shareholders of 28
April 2011. Mr. Ernsting was appointed at the nomination of the Supervisory Board following a
recommendation from the Central Works Council. Until October 2017, Mr. Ernsting was Senior Vice President,
Group Supply Chain, and member of the Executive Committee at Carlsberg. Mr. Ernsting previously held a
number of management positions at Unilever N.V., both in the Netherlands and abroad. Mr. Ernsting was
reappointed in 2015. Mr. Ernsting’s term of office runs until the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders due
to be held in the spring of 2019. The Accell group Supervisory Board intends to nominate Mr. Ernsting for
reappointment for a term of two years at the general Meeting of Shareholders of 24 April 2019. This is
explained in more detail in section 5.2 ‘General’).  
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DANIËLLE (D.) JANSEN HEIJTMAJER (1960)
Ms. Jansen Heijtmajer (Dutch) was appointed to the Supervisory Board on 25 April 2018. Since 2014, she has
been with Friesland Campina, where she currently holds the position of Global Process Director Finance,
Shared Services, ERM & Internal Control. Prior to this, Ms. Jansen Heijtmajer spent 23 years in various Finance
positions at Shell, including Vice President Group Pensions, in countries including the UK and the US. In addition
to her membership of the Supervisory Board of Accell Group, Ms. Jansen Heijtmajer also chairs the Supervisory
Board of Aegon Nederland and is a member of the supervisory council of the Regional Public Broadcasting
foundation. Ms. Jansen Heijtmajer qualifies as an expert in the field of financial reporting and the auditing of
financial statements as stipulated in article 2, section 3 of the decree establishing audit committees (Besluit
instelling auditcommissie). Ms. Jansen Heijtmajer has been appointed for a term of four years. Her term runs
until the General Meeting of Shareholders due to be held in the spring of 2022.
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5.2 GENERAL
The year 2018 was one of many changes. The arrival of the new CEO, Ton Anbeek, at the
end of 2017 accelerated the transition process in 2018. Accell Group further refined its
strategy under his leadership and revised the structure and management of the company
with a strong focus on synergy, benefits of scale and cooperation. Accell group’s strategy,
which is aimed at long-term value creation, and the related targets for the coming years
have been recorded and communicated externally. As the Supervisory Board, we have
been closely involved in the development and refinement of the strategy and we strictly
monitor the implementation and execution of this strategy. In this context, we consult
continuously with the Board of Directors regarding, among other things adjustments to
and the speed of the implementation.  

As part of the change process, the Supervisory Board decided to also strengthen and renew the Board of
Directors. COO Jeroen Snijders Blok stepped down from his post and Hielke Sybesma resigned as CFO after the
General Meeting of Shareholders of 25 April 2018. Erik van den Heuvel was appointed as interim CFO to bridge
the period until the appointment of the new CFO. Finding the right successor to Mr Sybesma took up a
considerable amount of the Supervisory Board’s time in 2018.

At the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders in October 2018, Ruben Baldew was nominated as the
new CFO. He subsequently took up the post as of 1 November 2018. Not only did this appointment complete
an almost complete renewal of the Board of Directors; it also means that the board is now at full strength to
implement the new, refined strategy. 

We bid farewell to Jan van den Belt as a member of the Supervisory Board at the General Meeting of
Shareholders of 25 April 2018, as he had completed his third term on the board. In addition to this, Ms. Jansen
Heijtmajer and Mr. Van de Weerdhof were nominated as new members of the Supervisory Board. The General
Meeting of Shareholders subsequently appointed both nominees as members of the Supervisory Board for a
four-year term.

In 2018, the Supervisory Board supervised the management and general course of events at Accell Group. In
the course of the year, we met 10 times (occasionally in the presence of the Board of Directors) to discuss the
strategy, the changes to the strategy and the progress in the implementation. The refining of the strategy
comes with many adjustments, including changes in the field of internal governance, numerous new
processes, new competencies and a lot of new talent. More specifically, we devoted attention to the following
aspects in 2018: IT systems and structure, the progress of the cost-saving process in the supply chain, the
structure of the production network, the innovation process, the omnichannel distribution model and the
progress in North America. In line with the refined strategy, we also discussed various potential acquisitions in
the year under review. In 2018, this resulted in the acquisition of Beeline in North America and Velosophy in
Europe.

In October 2018, the full Supervisory Board made a five-day visit to North America, during which we talked to
people in our own organisation, market experts and customers. Ultimately, we took a critical look at these
activities due to the persistently disappointing results, even after adjustments to the strategy, reorganisations
and changes in the management. As a result, it was decided in December 2018 to designate the American
activities as non-core. At the same time, Accell Group launched a process to assess all possible options for the
North American business. Accell Group also once again confirmed it is fully behind the strategic plan for 2018-
2022, with a clear focus on continued growth for the core activities in Europe and improvements in
profitability.
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During the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders in October 2018, shareholders criticised the
functioning of the Supervisory Board and more specifically its functioning in 2017/2018 at the time of the talks
with Pon Holdings. Partly in response to the request of the shareholders, we decided to strengthen the
Supervisory Board by appointing a new chairman who will closely follow the implementation of the
strategy. The intention is for the General Meeting of Shareholders to appoint the proposed new chairman as a
member of the Supervisory Board at the General Meeting of Shareholders of 24 April 2019. The Supervisory
Board intends to then appoint the new member as its chairman once Mr. Pasman has stepped down as
chairman.

The Supervisory Board acted in a plenary fashion at all times in the year under review. In other words, all the
members board were present at all of the meetings of the Supervisory Board.

 

Recently, with the help of a professional third party, we assessed the functioning of the Supervisory Board as a
whole, its separate committees and the individual members – both as a board and vis-a-vis the Board of
Directors and individual Supervisory Board members. Based on individual interviews with all members of the
Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board members and the external consultant
subsequently dedicated an open session to discussing the outcome of the interviews. In this session, we
established a number of potential improvements and follow-up actions, some of which have already been
partly addressed, and some of which will be addressed in a joint session of the Supervisory Board and the
Board of Directors.

The past year can be seen as a transitional year for Accell Group. The bicycle and bicycle parts and accessories
markets are changing rapidly, especially on the distribution front. The Netherlands is leading the way in that
respect. Accell Group is in the midst of a transition aimed at enabling the company to realise its full potential on
an international scale. With this in mind, in addition to the aforementioned appointment of a new chairman, the
Supervisory Board has therefore decided to nominate Mr. Ernsting (with the enhanced right of
recommendation of the Works Councils) for reappointment as a member of the Supervisory Board for a third
two-year term. This safeguards the continuity needed after the many changes to the Supervisory Board and
the experience and expertise required within the Supervisory Board.

The composition of the Supervisory Board thus ensures an effective coverage in terms of background, know-
how and experience to support and follow Accell Group critically during the ongoing transition. This, combined
with the fact that in our view all current members of the Supervisory Board can be considered independent as
meant in best practice provisions 2.1.7 and 2.1.9 of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, gives the members
sufficient time and space to fulfil their responsibilities properly, both individually and as a team.
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Accell Group currently does not currently comply with the standard for a balanced division of the seats on the
Board of Directors and Supervisory Board, but the Supervisory Board aims to improve this in its search for new
members, as well as the diversity in general. 

The Supervisory Board has two committees: the audit committee and the selection and remuneration
committee. These committees carry out their tasks on the basis of regulations adopted by the Supervisory
Board. The committees maintain close contacts with the full Supervisory Board to discuss current subjects and
reach decisions.

The Supervisory Board discussed the 2018 financial statements with the Board of Directors and the external
auditor (KPMG Accountants N.V.) and approved same in its meeting of 11 March 2019. Based on this, all
Supervisory Board members (and directors) signed the 2018 financial statements. KPMG has issued an
unqualified audit report and will be represented at the General Meeting of Shareholders of 24 April 2019 to
provide explanatory comments. The General Meeting of Shareholders will be asked to adopt the annual
accounts for 2018 and approve the payment of a dividend for 2018 of € 0.50 per share.

The Supervisory Board attaches great importance to effective corporate governance, with the emphasis on
independence, responsibility and transparency. We therefore closely follow key developments in the field of
corporate governance.

We wish to express our appreciation to all stakeholders for their engagement with Accell Group. We greatly
appreciate the staff members who work day in day out with a great level of feeling, commitment and
enthusiasm to implement the various changes within the company as quickly as possible. Their efforts will
ultimately be the key to the realisation of our group ambitions.
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Review of the document which details the remuneration scheme  for members of the Board of Directors;�

Arriving at arrangements and agreements in connection with the departure of the CFO, Mr. Sybesma;�

Preparing and initiating the assessment of the functioning of the Board of Directors in 2017;�

Putting forward proposals regarding the fixed and variable remuneration of the members of the Board of�

Directors for 2017;
Preparing the evaluation and remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors for 2017�

Preparations for the 2018 remuneration report;�

Preparing and initiating the assessment of the functioning of the Supervisory Board (members) and its�

committees with the aid of an independent third party.

 

5.3 SELECTION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The selection and remuneration committee supports the Supervisory Board in the
execution of its supervisory tasks and the preparation of decision-making in the field of
selection and appointment procedures for members of the Supervisory Board and Board of
Directors, the remuneration policy and the level of remuneration and employment contract
terms for members of the Board of Directors.

The selection and remuneration committee consists of Mr. Pasman (member) and Mr. Ernsting (chairman). The
committee met eight times in 2018 (2017: eight times) and was also in frequent contact by telephone. All the
members of the committee were present at the meetings.
 

 

The resignation of the CFO and recruitment of his successor were key focal points for the committee last year
and were discussed during the meetings, as were the addition of two new members to the Supervisory Board
and the initiation of the search for a new chairman.

Other matters the selection and remuneration committee focused on in 2018 were:

The Supervisory Board discussed and adopted the remuneration package for the Board of Directors for 2018
on 8 March 2018. At the same time, the Supervisory Board also determined the bonuses for the 2017 financial
year, which were included in the financial statements for 2017.

Based on the preparatory work of the committee, the Supervisory Board discussed and adopted the 2018
remuneration report. The remuneration of the Board of Directors is in line with the policy adopted by the
General Meeting of Shareholders on 24 April 2008 and amended most recently on 22 April 2010.
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Integrity and quality of the financial reporting and effectiveness of the internal risk management control�

systems of the company;
Assessment of budget and financial prognoses;�

Financing of the company and compliance with relevant covenants;�

Relationship with the internal auditor and external auditor (including the independence of the external�

auditor) and the timely compliance with recommendations and follow-up to comments;
Recommendation of candidates for the appointment of the internal auditor;�

Annual evaluation of the internal audit function;�

Advice on the nomination for appointment or reappointment or contract termination of the external auditor�

and preparations for the selection of the external auditor;
Proposals for the commissioning of the audit of the financial statements by the external auditor;�

Annual discussion of the draft audit plan with the external accountant;�

Discussion In control statement and auditor’s report;�

Coordination of and advice on the internal audit plan;�

Application of and compliance with legislation and regulations.�

5.4 AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audit committee supports the Supervisory Board in the execution of its supervisory
tasks and in the preparation of decision-making in the fields of financial reporting, risk
management and internal controls.

The audit committee consists of the financial expert and at least one other member of the Supervisory Board.
Since the appointment of the new Supervisory Board members at the General Meeting of Shareholders of April
2018, this committee has consisted of Mr. Van de Weerdhof (member) and Ms. Jansen Heijtmajer (chair). For
the sake of continuity, the membership of Mr. Ernsting was extended for the duration of the preparation of the
financial statements for the 2018 financial year. As of July 2018, both the internal and external auditors were
added as permanent participants in the audit committee meetings.

The Audit committee met five times in 2018 (2017: five times). All members were present at four of the
meetings. Mr. Van de Weerdhof was absent at one of the meetings. 
 

 

The audit committee executes preparatory tasks relating to the:

The chair of the audit committee is the first point of contact for the external auditor should the latter find
irregularities in the financial reporting of the company.
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Company performance and financial results;�

Internal audit findings and follow-up of same;�

Findings and follow-up of external audits, and�

Effects, preparations and progress in the implementation of new legislation and regulations.�

Fixed items on the agenda are related to:

Other topics of discussion in 2018 included the performance in North America, the structuring and further
professionalisation of the risk management and internal control framework, the optimisation of the
operational model in the context of the refined strategy and the roll-out of the Code of Conduct.

The committee devoted specific attention to the selection of the new CFO, the valuation models for, among
other things, the acquisition of Velosophy, the textual formulation on the calculation of the financing covenants
in the annual report; the cost developments, including the anticipated progress on cost savings and the
monitoring of same with the aid of a tracker methodology, particularly on the supply chain front.
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(in thousands of euro)

 Notes 31-12-18 31-12-17
 

ASSETS

 
Property, plant and equipment 8 66,512 69,373

Goodwill 9 82,334 57,075

Other intangible fixed assets 10 56,385 41,814

Equity-accounted investees 11 5,379 8,304

Net defined benefit asset 18 19,644 14,960

Deferred tax assets 20 2,696 3,437

Other financial assets  3,212 2,832

Non-current assets  236,162 197,795
    

Inventories 12 340,014 333,564

Trade receivables 13 128,343 127,128

Current tax receivables  387 0

Other receivables 14 21,387 22,668

Other financial instruments 24 8,913 0

Cash and cash equivalents 15 26,708 24,123

Current assets  525,752 507,483
 
Total assets  761,914 705,278

 

6 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6.1 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

 

 
 

 

The figures following the various items refer to the notes. The explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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 Notes 31-12-18 31-12-17
 

EQUITY

 
Share capital 16 266 263

Share premium  42,468 43,219

Reserves  279,657 255,839

Total equity  322,391 299,321
 

LIABILITIES

 
Provisions 21 6,056 4,267

Contingent consideration 25 2,662 -

Interest-bearing loans 17 100,190 100,533

Net defined benefit obligation and other long-term employee benefits 18 8,258 8,531

Deferred tax liabilities 20 18,922 11,820

Deferred revenue 22 1,215 1,190

Non-current liabilities  137,303 126,341
    

Provisions 21 4,655 4,291

Contingent consideration 25 2,407 -

Revolving credit facility and interest-bearing loans 17 49,404 40,008

Deferred revenue 22 1,307 947

Trade payables  179,125 145,740

Current tax liabilities  1,228 412

Other current liabilities 23 33,793 34,058

Other financial instruments 24 1,416 9,530

Bank overdrafts 15 28,885 44,630

Current liabilities  302,220 279,616
 
Total liabilities  439,523 405,957
 
Total equity & liabilities  761,914 705,278

 

 

 

 
 

 

The figures following the various items refer to the notes. The explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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(in thousands of euro)

 Notes 2018 2017
 
Net turnover 1 1,094,292 1,068,473
    

Cost of materials and consumables  -769,786 -766,464

Personnel expenses 2 -145,030 -125,785

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 3 -12,347 -11,073

Net impairment losses on financial assets 24 -1,062 -3,025

Other operating expenses 4 -133,115 -124,117

Operating result  32,952 38,009
    

Net finance cost 5 -7,573 -8,209

Income from equity-accounted investees, net of tax 11 10,513 385

    

Profit before taxes  35,892 30,185
    

Income tax expense 6 -15,621 -19,684

    

Net profit  20,271 10,501
 

Earnings per share (in euro)

Earnings per share 7 0.77 0.40

Weighted average number of issued shares  26,474,308 26,101,222

Earnings per share (diluted)  0.76 0.40

Weighted average number of issued shares (diluted)  26,525,415 26,266,976

 

6.2 CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

 

 

 

 

 

The figures following the various items refer to the notes. The explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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(in thousands of euro)

 Notes 2018 2017
 
Net profit  20,271 10,501
    

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurement of the defined benefit liability (asset) 18 5,783 326

Fair value gain/(loss) on hedging instruments entered into for cash flow hedges subject
to basis adjustment 24 10,221 -

Related tax 20 -4,586 -129
 

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Foreign operations - foreign currency translation differences  -1,921 -13,651

Fair value gain/(loss) arising on cash flow hedges 24 -1,446 -21,526

Cumulative gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges reclassified to income statement 24 695 7,807

Related tax 20 188 3,430

    

Total comprehensive income  29,205 -13,242

 

6.3 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The figures following the various items refer to the notes. The explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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(in thousands of euro)

 Notes 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the period  20,271 10,501

Adjustments for:    

- Depreciation, amortisation and (reversal of) impairments 3 12,372 11,073

- Net finance cost 5 7,573 8,209

- Income from equity-accounted investees, net of tax 11 -10,513 -385

- Equity-settled share-based payment transactions  -566 -71

- Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 3 -26 -

- Tax expense 6 15,621 19,684

  44,733 49,011
Change in:    

- Inventories  -9,043 -25,612

- Trade and other receivables  -1,940 5,058

- Trade and other payables  30,370 10,212

- Provisions, employee benefits and deferred revenue  2,816 -906

Cash flows from operations  66,936 37,763
Interest paid  -7,954 -6,800

Taxes paid  -16,253 -23,449

Cash from operating activities  42,729 7,514

Cash flow from investing activities

Interest received  1,703 622

Dividends received 11 174 99

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  155 455

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 25 -17,648 -

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 8 -6,257 -8,770

Acquisition of intangible fixed assets 10 -2,947 -403

Acquisition of other financial fixed assets  -666 -4,072

Development expenditure 10 -1,295 -382

Net cash from (used in) investing activities  -26,781 -12,451
    

Free cash flows 1)  15,948 -4,937

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from interest-bearing loans 17 - 87,056

Transaction costs related to loans and borrowings 17 -192 -1,568

Repayment of interest-bearing loans 17 -308 -45,819

Dividends paid  -7,371 -6,740

Proceeds from revolving credit facility 17 93,629 100,950

Repayment of revolving credit facility 17 -85,469 -110,000

Net cash from (used in) financing activities  289 23,879

Net increase (decrease) in cash and bank overdrafts  16,237 18,942
Cash and bank overdrafts at 1 January 15 -20,507 -38,480

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and bank overdrafts held  2,093 -969

Cash and bank overdrafts at 31 December 15 -2,177 -20,507
 1) Free cash flows is defined as the balance of net cash from operating activities and net cash used in investment activities.

 
The figures following the various items refer to the notes. The explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
 

6.4 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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(in thousands of euro)

 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Cash flow
hedge

reserve

Translation
reserve

Other
legal

reserve

Other
reserve

Total
equity

 
Balance as at 1 January 2017 258 43,734 3,215 -8,832 6,980 274,025 319,380
        

Total comprehensive income

Net profit - - - - - 10,501 10,501

Other comprehensive income - - -10,289 -13,651 - 197 -23,743

Total comprehensive income - - -10,289 -13,651 - 10,698 -13,242
 

Transactions with owners of the Company

Dividends paid - - - - - -18,616 -18,616

Stock dividends 5 -5 - - - 11,876 11,876

Share-based payments - -510 - - - 439 -71

Other changes - - - - -4,276 4,270 -6

Total 5 -515 - - -4,276 -2,031 -6,818
        

Balance as at 31 December 2017 263 43,219 -7,074 -22,483 2,704 282,692 299,321

 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Cash flow
hedge

reserve

Translation
reserve

Other
legal

reserve

Other
reserve

Total
equity

 
Balance as at 1 January 2018 263 43,219 -7,074 -22,483 2,704 282,692 299,321
Initial application IFRS 9 - - 2,615 - - -805 1,810

Revised balance as at 1 January 2018 263 43,219 -4,460 -22,483 2,704 281,887 301,131
        

Total comprehensive income

Net profit - - - - - 20,271 20,271

Other comprehensive income - - 7,103 -1,921 - 3,752 8,934

Total comprehensive income - - 7,103 -1,921 - 24,023 29,205
 

Transactions with owners of the Company

Dividends paid - - - - - -13,141 -13,141

Stock dividends 3 -3 - - - 5,770 5,770

Share-based payments - -748 - - - 182 -566

Other changes - - - 2,220 569 -2,797 -8

Total 3 -751 - 2,220 569 -9,986 -7,945
        

Balance as at 31 December 2018 266 42,468 2,643 -22,184 3,273 295,925 322,391

6.5 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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derivative financial instruments: measured at fair value;�

share-based payments arrangements: measured by reference fair value in accordance with IFRS 2;�

net defined benefit obligation (asset): measured at the fair value of plan assets, less the present value of the�

defined benefit obligation;
contingent consideration assumed in a business combination at fair value.�

6.6 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Accell Group N.V. (“Accell Group”) in Heerenveen, the Netherlands, is the holding company of a group of legal
entities. An overview of the data required pursuant to articles 2:379 and 2:414 of the Netherlands Civil Code is
enclosed in note 11 Subsidiaries of the financial statements. Accell Group with its group of companies is
internationally active in the design, development, production, marketing and sales of innovative and high-
quality bicycles, bicycle parts and accessories.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
A | Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRSs) and with Section 2:362(9) of the Dutch Civil
Code.

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 11 March 2019.

B | Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis except for the following
items, which are measured on an alternative basis on each reporting date:

C | Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, which is Accell Group’s functional currency.

D | Use of estimates
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, Accell Group has made judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized prospectively.
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NOTES 9 AND 10 | goodwill and other intangible assets impairment test: key assumptions underlying�

recoverable amounts, including the recoverability of development costs;
NOTE 18 | measurement of defined benefit obligations: key actuarial assumptions;�

NOTE 20 | recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable profit against which tax losses�

carried forward can be used;
NOTE 21 | recognition and measurement of provisions: key assumptions about the likelihood and magnitude�

of an outflow of resources;
NOTE 24 | financial instruments - fair values and risk management.�

LEVEL 1 |  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.�

LEVEL 2 | inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,�

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
LEVEL 3 | inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).�

NOTE 19 | share-based payment arrangements;�

NOTE 24 | financial instruments - fair values and risk management;�

NOTE 25 | business combinations.�

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment in the year ending 31 December 2018 is included in the following notes:

Measurement of fair values
A number of Accell Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require fair value measurement, for both
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, Accell
Group uses market observable data as far as possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair
value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in different levels of
the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the
fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. Accell Group
recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which
the change has occurred.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following notes:

E | Changes in accounting policies
As of 1 January 2018 there have been a number of changes made to the accounting policies due to the
application of the new standards IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ and IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with
Customers’. Also amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payments
Transactions’ and IFRIC 22 ‘ Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration’ have been
implemented but they did not have any impact on the accounting policies of Accell Group. The new accounting
policies are set out in note 3J (Financial instruments) and 3K (Impairments) for IFRS 9 and in note 3B (Revenue)
for IFRS 15.
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IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

Classification and measurement
IFRS 9 contains three classification categories for financial assets: ‘measured at amortized cost’, ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ (FVOCI) and ‘fair value through profit and loss’ (FVPL). The standard
eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories: ‘loans and receivables’, ‘held to maturity’ and ‘available-for-sale’.
Accell Group has neither investments classified as ‘held to maturity’ nor assets currently classified as
‘available-for-sale’ and for the other categories (e.g. receivables, derivatives and financial liabilities) IFRS 9
brings no change in classification and measurement for Accell Group.

Impairments
Accell Group uses the modified retrospective approach for the implementation of IFRS 9 impairments.
Therefore the 2017 comparative figures in the 2018 financial statements are not restated and any impact of
IFRS 9 is recognized directly in equity per 1 January 2018. As a result of adopting IFRS 9 also the amendments
to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ are applicable which requires impairment of financial assets to
be presented as a separate line item in the income statement.

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss model’ in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’ and therefore
impairments will be recognized earlier. The ECL model is applicable for all financial assets measured at
amortized cost and/or at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI). Accell Group applies the
simplified approach to measure expected credit loss for trade receivables. While cash and cash equivalents are
also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial. The
impact of the new impairment rules is a higher impairment loss (provision) of € 0.8 million for trade receivables
and a reclassification of € 3.0 million in the income statement.

Hedge accounting
Accell Group has elected to adopt the general hedge accounting requirements of IFRS 9 and to use the
prospective implementation approach. IFRS 9 requires the hedge relationships to be aligned with the risk
management objectives and strategy and to apply a more qualitative and forward looking approach to
assessing hedge effectiveness. All hedge relationships at 1 January 2018 under IAS 39 continue to qualify as a
hedge relationship under IFRS 9. However the used accounting policy option by Accell Group under IAS 39 is no
longer permitted. IFRS 9 requires that if a hedge of a forecast transaction later results in the recognition of a
non-financial item, that the gains and losses from the hedging reserve are transferred to the initial cost of the
related inventories as an adjustment to the basis. At 1 January 2018 the basis adjustment results in an upward
adjustment of € 3.5 million to the carrying amount of total inventories.

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ 
IFRS 15 establishes a framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognized from
contracts with customers. IFRS 15 supersedes existing standards and interpretations related to revenue. For
implementation the full retrospective method is applied, meaning prior period financial information will be
restated if impacted. The restatement only relates to additional disclosures because the recognition and
measurement criteria did not lead to any adjustments.

The majority of Accell Group’s contracts are contracts with customers in which the sale of goods is generally
expected to be the only performance obligation. The timing of the transfer of control varies depending on the
individual terms of the sales agreement. For sales of bicycles, parts and accessories, usually transfer occurs
when the product is delivered to the customer. However, for some international shipments the transfer occurs
on loading the goods onto the relevant carrier at the port.
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Balance sheet

31
December

2017
IFRS 9

1
January

2018
revised

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Trade receivables 127,128 -805 126,323

Other reserve -282,692 805 -281,887

Inventories 333,564 3,486 337,051

Deferred tax assets 3,437 -872 2,565

Hedging reserve 7,074 -2,615 4,460

Generally, for such products the customer has no right of return. The point in time of revenue recognition is
consistent with previous practice. With respect to performance obligations, Accell Group provides warranties
for general repairs and does not provide extended warranties or maintenance services in its contracts with
customers. The warranties serve to guarantee that the bicycle, part or accessory functions as intended and
meets the agreed specifications. As such, these warranties are assurance-type warranties which will continue
to be accounted for under IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, consistent with
previous practice.

With respect to the measurement principles it is relevant that some contracts with customers provide
customer programs and incentive offerings, including special pricing agreements, promotions, advertising
allowances and other volume-based incentives. Currently, Accell Group recognizes revenue from the sale of
bicycles, parts and accessories measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of
accruals for customer incentives and returns (if the customer has a refund right). If revenue cannot be reliably
measured, Accell Group defers revenue recognition until the uncertainty is resolved. Such provisions give rise
to variable consideration under IFRS 15, and will be required to be estimated at contract inception. IFRS 15
requires the estimated variable consideration to be constrained to prevent over-recognition of revenue. This is
consistent with Accell Group’s previous practice to assess individual contracts to determine the estimated
variable consideration and related constraint.

The practical expedients provided will not be applied by Accell Group.

Impact on the financial statements
The following tables shows the impact on the line items of the financial statements. Line items not affected by
the changes have not been included.
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Income statement 2017 IFRS 9 2017
revised

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Other operating expenses -127,142 3,025 -124,117

Net impairment losses on financial assets - -3,025 -3,025

Subsidiaries

Associates are those entities in which Accell Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over the financial and operating policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in which Accell Group has joint
control, whereby Accell Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets
and obligations for its liabilities.

Accell Group's interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates and a joint venture.
Interests in equity-accounted investees

When Accell Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any non-controlling interests and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost. This
fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purpose of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.

Loss of control

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by Accell Group. Accell Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If an obligation to pay
contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not
remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is
remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognized in profit or loss.

 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships.
Such amounts are generally recognized in profit or loss.

Accell Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to
Accell Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the
identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a
bargain purchase is recognized in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred,
except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.

Business combinations
A | Basis of consolidation

Accell Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements, taking into account the mentioned change in accounting policies in note 2E.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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interest income;�

interest expense;�

bank fees;�

dividend income;�

foreign currency gain or loss on financial assets and financial liabilities.�

Interests in associates and the joint venture are accounted for using the equity method. They are recognized
initially at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial
statements include Accell Group’s share of the profit or loss and OCI of equity-accounted investees, until the
date on which significant influence or joint control ceases.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCI and accumulated in the translation reserve, except to the
extent that the translation difference is allocated to non-controlling interests.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated into euro at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of
foreign operations are translated into euro at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign operations

Foreign currency differences are generally recognized in profit or loss. However, foreign currency differences
arising from the translation of qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent the hedges are effective are
recognized in other comprehensive income.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
that are measured at fair value are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency
are not translated again at a later stage.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of group companies at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

D | Foreign currency

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Interest income or expense is recognized using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognized in
profit or loss on the date that Accell Group’s right to receive payment is established.

Accell Group’s finance income and finance costs include:
C | Finance income and finance costs

The accounting policies for revenue from contracts with customers are explained in note 2E Changes in
accounting policies.

B | Revenue

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are
eliminated against the investment to the extent of Accell Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealized losses are
eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified
to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. If Accell Group disposes of part of its interest in a
subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-
controlling interests. When Accell Group disposes of only part of an associate or joint venture while retaining
significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or
loss.

If the unwinding of a monetary balance, which is either collectable from or payable to a foreign operation is
neither planned nor probable in the foreseeable future, than the foreign currency differences of this monetary
balance is considered part of the net investment in the foreign operation. Accordingly these currency
differences are included in other comprehensive income and recorded in the translation reserve.

Hedge of a net investment in foreign operation
Accell Group applies no hedge accounting to foreign currency differences arising between the functional
currency of the foreign operation and Accell Group’s functional currency (euro).

E | Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for the
amount expected to be paid if Accell Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as
a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Share-based payment transactions
The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognized
as an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the awards. The amount
recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-
market performance conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognized is based
on the number of awards that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting
date.

Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided.
Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future
payments is available.

Defined benefit plans
Accell Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods,
discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected
unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for Accell Group, the recognized asset is
limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value of economic benefits,
consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements.
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temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business�

combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;
temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the extent�

that Accell Group is not able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;
taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.�

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses and the return
on plan assets (excluding interest), are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. Accell Group
determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by
applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period
to the then-net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit
liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and
other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized in profit or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates
to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized immediately in profit or loss. Accell Group
recognizes gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.

Other long-term employee benefits
Accell Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to
determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

F | Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive
income.

Current tax
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty
related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date. Current tax also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognized for:

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can
be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed when the probability
of future taxable profits improves. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and
recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used.
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Buildings 40 year     

Plant and equipment 3 - 12 year     

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they
reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. The measurement of deferred
tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which Accell Group expects, at the
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

 

Trademarks, commonly arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries, are measured at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The acquired trademarks are positioned in the middle and
upper segments and mostly have a long history and tradition in the local and international markets in which
they operate. Trademarks can have an indefinite or definite useful life. Useful life is based on an analysis of all
relevant factors to determine whether there is a foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is
expected to generate net cash inflows.

Trademarks

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill

Recognition and measurement
I | Intangible assets and goodwill

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognized in
profit or loss. Land is not depreciated.

Depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognized in profit or loss (depreciation).

Recognition and measurement
H | Property, plant and equipment

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based on the
first-in first-out (fifo) principle. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an
appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

G | Inventories
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Trademarks 15 year     

Customer lists 10 - 20 year     

Licenses 10 year     

Patents 5 year     

Software 3 - 7 year     

Development expenditure 3 - 5 year     

Research and development
Expenditure on research activities is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Development expenditure is
capitalized only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable and Accell Group intends to and has sufficient
resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. Otherwise, it is recognized in profit or loss as
incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets, including customer relationships, licenses and patents, that are acquired by Accell
Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill
and brands, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortization
Amortization is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognized in profit or loss. Goodwill
and trademarks with an indefinite useful life are not amortized.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

 

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

J | Financial instruments
From 1 January 2018 Accell Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: those
to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss) and those to be
measured at amortized cost  The classification depends on the business model for managing the non-
derivative financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. Accell Group reclassifies debt
investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

Accell Group classifies all non-derivative financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortized cost except
when the fair value option is used to designate a non-derivative financial liability as at fair value through profit
or loss.
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amortized cost: non-derivative financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is to�

collect contractual cash flows and those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognized directly in profit or
loss in other income/expense. Impairments are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or
loss;
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): non-derivative financial assets that are held within a�

business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairments, interest income and foreign
exchange results which are recognized in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognized, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss in other
income/expense. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Impairments are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss;
fair value through profit or loss (FVPL): non-derivative financial assets that do not meet the criteria for�

amortized cost or FVOCI. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities - recognition and derecognition
Accell Group initially recognizes loans and receivables on the date they originate. All other financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially recognized on the trade date when Accell Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Accell Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers nor retains
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset.
Any interest in such derecognized financial assets that is created or retained by Accell Group is recognized as a
separate asset or liability.

Accell Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognized in profit or loss as other income or finance costs.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, Accell Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle
them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Non-derivative financial assets - measurement
At initial recognition, a non-derivative financial asset is measured at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.

Non-derivative financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments (excluding equity investments) depends on the group’s
business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. Three measurement
categories are available:



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Notes to the consolidated financial
statements

106

Where the hedged item subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset (such as inventory),�

the deferred hedging gains and losses (including forward points) are included within the initial cost of the
asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately recognized in profit or loss as the hedged item affects profit or
loss through cost of materials.
The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of the interest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is�

recognized in profit or loss within finance cost at the same time as the interest expense on the hedged
borrowings.

All equity investments are initially and subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in
the fair value are recognized in profit or loss as other income/expenses, if applicable. Dividends from such
investments are recognized in profit or loss as net finance cost when Accell Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

There are currently no non-derivative financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI), no non-derivative financial assets at fair value through profit and loss nor (material) equity
investments.

Non-derivative financial liabilities - measurement
Non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.

With exception of the contingent consideration in respect of the Velosophy acquisition there are currently no
non-derivative financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Accell Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk
exposures. Derivatives are initially measured at fair value; any directly attributable transaction costs are
recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value,
and changes therein are  recognized in profit or loss except when the derivate is designated as a qualifying
cash flow hedging instrument. Derivatives are presented as assets when the fair value is positive and as
liabilities when the fair value is negative.

At the inception of the hedge transaction Accell Group documents the relationship between the hedging
instruments and the hedged items, its risk management objectives, together with the methods selected to
assess hedge effectiveness. In addition, Accell Group documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and
on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in
offsetting cash flows of the hedged items. When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument,
the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized in other comprehensive income
(OCI) and accumulated in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the
derivative is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

When forward contracts are used to hedge forecast transactions, Accell Group designates the full change in fair
value of the forward contract (including forward points) as the hedging instrument. Gains or losses relating to
the effective portion of the change in fair value of the entire forward contract are recognized in the cash flow
hedge reserve within equity.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, as
follows:
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for financial assets for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,�

ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-
months (a 12-month ECL);
for financial assets for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss�

allowance is recognized for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full, without recourse by Accell Group to actions such as�

recovering inventory or credit insurance (if any); or
the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.�

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for
hedge accounting, any cumulative deferred gain or loss remains in equity until the forecast transaction occurs,
resulting in the recognition of a non-financial asset such as inventory. When the forecast transaction is no
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately reclassified to
profit or loss.

Share capital

Ordinary shares
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares, net of any tax effects, are recognized as
a deduction from equity. Income tax relating to transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for in
accordance with IAS 12.

K | Impairment
Non-derivative financial assets
Accell Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all non-derivative financial
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. From 1 January 2018 Accell Group has four types of
financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model: other financial assets, trade receivables,
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that Accell Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. Accell Group establishes an impairment loss
allowance on a collective and individual assessment basis, by considering past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are recognized in two stages:

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, reasonable and supportable information is considered that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on Accell Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment, including forward-
looking information.

A financial asset is in default when:

ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which Accell Group is exposed to credit risk.
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For trade receivables Accell Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore changes in credit
risk are not tracked, but instead a loss allowance is recognized based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
Accell Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

The impairment loss allowances for non-derivative financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted
from the gross carrying amount of the assets. Impairment losses related to financial assets are presented
separately in the consolidated income statement. When Accell Group considers that there are no realistic
prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amount is written off. If the amount of impairment loss
subsequently decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognized, then the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Equity-accounted investees
An impairment loss in respect of an equity-accounted investee is measured by comparing the recoverable
amount of the investment with its carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, and is
reversed if there has been a favorable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

Non-financial assets
At each reporting date, Accell Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than
inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill and trademarks with an indefinite
life are tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash generating
units. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to (groups of) cash generating units that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects both current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash generating unit, and then to reduce the carrying amounts
of the other assets in the cash generating unit on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

L | Provisions
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the
discount is recognized as finance cost.
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M | Statement of cash flows
Accell Group has centralized its cash management with the execution of payments in the operations by group
companies. Accell Group consists of manufacturing entities, trading companies and hybrids, which for example
all start building up inventories for the season at different moments in time resulting in a varying demand for
liquidity. The centralized cash management aims to optimize the cash allocation within Accell Group, where
excess cash in the one entity is made to use in the other entity.

The cash management includes cash pools, cash and bank overdrafts. The centralized cash management,
including foreign exchange management, is executed with these instruments. Long-term bank loans and a
revolving credit facility are held for financing purposes.

Cash pools are an important element of cash management. The cash pools are made available by banks that
participate in the syndicate that provided the group financing. The cash pools consist of a large number of bank
accounts with fluctuating balances per account. On a monthly basis it are different bank accounts that forms
the credit balance (gross) and debit balance (gross) per cash pool. The net balance of a single cash pool, if
overdrawn, reduces the available amount from the revolving credit facility, has the same conditions as the
revolving credit facility and is repayable on demand. As a result the cash pools have a hybrid nature; on the one
hand it is a cash management tool and on the other hand it has a bridging nature at specific times.

Besides the cash pools Accell Group has other regular bank accounts and bank overdrafts at its disposal. These
accounts however only represent a limited part of the net cash balance. One part of the bank accounts and
bank overdrafts are with banks from the syndicate that provided the group financing; the other part is with
local banks for specific purposes.

All together the cash pools, cash and bank overdrafts reflect Accell Group’s cash management and are the
components of the item cash and bank overdrafts in the cash flow statement. Cash flows exclude movements
between items that constitute the cash and bank overdrafts because these components are part of Accell
Group’s cash management rather than part of its operating, investing and financing activities.

4. NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS NOT YET ADOPTED
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1
January 2019, which Accell Group has not applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements:

IFRS 16 'Leases'
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 ’Leases’, which introduces a single lessee accounting model and
requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with exemption options for leases with a term
shorter than 12 months and low value assets. A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset
representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make
lease payments. There will be only minor changes to the current accounting for lessors. The standard also
requires entities to provide users of financial statements with more informative and relevant disclosures. IFRS
16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is permitted, however
the IFRS 16 accounting standard will be applied for the first time in our 2019 reports. The initial application of
IFRS 16 will have a material impact on the group’s financial statements.

At inception of a contract, Accell Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease based on whether
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for a
consideration. Accell Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and
non-lease components as a single lease component.
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applied the recognition exemption for low value assets (smaller or equal to € 5,000);�

applied the exemption not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for lease terms shorter than�

12 months;
applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with similar characteristics;�

excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application;�

used hindsight when determining the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or terminate the�

lease.

At the lease commencement date a right-of-use asset and a lease liability are recognized. The right-of-use
asset is initially measured based on the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset. The assets are depreciated to
the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the lease term using the straight-line
method as this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits. The
lease term includes periods covered by an option to extend if Accell Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option. Currently lease terms vary from 2 to 10 years.

Under IFRS 16, right-of-use assets will be tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 ‘Impairment of
Assets’. This will replace the previous requirement to recognize a provision for onerous lease contracts.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, Accell Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the incremental borrowing rate (‘IBR’) is
used as the discount rate. Subsequently the lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from among others
a change in an index or rate, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset or if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero an impairment loss is
recorded in profit or loss.

Accell Group used the following practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as
operating leases under IAS 17:

Effective 1 January 2019, Accell Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, which
means that the prior-year figures will not be adjusted. Accell Group has made an analysis of all the lease
contracts to ensure that they fulfill the criteria to account for a right-of-use asset and subsequently depreciate
it according to IFRS 16. The identified lease contracts relate to buildings (78%), cars (18%), machinery (3%) and
other assets (1%).

On initial application, Accell Group has elected to record right-of-use assets based on the corresponding lease
liability. Right-of-use assets and lease liability of € 33 million, were recorded at 1 January 2019, with no net-
impact on Retained earnings. The weighted-average discount rate applied is 1.67%

In contrast to the presentation to date of operating lease expenses, in future depreciation charges on right-of-
use assets and the interest expense from unwinding of the discount on the lease liabilities will be recognized in
the income statement. Based on Accell Group’s leases at 1 January 2019 depreciation and amortization and
interest expenses are expected to increase by around € 10.9 million and € 0.7 million respectively. On the other
hand, the other operating expenses will decrease by a similar amount because the operating lease costs are no
longer included.
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improvement of ‘net cash flow from operating activities’ due to the cancellation of lease costs;�

integration of the reimbursement of the lease liability in ‘net cash flow from financing activities’.�

Although IFRS 16 has no impact on the cash position, it will impact the classification within the statement of
cash flows:

The ability to meet bank covenants is not impacted by the implementation of IFRS 16, because IFRS 16 is
excluded in the covenants.

Other standards and interpretations
Amended standard IFRS 9 ‘Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’ and the new interpretation
IFRIC 23 ’Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ are not expected to have a significant impact on Accell
Group’s financial statements.
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6.7 NOTES
1. OPERATING SEGMENTS
As announced in the December 2018 update on the recently sharpened ‘Lead Global. Win Local’-strategy new
steps are taken to create a more performance focused, consumer centric bike and parts company. The most
important decision is to focus on the European business and to run the North America business as a separate
and non-core business. The main reason for this is to focus on elimination of profit dilution as well as to focus
on the core business.

Initiatives related to the strategic pillar ‘Centralized and integrated Parts & accessories business’, including the
appointment of a managing director for the Parts Core segment, furthermore changed the structure of Accell’s
internal organization in a manner that caused the composition of its reportable segments to change. Due to its
alignment with the Bikes segment certain European business from the Parts Core segment moved to the Bikes
Core segment. Furthermore the Asian procurement activities changed from the segment Bikes to Corporate.

Taking all changes in consideration Accell identifies the following operational segments: (1) Bikes Core, (2)
Parts Core, (3) Bikes Non-core and (4) Corporate. The corresponding information for earlier periods is restated.

The risk and return profile of each segment is determined by the nature of the products that are produced.
Information related to each reportable segment is set out below. The earnings before interest and taxes is
used to measure the performance because management believes that this information is the most relevant in
evaluating the results of the respective segments relative to other entities that operate in the same industries.
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Bikes
Core

Parts
Core

Bikes
Non-core

Corporate/
Elimination Consolidated

 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000
External revenues 784,326 248,677 61,006 283 1,094,292

Inter-segment revenue 13,615 3,992 329 -17,936 -

Segment revenue 797,941 252,669 61,335 -17,653 1,094,292
      

Segment profit (loss) before interest and tax
(before allocation)

65,806 12,843 -18,438 -27,257 32,953

Allocated cost Corporate 17,192 5,149 2,562 -24,903 -

Segment profit (loss) before interest and tax (after
allocation)

48,614 7,693 -21,001 -2,354 32,953

Net finance cost     -7,574

Share of profit (loss) of equity-accounted investees     10,513

Consolidated profit (loss) before tax 48,614 7,693 -21,001 -2,354 35,892
      

Segment assets 773,087 116,202 33,962 -161,337 761,913

Segment liabilities 364,455 89,003 55,053 -68,990 439,521

Depreciation and amortization -6,955 -3,327 -1,018 -1,046 -12,347

Capital expenditure 6,316 2,256 482 1,445 10,499

Information about reportable segments 2018
 

 

Bikes Non-core assets and liabilities
The non-core assets of € 34.0 million can be broken down into brands of € 2.1 million (refer to note 10 Other
intangible fixed assets), software of € 2.0 million, leasehold improvements of € 0.7 million, other financial
assets of € 0.4 million, inventories of € 18.7 million, net (trade) receivables of € 8.9 million and € 1.2 million of
bank balances. The non-core liabilities of € 55.1 million can be broken down into: € 50.9 of corporate financing,
a warranty provision of € 0.6 million, deferred tax liabilities of € 0.5 million, deferred revenue of 0.2 million and
other (trade) payables of € 2.9 million.
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Bikes
Core

Parts
Core

Bikes
Non-core

Corporate/
Elimination Consolidated

 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000
External revenues 736,212 236,999 94,773 488 1,068,473

Inter-segment revenue 14,923 2,302 - -17,225 -

Segment revenue 751,135 239,302 94,773 -16,737 1,068,473
      

Segment profit (loss) before interest and tax
(before allocation)

67,616 16,377 -23,916 -22,069 38,008

Allocated cost Corporate 6,842 1,974 491 -9,307 -

Segment profit (loss) before interest and tax (after
allocation)

60,774 14,403 -24,406 -12,763 38,008

Net finance cost     -8,209

Share of profit (loss) of equity-accounted investees     385

Consolidated profit (loss) before tax 60,774 14,403 -24,406 -12,763 30,185
      

Segment assets 649,480 114,734 52,535 -111,471 705,278

Segment liabilities 299,798 84,222 44,948 -23,013 405,956

Depreciation and amortization -6,173 -2,628 -1,246 -1,026 -11,073

Capital expenditure 6,184 2,061 695 615 9,555

Information about reportable segments 2017
 



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Notes 116

 Net turnover Non-current
assets 1)

 2018 2017 2018 2017 2)

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

The Netherlands 218,471 216,453 74,605 40,620

Germany 544,358 489,344 52,589 51,063

Other Europe 242,811 239,783 72,566 73,112

North America 61,006 94,773 5,255 5,412

Other countries 27,646 28,120 8,806 9,192

Total 1,094,292 1,068,473 213,821 179,398
 1) The deferred tax assets and the net defined benefit asset are, in accordance with IFRS 8.33b, excluded from non-current assets.
 2) The changes in the composition of the operating segments were retrospectively implemented.

 Notes 2018 2017
  € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Wages and salaries  116,575 101,057

Social security charges  15,348 13,854

Pension contributions  7,838 6,436

Share based payments 19 182 439

Other personnel costs  5,088 3,999

Personnel expenses  145,030 125,785

 Notes 2018 2017
  € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Amortization of intangible assets 10 1,630 1,204

Impairment losses on intangible assets 10 1,817 -

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9 8,926 9,869

Capital gain on sale of tangible fixed assets 9 -26 -

Depreciation costs  12,347 11,073

Geographical information
Geographical segments are based on the physical location of the assets. The sales to external customers
reported in the geographical segments are based on the geographical location of the company. Previously it
was based on geographic location of the customers. Comparatives for previous periods have been adjusted.

 

2. PERSONNEL COSTS
Personnel costs are comprised of the following:

 

3. DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses comprise the following:
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 2018 2017 1)

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Selling expenses 71,967 66,815

General and administrative expenses 14,433 15,319

Lease and contingent rent 8,488 8,369

Research & development expenses 1,674 1,762

Maintenance and Energy 4,731 4,850

Audit and advising costs 12,195 8,357

ICT costs 7,294 4,545

Other 12,334 14,100

Other operating expenses 133,115 124,117
 1) In 2018, cost categories have been added for further details. This breakdown has also been applied to the comparative information for 2017.

 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Interest income -1,715 -625

Interest expenses 7,704 6,912

Bank fees 951 836

Currency results 633 1,086

Net finance cost 7,573 8,209

4. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

 

Selling expenses mainly include marketing costs, freight costs, other (outbound) logistics costs, delcredere
costs and platform fees.

5. NET FINANCE COST
Financial income and expenses comprise the following:

 

The policy regarding interest and currency risks is covered in note 24 Financial instruments - fair values and
risk management.
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 2018 2017 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 % %

Current taxes 16,357 14,106   

Deferred taxes -736 5,578   

Taxes in income statement 15,621 19,684   
     

Taxes based on the weighted average applicable rate 11,436 8,179 31.9 27.1

Participation exemption -323 -2,322 -0.9 -7.7

Exempted revaluation profit -2,372 - -6.6 0.0

Benefits from tax facilities -31 -134 -0.1 -0.4

Deferred tax assets not carried forward 5,562 7,543 15.5 25.0

Derecognition of deferred tax assets 462 5,651 1.3 18.7

Previously unrecognized tax assets recouped -75 -235 -0.2 -0.8

Adjustment of current taxes of prior years 145 834 0.4 2.8

Adjustment of deferred taxes of prior years -156 82 -0.4 0.3

Adjustment in tax rate -32 - -0.1 0.0

Non-deductible amounts 1,005 87 2.8 0.3

Taxes in income statement 15,621 19,684 43.5 65.2

6. TAXES
The effective corporate income tax charge comprises the following:

The effective tax rate consists of the reported tax charge for the current year, divided by the profit before
taxes. The effective tax rate in 2018 amounts to 43.5% (2017: 65.2%). The tax rate was negatively impacted by
not recognizing deferred taxes assets from tax losses in North America (-13.6%) and United Kingdom (-1.6%). A
partial offset (+6.6%) came from the exempted fair value gain on the previously held interest in Velosophy
(Note 25 Business combinations).
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 2018 2017
Net profit accruing to Accell Group N.V.'s shareholders € 20,271,077 € 10,501,225
   

Number of issued shares as per 31 December 26,597,354 26,255,179
   

Weighted average number of shares for the earnings per share 26,474,308 26,101,222

Potential impact of share options and conditional shares on the issuance of shares 51,107 165,754

Weighted average number of issued shares (diluted) 26,525,415 26,266,976
   

Reported earnings per share € 0.77 € 0.40

Reported earnings per share (diluted) € 0.76 € 0.40
   

Adjustment factor according to IAS 33 1.00000 0.98816
   

Earnings per share financial year € 0.77 € 0.40

Earnings per share financial year (diluted) € 0.76 € 0.40

7. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of earnings per share and of diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:
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Land and
buildings

Machinery
and

equipment

Under
construction

Total
property.
plant and

equipment

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2017 65,640 124,284 1,514 191,438
Investments 1,704 6,043 1,023 8,770

Investments as a result of business combinations - - - -

Divestments - -219 -236 -455

From / to under construction 515 487 -1,002 -

Currency translation differences -265 -453 -27 -745

Balance at 1 January 2018 67,594 130,142 1,272 199,008
Investments 545 3,707 2,005 6,257

Investments as a result of business combinations - 219 - 219

Divestments -34 -60 -35 -129

From / to under construction 185 1,138 -1,323 -

Currency translation differences -84 -203 5 -282

Balance at 31 December 2018 68,207 134,942 1,924 205,073
 

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2017 22,271 97,495 - 119,766
Depreciation 1,386 8,483 - 9,869

Balance at 1 January 2018 23,657 105,978 - 129,635
Depreciation 1,288 7,638 - 8,926

Balance at 31 December 2018 24,945 113,616 - 138,561
 

Carrying amount

Balance at 1 January 2018 43,937 24,164 1,272 69,373

Balance at 31 December 2018 43,262 21,326 1,924 66,512

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Changes in property, plant and equipment are as follows:

 

Land and buildings with a carrying amount of € 4.4 million per 31 December 2018 have been pledged to
security; on the one hand to the trustees of the UK pension fund (€ 2.9 million) and on the other hand to
security of a bank loan (€ 1.6 million).
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Cost

Balance at 1 January 59,381 61,408
Investments as a result of business combinations 24,208 -

Currency translation differences 1,051 -2,027

Balance at 31 December 84,640 59,381

Accumulated impairments

Balance at 1 January 2,306 2,306
Impairments - -

Balance at 31 December 2,306 2,306

Carrying amount

Balance at 1 January 57,075 59,102

Balance at 31 December 82,334 57,075

9. GOODWILL
Changes in goodwill are as follows:

 

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications of impairment losses. For
the purposes of this test, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGU’s). Allocation is made to the
(group of) CGU’s that is expected to benefit from the business combination from which the goodwill arose. The
CGU’s used in the assessment correspond with the operational segments.

The changes at the end of 2018 in the reporting structure resulting from Accell Group's decision to focus on the
core business and to continue the North American activities separately as a non-core business have a direct
influence on the composition of the CGU’s to which goodwill is allocated. As of December 2018, the goodwill
was reallocated to the affected units, being CGU Bikes Core and CGU Bikes Non-core. This reallocation was
carried out on the basis of the relative value approach, which reflects the contribution of the two units to the
realizable value of CGU Bikes. CGU Bikes concerned the cash flow generating unit under which both were
reported before the change of the reporting structure. In recent years, the contribution of CGU Bikes Non-core
to the realizable value of CGU Bikes has been negative and therefore as of December 2018 the goodwill of CGU
Bikes has been completely reallocated to CGU Bikes Core. The change in the CGU had no impact on the result of
the impairment test.
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 

Bikes Core 65,101 40,113

Parts Core 17,233 16,962

Balance at 31 December 82,334 57,075

expected average annual, organic turnover growth in the plan period 2019-2022 of 5.6% for Bikes Core (2017:�

7.5%) and 8.4% for Parts Core (2017: 3.1%);
expected average operating margin in the plan period 2019-2022 of 7.5% for Bikes Core (2017: 6.9%) and 6.8%�

for Parts Core (2017: 6.6%);
trade working capital, based on the current ratio in relation to turnover of 28.4% for both Bikes Core (2017:�

31.0%) and Parts Core (2017: 22.9%);
a perpetual growth rate of 1.1% (2017: 1.5%), based on the weighted average risk free rate, is used for the�

estimates of the future cash flow after the initial plan period of 4 years;
a post-tax weighted average cost of capital of 7.3% (2017: 7.6%) was used for the discounting of the cash�

flows. The discounting rate applied corresponds with a pre-tax weighted average cost of capital of 9.8%
(2017: 10.1%).

The carrying amount of goodwill on segment level is divided as follows:

 

The following main assumptions are used in determining the value in use of the segments Bikes Core and Parts
Core and are based on expected developments in specific markets and countries and the forecasted impact for
Accell Group:

The impairment test in 2018 shows a substantial headroom in goodwill. Accell Group believes that any
reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based would not cause
the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units Bikes Core and Parts Core.
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Trademarks
Customer

lists and
licenses

Other

Total
other

intangible
assets

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2017 42,152 5,667 6,305 54,124
Investments - - 785 785

Investments as a result of business combinations - - - -

Currency translation differences -2,334 -185 -105 -2,624

Balance at 1 January 2018 39,818 5,482 6,985 52,285
Investments -  4,242 4,242

Investments as a result of business combinations 10,509 -11 2,420 12,918

Currency translation differences 997 -171 32 858

Balance at 31 December 2018 51,324 5,300 13,679 70,303

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2017 3,277 1,805 4,185 9,267
Amortization - 362 842 1,204

(Reversal of) Impairment losses - - - -

Balance at 1 January 2018 3,277 2,167 5,027 10,471
Amortization 289 235 1,106 1,630

(Reversal of) Impairment losses 614 680 523 1,817

Balance at 31 December 2018 4,180 3,082 6,656 13,918

Carrying amount

Balance at 1 January 2018 36,541 3,315 1,958 41,814

Balance at 31 December 2018 47,144 2,218 7,023 56,385

10. OTHER INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
The changes in other intangible fixed assets are as follows:

As per 31 December 2018 trademarks mainly consist of the brands Raleigh and Diamondback from the
acquisition of Raleigh Cycle (€ 23.2 million), Babboe (€ 10.1 million) and Ghost (€ 9.4 million). Furthermore the
brands Redline, Nishiki, Carraro, IZIP and Van Nicholas respectively from the acquisitions of SBS, Hellberg,
Carraro, Currie and Van Nicholas are valued for a total amount of € 4.4 million. The trademark Babboe has a
finite useful life of 15 years. The other trademarks have indefinite useful lives.
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Bikes Core 45,009 34,508

Bikes Non-core 2,135 2,033

Balance at 31 December 47,144 36,541

The carrying amount of the trademarks at segment level is specified as follows:

The trademarks with indefinite life are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are
indications of impairment losses. The principal assumptions used in the annual impairment test include the
budgeted expectations regarding the turnover of the trademarks, royalty fees of the trademarks and
discounting of the cash flows applying the post-tax weighted average cost of capital of 7.3% (2017: 7.6%), which
corresponds with a pre-tax weighted average cost of capital of 9.8% (2017: 10.1%). For the trademarks
generating cash flows in North America a post-tax weighted average cost of capital of 8.8% (2017: 8.3%), which
corresponds with a pre-tax weighted average cost of capital of 10.9% (2017: 10.8%). This testing has led to no
impairment loss in 2018. Prior to the annual test an impairment loss of € 0.5 million is recorded in respect of
the trademarks Diamond and Viper due to the close of business as well as € 0.1 million in respect of the
trademark Beeline.

The customer lists and licenses consist of the Turkish dealer network, an extension of a licensing agreement
and the customer list of Comet. The useful life of these respective assets is estimated at 20 years, 10 years
and 20 years and are amortized as from 2012, 2013 and 2015 onwards. During 2018 an impairment loss of   €
0.7 million is recorded in respect of the customer list of Comet due to disappointing results from the customer
list.

The other intangible fixed assets relate to capital expenditure on software, patents and development of mainly
e-bikes. During 2018 an additional impairment loss of € 0.3 million in respect of development cost has been
recorded due to changes in the business case and an impairment loss of 0.2 million on patents put out of use.

Amortization expenses and impairment losses are accounted for in the income statement within depreciation.
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 Notes Participation
Percentage

Consolidated subsidiaries

Accell Bisiklet A.S., Manisa, Turkey  100%

Accell Hunland Kft, Toszeg, Hungary  100%

Accell IT B.V., Heerenveen, the Netherlands  100%

Accell Nederland B.V., Heerenveen, the Netherlands  100%

Accell North America Inc, Kent, Washington, United States of America  100%

Accell Suisse AG, Alpnach Dorf, Switzerland  100%

ATC Ltd (Taiwan Branch), Taipei, Taiwan  100%

ATC Ltd, Hong Kong, People's Republic of China  100%

Babboe B.V., Amersfoort, the Netherlands 25 100%

Beeline Bikes Inc., Delaware, United States of America 25 100%

Comet Distribuciones Commerciales S.L., Urnieta, Spain  100%

Cycle Services Nordic ApS, Odense, Danmark  100%

Cycles Lapierre S.A.S., Dijon, France  100%

Cycles France-Loire S.A.S., Saint-Cyprien, France  100%

Delta Metal Technology Ltd, Shenzhen, People's Republic of China  100%

E. Wiener Bike Parts GmbH, Sennfeld, Germany  100%

Etablissement Th. Brasseur S.A., Liège, Belgium 1)  100%

Ghost-Bikes GmbH, Waldsassen, Germany  100%

Raleigh UK Ltd, Nottingham, United Kingdom  100%

Swissbike Vertriebs GmbH, Alpnach Dorf, Switserland  100%

Tunturi-Hellberg Oy Ltd, Turku, Finland  100%

Vartex AB, Varberg, Sweden  100%

Winora Staiger GmbH, Sennfeld, Germany  100%
 1) The business activities of Etablissement Th. Brasseur S.A. are terminated or transferred to Accell Netherlands in 2018.

11. SUBSIDIARIES
The consolidated financial statements 2018 include Accell Group N.V., in Heerenveen, as well as the financial
information of the following companies.

Subsidiaries that are immaterial to the consolidated financial statements are not included in the overview
above. A complete list of subsidiaries is filed with the Trade Register of the Chamber of Commerce in
Leeuwarden, the Netherlands.

In January 2019, as a subsequent event, an agreement was reached on the sale of Delta Metal Technology Ltd.
The China-based company manufactures around 123 thousand frames for the benefit of the Accell Group and
also reported a third party revenue of € 0.8 million in 2018 (segment Bikes Core). Component production does
not belong to the strategic activities of Accell Group and in combination with the perspective of sustained cost
increases, the divestment process has accelerated. The transfer of shares takes place on 1 April 2019 and at
net book value and has no adverse effect on turnover or result.
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 Notes 2018 2017

Equity-accounted investees

Atala SpA, Monza, Italy 1)  50% 50%

Raleigh SA (Pty) Ltd, Kensington, South Africa 2)  20% 20%

Urbanvision BV, Amersfoort, The Netherlands 3)  35% -

Beeline Bikes Inc., Delaware, United States of America 25 - 32%

Velosophy B.V., Utrecht, Nederland 25 - 35%
 1) Atala SpA is a joint venture active in the development and sales of bicycles under its own brands.
 2) Raleigh SA (Pty) Ltd is an associate that is active in the marketing and sales of bicycles.
 3) Urbanvision BV is an associate that is holding the 40% share in Carver BV ('s Gravendeel).

 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Balance at 1 January 8,304 6,947

Investments 698 1,334

Dividend 1) -523 -99

Net income 1,321 385

Remeasurement gain / (loss) on previously held equity interest 9,192 -

Fair value of equity interest held before the business combination -13,603 -

Currency translation differences -10 -264

Balance at 31 December 5,380 8,304
 1) Velosophy distributed a non-cash dividend of € 349 thousand in 2018.

Summary of the financial data for the interests in non-consolidated companies:

 
Atala

SpA  Raleigh
SA  Urbanvision

B,V,  

 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Assets 13,596 13,000 633 380 728 -

Liabilities 9,957 9,832 425 246 -85 -

Turnover 19,720 18,328 1,874 1,251 - -

Share in net income 678 322 78 34 -50 -
       

Share presented 50% 50% 20% 20% 35% 35%

 

These associates and joint ventures are of strategic nature; the voting rights are equal to the percentage
interest held.

The changes in the non-consolidated companies are as follows:
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Components for the purpose of production 175,761 157,436

Semi-finished goods 2,313 2,748

Trading and finished products 161,939 173,380

Balance at 31 December 340,014 333,564

 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Trade receivables 137,092 137,352

Allowance for credit losses -8,749 -10,224

Balance at 31 December 128,343 127,128

12. INVENTORIES

 

During 2018 inventories were written down by € 4.6 million to lower net realizable value (2017: € 9.5 million). At
balance sheet date inventories with a carrying amount of approximately € 12.3 million (2017: € 21.2 million) are
valued at lower net realizable value. Inventories furthermore include goods in transit of € 78.2 million (2017: €
68.0 million) related to shipped goods for which Accell Group had acquired the economic ownership, but which
have not yet been received.

13. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The nominal value of the trade receivables is considered close to equal to the fair value. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing and, depending on the season, are governed by a 30-150 day term of payment. The loss
allowance for expected lifetime credit losses per 31 December 2018 is based on historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. The
provision for incurred credit losses per 31 December 2017 is determined on the basis of an individual
assessment of overdue trade receivables. The policy regarding credit risks is covered in note 24 Financial
instruments - fair values and risk management.
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

VAT receivable 6,248 6,024

Import duties receivable - 47

Other taxes and social charges 220 200

Receivables from non-consolidated companies 201 703

Prepayments suppliers 2,963 2,066

Prepayments insurance 1,133 754

Prepayments other 1,937 2,435

Bonus receivable 4,169 6,583

Other current assets 4,516 3,856

Balance at 31 December 21,387 22,668

 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Cash and cash equivalents 26,708 24,123

Bank overdrafts -28,885 -44,630

Cash and bank overdrafts in the cash flow statement -2,177 -20,507

14. OTHER RECEIVABLES
 

 

15. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND BANK OVERDRAFTS

16. EQUITY
The consolidated equity is equal to the equity in the company financial statements. The notes and movement
schedules of equity are included in the company financial statements.
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Term loans 98,600 98,471

Other bank loans (secured) 1,574 2,062

Other interest-bearing loans 16 -

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 100,190 100,533
Current portion term loans - -

Current portion other bank loans (secured) 191 -

Current portion other interest-bearing loans 19 8

Total current portion of interest-bearing loans 210 8
Revolving credit facility 49,194 40,000

Bank overdrafts 28,885 44,630

Total other interest-bearing liabilities 78,079 84,630

Current interest-bearing liabilities 78,289 84,638

     2018  2017

 
Currency

Nominal
interest

rate

Year of
maturity

Face
value

Carrying
amount

Face
value

Carrying
amount

    € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Term loan EUR 1.6% 2023 85,000 83,750 85,000 83,671

Term loan (Schuldschein) EUR 5.5% 2023 15,000 14,850 15,000 14,800

Other bank loans
(secured) EUR 1.4% 2027 1,765 1,765 1,953 1,953

Other interest-bearing
loans EUR 2.0% 2020 35 35 117 117

Total interest-bearing
loans

   101,800 100,400 102,070 100,541

17. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS
This note provides information about the contractual terms and conditions of the outstanding interest-bearing
loans and borrowings. For more information about Accell Group’s exposure to interest rate risk a reference is
made to note 24 Financial instruments – fair values and risk management.

 

The terms and conditions of outstanding interest-bearing bank loans are as follows:

 

In 2017, Accell Group entered into a financing agreement with a syndicate of six banks for the financing of the
group. The banks participating in the syndicate are ABN AMRO Bank, BNP Paribas, Deutsche Bank, HSBC, ING
Bank and Rabobank. The financing is unsecured and consists of € 100 million in bank loans and a revolving
credit facility of € 275 million (working capital financing), of which € 100 million in seasonal facility from
December to July, for an initial period of 5 years.
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Term loan leverage ratio;�

Solvency ratio.�

EBITDA of acquired companies during the relevant period for the part of that period prior to the time of�

acquisition;
EBITDA attributable to a group company (or any part of Accell Group) sold during the relevant period for the�

part prior to the date of sale;
on instruction by Accell Group, exceptional costs incurred in the relevant period including reorganization�

costs, impairment losses on fixed assets or costs associated with the sale of assets related to discontinued
operations.

The initial period of the financing is 5 years, but the financing agreement contains extension options that can
be exercised after year 1 and / or year 2 of the initially agreed period. In 2018 the option was partially exercised
and an extension of 12 months took place.

After the balance sheet date, Accell Group has decided to make a voluntary repayment of € 25 million in the
first quarter of 2019 on the term loans of € 100 million nominal. In addition, the extension option was
exercised at the start of 2019 extending the financing agreement by 12 months to March 2024.

The financial ratios in the financing agreement are:

In addition, a 'borrowing reference' applies, which is a dynamic limit on working capital financing.

Accell Group complies with the terms and conditions of the financial ratios as of 31 December 2018 as well as
31 December 2017, as well as for all interim test dates.

Term loan leverage ratio
The term loan leverage is determined by dividing the designated outstanding loans under the financing
agreement by the normalized EBITDA. The term loan leverage ratio may not exceed 2.5 (tested on a quarterly
basis over the previous twelve months).

The 'designated loans outstanding under the financing agreement' include the outstanding amounts under the
€ 100 million term loan (including Schuldschein) and the working capital financing insofar as used for
acquisitions of companies (excluding acquired working capital). The latter is permitted with the approval of the
bank syndicate.

EBITDA means the result from operating activities (EBIT) plus the amount of the amortization and
depreciations on assets and the share in the result of non-consolidated participating interests. Normalized
EBITDA means, with respect to a certain period, the EBITDA in that period adjusted for:

Solvency ratio
The solvency ratio is determined by net assets divided by balance sheet total, both adjusted for intangible
assets and related deferred taxes. The solvency ratio may not be less than or equal to 25% (tested on a half-
yearly basis over the previous twelve months).
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The sum of:a.
The highest of 50% of the carrying amount of the qualifying inventories minus the total trade creditors ofi.
Accell Group and zero; and
65% of the carrying amount of the qualifying trade debtors;ii.

The revolving credit facility made available under the financing agreement.b.

 Liabilities Equity Total
 

 

Bank
overdrafts

Revolving
credit

facility

Interest-bearing
loans

Share
capital /

premium
Reserves  

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Balance at 1 January
2018

44,630 40,000 100,541 43,482 255,839 484,492

       

Changes in financing
cash flows:       

Proceeds from loans and
borrowings - 93,629 - - - 93,629

Transaction costs
related to loans and
borrowings

- - -192 - - -192

Repayment of
borrowings - -85,469 -308 - - -85,777

Dividend paid - - - - -7,371 -7,371

Total changes from
financing cash flows

- 8,160 -500 - -7,371 288

The effect of changes in
foreign exchange rates -1,588 1,034 3 - - -551

Other changes
liability-related:

      

Changes as a result of
business combinations   35   35

Change in bank
overdrafts -14,157 - - - - -14,157

Interest expenses minus
interest paid - - 321 - - 321

Total liability-related
other changes

-15,745 9,194 -141 - -7,371 -14,064

Total equity-related
other changes

- - - -747 31,188 30,441

Balance at 31
December 2018

28,885 49,194 100,400 42,734 279,657 500,869

Borrowing reference
The borrowing reference states that the net debt, after deduction of the outstanding amounts under the € 100
million term loan (including Schuldschein) and the working capital financing used for approved acquisitions,
may not exceed the lowest of:

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities 2018
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 Liabilities Equity Total
 

 

Bank
overdrafts

Revolving
credit

facility

Interest-bearing
loans

Share
capital /

premium
Reserves  

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Balance at 1
January 2017

87,901 49,050 59,742 43,992 275,388 516,073

       

Changes in financing
cash flows:       

Proceeds from loans
and borrowings - 100,950 87,056 - - 188,006

Transaction costs
related to loans and
borrowings

- - -1,568 - - -1,568

Repayment of
borrowings - -110,000 -45,819 - - -155,819

Dividend paid - - - - -6,740 -6,740

Total changes from
financing cash
flows

- -9,050 39,669 - -6,740 23,879

The effect of
changes in foreign
exchange rates

-3,023 - - - - -3,023

Other changes
liability-related:

      

Change in bank
overdrafts -40,248 - - - - -40,248

Interest expenses
minus interest paid - - 1,130 - - 1,130

Total liability-
related other
changes

-43,271 -9,050 40,799 - -6,740 -18,262

Total equity-related
other changes

- - - -510 -12,809 -13,319

Balance at 31
December 2017

44,630 40,000 100,541 43,482 255,839 484,492

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities 2017 
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Net defined benefit asset -19,644 -14,960

Total employee benefit asset -19,644 -14,960
Net defined benefit obligation 6,211 6,341

Other long-term employee benefits 2,048 2,190

Total employee benefit liabilities 8,258 8,531

For all pensions paid to date – the Method C2 is used to estimate the cost – this allows for the cumulative�

impact of any differences in pension between males and females to date, allowing for interest to be applied
on any back payments.
For all pensions payable in future – an actuarial equivalence method (i.e. a D type methodology) is used to�

estimate the cost – this allows for the expected difference in the value of the future benefits payable to
males and females.

18. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS AND OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
  

 

Defined benefit plan United Kingdom
Accell Group funds defined benefits for qualifying employees. The main defined benefit plan is the plan in the
United Kingdom (UK), which accounts for approximately 91% of the defined benefit obligation and for more
than 99% of the plan assets. The UK plan is subject to UK laws and is administered by a separate fund that is
legally separated from the UK group company. The trustees of this fund are appointed by the company.
Pension benefits are related to the member’s final salary at retirement and their length of service. Since
December 2002, the defined benefit section of this pension scheme has been closed to future accrual. On the
basis of the deed and rules of the UK plan the company has an unconditional right in the form of refunds when
there is a surplus and the fund has no further obligations or in case when there is a surplus at the time when
the plan is wound up.

The UK plan exposes the company to actuarial risks such as market risk, interest rate risk and inflation risk. The
scheme does not expose the company to any unusual scheme-specific risk. The scheme’s investment strategy
is to invest approximately 39% in matching assets (index related UK government bonds gilts and investment
property bonds) and approximately 61% in return seeking assets (being diversified growth funds, bond
portfolios and property). This strategy reflects the scheme’s risk profile and the trustees’ and company’s
attitude to risks.

GMP-equalization United Kingdom
In line with the recent Lloyds judgement which has ruled that Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (“GMPs”) must
be equalized across males and females, 2.2% have been added to the liabilities as at the measurement date
and treated as past service cost of € 1.4 million via the income statement. This is an approximate scheme-
specific allowance based on a GMP model, which takes into account high-level summary data of the Scheme.
However, it is only by carrying out member by member calculations that the true value of GMP equalization can
be ascertained, so as and when this is carried out for the Scheme (which will be most likely instigated by the
Trustees over the coming years), this allowance will be amended.

To put this approach into the language of the methods considered in the Lloyds case:
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 2018 2018 2017 2017

 
UK

plan Other UK
plan Other

Discount rate 2.6% 1.6% 2.3% 1.6%

Expected rates of salary increase 2.0% 0.4% 2.0% 0.4%

Inflation 2.6% 1.7% 2.6% 1.7%

Average longevity at retirement age for current pensioners (years):     

Males 21.2 18.9 21.4 18.6

Females 23.2 22.4 23.4 22.1

Average longevity at retirement age for current employees (years):     

Males 23.1 21.2 23.6 20.9

Females 25.3 24.6 25.8 24.3

 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Current service cost 2 39

Past service cost and losses (gains) from settlements 1,377 -

Administration expense 45 157

Net interest expense (income) -229 -252

Total expenses defined benefit plans 1,195 -56

The overall cost produced is expected to be similar to the estimated cost if any of the C2 or D type
methodologies were used for the combined periods.

Other defined benefit plans
In addition, Accell Group sponsors a funded defined benefit plan for qualified employees in Taiwan, a fixed
unfunded defined benefit plan in Germany and an unfunded defined benefit plan in Hong Kong. The defined
benefit plans of Accell Group have no contributions from employees anymore, because the plans are mainly
frozen.

The actuarial calculations pursuant to IAS 19 were carried out at 31 December 2018 by actuaries of certified
actuarial firms. The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations are based on the
following weighted averages:

 

Amounts recognized in the income statement in respect of these defined benefit plans are as follows:
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Remeasurement on the net defined benefit obligation (asset):   

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expenses) 1,878 -2,631

Actuarial losses (gains) from changes in demographic assumptions -1,405 -

Actuarial losses (gains) arising from changes in financial assumptions -2,698 2,353

Actuarial losses (gains) arising from experience adjustments -3,558 -48

Adjustments for restrictions on the defined benefit asset - -

Prior year(s) presentation adjustment - -

Remeasurement net defined benefit plans -5,783 -326

At 31 December 2017 UK plan Other Total

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Present value of funded pension obligation 74,415 724 75,138

Minus: Fair value of plan assets -89,375 -450 -89,824

Deficit/ (surplus) -14,960 274 -14,686
Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations - 6,067 6,067

Funded status -14,960 6,341 -8,619
Restrictions on assets recognised - - -

Net defined benefit obligation (asset) as per 31 December 2017 -14,960 6,341 -8,619
 
At 31 December 2018 UK plan Other Total

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Present value of funded pension obligation 63,943 562 64,505

Minus: Fair value of plan assets -83,587 -314 -83,901

Deficit/ (surplus) -19,644 248 -19,396
Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation - 5,963 5,963

Funded status -19,644 6,211 -13,433
Restrictions on assets recognised - - -

Net defined benefit obligation (asset) as per 31 December 2018 -19,644 6,211 -13,433

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of these defined benefit plans are as follows:

 

The defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets are specified as follows:
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 UK plan Other Total

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Balance at 1 January 2017 77,210 7,177 84,387

Current service cost - 39 39

Interest cost 1,904 128 2,032

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions - - -

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 2,294 59 2,353

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising from experience adjustments - -48 -48

Liabilities extinguished on settlements - - -

Exchange differences on foreign plans -3,114 -111 -3,225

Benefits paid -3,879 -454 -4,333

Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2017 74,415 6,790 81,205
Current service cost - 2 2

Past service costs, including (gains)/losses from curtailments 1,377 - 1,377

Interest cost 1,646 107 1,753

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions -1,405 - -1,405

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions -2,777 79 -2,698

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising from experience adjustments -3,567 9 -3,558

Liabilities extinguished on settlements -518  -518

Exchange differences on foreign plans -786 22 -764

Benefits paid -4,442 -484 -4,926

Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2018 63,943 6,525 70,468
 

The movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation is as follows:
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 UK plan Other Total

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Balance at 1 January 2017 91,699 594 92,293

Interest income 2,277 7 2,284

Remeasurement gain (loss):    

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense) 2,634 -3 2,631

Plan assets distributed on settlements - - -

Contributions from the employer 489 23 512

Administration expense 158 - 158

Exchange differences on foreign plans -4,003 -31 -4,033

Benefits paid -3,879 -140 -4,019

Fair value of the plan assets at 31 December 2017 89,375 450 89,825
Interest income 1,978 4 1,982

Remeasurement gain (loss):    

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense) -1,893 15 -1,878

Plan assets distributed on settlements - - -

Contributions from the employer 85 9 94

Administration expense -45 - -45

Assets distributed on settlements -518 - -518

Exchange differences on foreign plans -953 2 -951

Benefits paid -4,442 -166 -4,608

Fair value of the plan assets at 31 December 2018 83,587 314 83,901

 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Index-linked gilts - 5,335

Liability driven investment 22,529 17,745

Corporate bonds 10,736 11,504

Property bonds 11,610 11,248

Absolute return bonds 20,369 21,309

Diversified growth funds 17,806 21,727

Cash and cash equivalents 851 957

Total debt securities and equity investments 83,901 89,825

The movement in the fair value of the plan assets is as follows:

The fair value of the plan assets is categorized as follows:
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if the discount rate is 0.1% higher, the defined benefit obligation would decrease by € 0.9 million;�

if the discount rate is 0.1% lower, the defined benefit obligation would increase by € 1.0 million;�

if the expected salary growth increases by 0.1%, the defined benefit obligation would increase by € 0.6�

million;
if the expected salary growth decreases by 0.1%, the defined benefit obligation would decrease by € 0.6�

million.

The fair values of the above equity investments and debt securities are determined based on quoted market
prices in active markets. The actual return on plan assets was € 0,1 million in 2018 (2017: € 4.9 million). The
average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 17 years as per 31 December 2018 (2017: 17 years).

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are the discount rate
and the expected salary increase. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably
possible changes of the respective assumptions at the end of the reporting period. In the analyses the
interdependence of inputs has not been considered:

The sensitivity analyses are prepared at the end of the reporting period using the same methods as applied in
the defined benefit obligation in the balance sheet. The sensitivity analyses may not be representative of the
actual change in the defined benefit obligation. It is unlikely that the changes in the assumptions would occur in
isolation of one another as some of the assumptions are correlated.

Accell Group expects to make a contribution of € 0.1 million in 2019 with regard to the defined benefit plans.

OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Other long-term employee benefits relate to the provision for future anniversary bonuses and resignation
payments in some countries. The provision is based on contractual obligations and assumptions with respect
to expectations of death and resignation. The provision for deferred employee benefits is expected to have a
duration between one and five years. 
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Number
at 31-12-

17

Number
at 31-12-

18

Granting
date

Expiry
date

Share
price at

granting
date

Fair value
at

granting
date

Conditional shares

Conditional shares granted in 2016 1) 44,661 7,020 24-2-2016 3 jaar € 18.96 € 113,000

Conditional shares granted in 2017 2) 29,643 14,542 9-3-2017 2-3 jaar € 22.05 € 208,000

Conditional shares granted in 2018 3) - 10,045 8-3-2018 2-3 jaar € 21.68 € 100,000
 1) A total of 37,641 conditional shares of members of the Board of Directors are vested in 2018.
 2) Due to the resignation of Mr. Sybesma and MR. Snijders Blok 15,101 conditional shares have been expired .
 3) A total of 9,095 shares are conditionally granted to members of the Board of Directors in 2018 and 950 to directors of a subsidiaries.

 2018 2017
Expected volatility (weighted-average) 24.27% 22.16%

Expected life (weighted-average) 3.9 3.9

Expected dividends 2.10% 3.30%

Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 0.71% 0.67%

19. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Accell Group has a restricted share plan and an option plan.

RESTRICTED SHARE PLAN
Accell Group has a restricted share plan whereby conditional shares can be granted to the members of the
Board of Directors and to directors of subsidiaries who contribute significantly to the result of Accell
Group. Both share plans are share-based payments plans with vesting conditions. The grant-date fair value of
the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences
between expected and actual outcomes. The conditions have been incorporated into the fair value at grant
date by applying a discount to the valuation obtained.

The shares that have been conditionally granted are comprised of the following:

 

The fair value will be charged to the income statement according to the straight-line method spread over the
period between grant date and the time that the shares become unconditional, whereby adjustment will be
made for the expected number of shares to be distributed. After final award, a lock-up period of 2 years applies
for members of the Board and 3 years for directors of subsidiaries.

OPTION PLAN
The company has an option scheme for the Board of Directors. The Supervisory Board bases itself on the
realization of the targets agreed with the Board of Directors for the allocation of options to the directors. The
outstanding and granted option rights have been explained and specified in note 29 Remuneration of the
Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board.

The fair value of the employee share options has been measured using an option valuation model (Black-
Scholes-Merton). Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions were not taken
into account in measuring fair value. The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payment plans were as follows:
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Conditional shares management 2014 - 36

Conditional shares management 2015 38 38

Conditional shares management 2016 48 48

Conditional shares management 2017 6 -

Conditional shares Board of Directors 2015 - 156

Conditional shares Board of Directors 2016 31 101

Conditional shares Board of Directors 2017 41 -

Options Board of Directors 18 60

Total expense recognized in personnel expenses 182 439

 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Deferred tax assets 2,696 3,437

Deferred tax liabilities 18,922 11,820

Net deferred taxes -16,226 -8,383

Expected volatility has been based on an evaluation of the historical volatility of the Accell Group N.V.’s share
price, particularly over the historical period commensurate with the expected term. The expected term of the
instruments has been based on historical experience and general option holder behavior.

The reconciliation to personnel expenses is as follows:

 

In the event of full exercise of the option entitlements granted to date and the vesting of the conditional shares
the number of issued shares would increase by 0.2%. According to company policy, the options and shares
granted are not covered by the company’s purchase of its own shares. In case of equity-settlement new shares
are issued by the company at the moment options are exercised.

20. DEFERRED TAXES
Deferred taxes comprise the following:
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Loss carry
forwards

consolidated
companies

Financial
instruments

Net
defined
benefit

obligation

Other
long-term
employee

benefits

Inventory
valuation

Other
deferred

taxes

Total
deferred

tax assets

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Balance at 1 January
2017

3,141 - - - - 4,001 7,142

Added through business
combination - - - - - - -

Charged through other
comprehensive income - 2,358 - - - - 2,358

Charged through income
statement -1,965 - - - - -3,751 -5,716

Change in income tax rate - - - - - - -

Transfer from/to current
tax -262 - - - - 200 -62

Currency translation
differences -34 - - - - -251 -285

Balance at 31 December
2017

880 2,358 - - - 199 3,437

Initial application IFRS 9 - -872 - - -  -872

Restated balance as at 1
January 2018

880 1,486 - - - 199 2,565

Added through business
combinations - - - - - - -

Reclassification - - 915 438 342 - 1,695

Charged through other
comprehensive income - -1,486 18 - - - -1,468

Charged through income
statement 83 - -45 15 -41 -33 -21

Change in income tax rate - - - - - - -

Transfer from/to current
tax - - - - - - -

Currency translation
differences -15 - - -52 -8 - -75

Balance at 31 December
2018

948 - 888 401 293 166 2,696

The movement in the deferred tax assets is as follows:
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Revaluation
of property.

plant and
equipment

Financial
instruments

Trademark
valuation

and
customer

lists

Net
defined
benefit

asset

Other
deferred

taxes

Total
deferred

tax
liabilities

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Balance at 1 January 2017 -1,737 -1,072 -6,316 -4,125 -84 -13,334
Added through business combination - - - - - -

Charged through other comprehensive
income - 1,072 - -128 -1 943

Charged through income statement 57 - -42 -99 222 138

Change in income tax rate - - - - - -

Transfer from/to current tax - - - - 87 87

Currency translation differences 6 - 195 203 -58 346

Balance at 31 December 2017 -1,674 - -6,163 -4,149 166 -11,820
Added through business combinations - - -2,706 - -511 -3,217

Reclassification -   -915 -780 -1,695

Charged through other comprehensive
income - -881 - -2,049 - -2,930

Charged through income statement 34 - 516 181 -24 707

Change in income tax rate - - 50 -  50

Transfer from/to current tax - - - - - -

Currency translation differences 8 - -59 57 -23 -17

Balance at 31 December 2018 -1,632 -881 -8,362 -6,875 -1,172 -18,922

The movement in the deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

 

For some subsidiaries Accell Group has insufficient assurance that future taxable profits will be available to
realize the related tax benefits of carry forward losses of € 126.3 million (2017: € 90.2 million). As a result no
deferred tax assets are recognized for these carry forward losses. These unused carry forward losses are
mainly carry forward losses in North America and the United Kingdom and partially relate to the global results
of the Raleigh group before the acquisition by Accell Group in 2012. The carry forward period of these unused
tax benefits is 1-5 years for € 2.6 million, 5-10 years for € 2.2 million, 10-20 years for € 55.4 million and
indefinite for 66.1 million.
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 Warranties Other
provisions Total

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Balance at 1 January 2018 7,197 1,361 8,558

Provisions used during the year -5,568 -403 -5,971

Provisions made during the year 7,024 1,113 8,137

Provisions reversed during the year -22 -9 -31

Currency translation differences 16 2 18

Balance at 31 December 2018 8,647 2,064 10,711
 
Non-current 4,719 1,337 6,056

Current 3,928 727 4,655

 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Non-current 1,215 1,190

Current 1,307 947

Balance at 2,522 2,136

21. PROVISIONS

 

Warranty provisions represent the estimated costs under warranty obligations for goods delivered and
services rendered as at balance sheet date. The provision is based on estimates using historical warranty
information. The provision for warranty obligations are expected to have a duration between one and five
years. Other provisions mainly relate to a an environmental provision and some smaller restructuring
provisions with a duration of less than one year.

22. DEFERRED REVENUE

 

Deferred revenue consists mainly of receipts in respect of extended warranty to be realized in the coming five
years.
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

VAT payable 7,868 7,210

Import duties payable 980 4,185

Taxes on wages 2,765 1,237

Other taxes and social charges 1,736 1,252

Payables to non-consolidated companies 9 670

Personnel-related liabilities 9,311 9,066

Freight cost payable 500 581

Energy cost payabe 137 172

Audit cost payable 876 864

Claims payable 291 466

Other invoices receivable 4,134 3,064

Interest and bank cost payable 488 231

Other current liabilities 4,698 5,060

Balance at 31 December 33,793 34,058

23. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT
This note explains Accell Group’s exposure to financial risks and how these risks could affect its future financial
performance. Current year profit and loss information has been included where relevant to add further context.

 

 

Financial risk management is predominantly controlled by the central treasury department (‘Group Treasury’)
under policies approved by the board of directors. Group treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial
risks in close co-operation with the group companies. The board provides written principles for overall risk
management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit
risk and use of derivative financial instruments.

Where all relevant criteria are met, hedge accounting is applied to remove the accounting mismatch between
the hedging instrument and the hedged item. This will effectively result in recognizing interest expense at a
fixed interest rate for the hedged floating rate loans and inventory at the fixed foreign currency rate for the
hedged purchases.
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Current assets   
Forward exchange contracts - cash flow hedges 8,913 -

Current liabilities   
Forward exchange contracts - cash flow hedges -370 -9,339

Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedges -1,046 -191

Total 7,497 -9,530

 

Spot and
forward

component
of currency

forward

Interest
rate

swaps

Total cash
flow

hedge
reserve

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Balance at 31 December 2017 6,930 144 7,074
Initial application IFRS 9 -2,615 - -2,615

Revised balance at 1 January 2018 4,315 144 4,459
Add: change in fair value of hedging instrument recognized in OCI -14,926 1,446 -13,480

Less: reclassified to the cost of inventory 4,705 - 4,705

Less: reclassified to profit or loss (ineffectiveness) -95 - -95

Less: reclassified from OCI to profit and loss - included in the net finance cost - -600 -600

Less: deferred tax 2,579 -211 2,368

Balance at 31 December 2018 -3,422 779 -2,643

A. Derivatives
Accell Group has the following derivative financial instruments:

 

i. Classification of derivatives
Derivatives are only used for economic hedging purposes and not as speculative investments. The accounting
policy for the cash flow hedges is set out in section 6.6. Further information about the derivatives used by
Accell Group is provided below.

ii. Hedging reserves
The cash flow hedge reserve disclosed in section 6.5 relate to the following hedging instruments:
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the credit value/debit value adjustment on the interest rate swaps which is not matched by the loan, and�

differences in critical terms between the interest rate swaps and loans.�

There were no reclassifications from the cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss during the period in relation
to the foreign currency forwards.

iii. Hedge ineffectiveness
Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective
effectiveness assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and
hedging instrument.

For hedges of foreign currency purchases, the group enters into hedge relationships where the critical terms of
the hedging instrument match exactly with the terms of the hedged item. The group therefore performs a
qualitative assessment of effectiveness. If changes in circumstances affect the terms of the hedged item such
that the critical terms no longer match exactly with the critical terms of the hedging instrument, the group uses
the hypothetical derivative method to assess effectiveness.

In hedges of foreign currency purchases, ineffectiveness may arise if the timing of the forecast transaction
changes from what was originally estimated, or if there are changes in the credit risk of Accell Group or the
derivative counterparty.

Accell Group holds an interest rate swap that has the same critical terms as the hedged item, such as reference
rate, reset dates, payment dates, maturities and notional amount. Accell Group does not hedge 100% of its
loans, therefore the hedged item is identified as a proportion of the outstanding loans up to the notional
amount of the swaps. As all critical terms matched during the year, the economic relationship was 100%
effective.

Hedge ineffectiveness for interest rate swaps is assessed using the same principles as for hedges of foreign
currency purchases. It may occur due to:

There was no ineffectiveness during 2018 or 2017 in relation to the interest rate swaps.

B. Market risk
i. Foreign exchange risk

Exposure
Accell Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk from recognized financial assets and liabilities not
denominated in functional currencies at the end of the reporting period is limited as the significant exposure in
USD, JPY and TWD are respectively 98%, 103% and 99% hedged with foreign currency forwards.

Instruments used
Accell Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk, primarily the USD, JPY and TWD.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognized assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the relevant group entity. The risk is measured
through a forecast of highly probable purchase transactions denominated in foreign currencies. The risk is
hedged with the objective of minimizing the volatility of Accell Group’s currency cost of highly probable
forecast inventory purchases.



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Notes 148

Accell Group’s risk management policy is to hedge between 75% and 100% of its forecasted purchases in
foreign currencies up to 12 month in advance (July until June), subject to a review of the cost of implementing
each hedge. As an exception to this policy it has been decided to hedge the EURGBP and GBPUSD exposure of
the UK operations for the full calendar year 2019 to mitigate the currency risk surrounding a potential Brexit.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, approximately 89% of inventory purchases were hedged in respect of
foreign currency risk. At 31 December 2018, 99% of forecasted inventory purchases during the first six month
of 2019 qualified as ‘highly probable’ forecast transactions for hedge accounting purposes.

Accell Group uses foreign currency forwards to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk. Under the group’s
policy the critical terms of the forwards must align with the hedged items.

Accell Group designates the full change in fair value of the forward contract (including forward points) in hedge
relationships. The spot component is determined with reference to relevant spot market exchange rates. The
differential between the contracted forward rate and the spot market exchange rate is defined as the forward
points. It is discounted, where material.

Hedge of net investment in foreign entity
Due to its international operations Accell Group holds net investments in foreign operations, mainly in USD,
CHF, GBP and TRY and to a smaller extend in TWD and CNY, and as such is exposed to foreign exchange risk.
The risk management strategy is not to hedge the foreign exchange risk in net investments in foreign
operations.
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 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 USD JPY TWD Other

Foreign currency
forwards

    

Hedge ratio 1:1 1:1 1:1 1:1 1:1 1:1 1:1 1:1

Carrying amount 6,136 -5,710 2,215 -3,699 54 -239 138 308

Notional amount 135,085 96,015 9,110,000 5,236,181 561,000 410,071   

Maturity date 1) Jan 2019
- Dec
2019

Jan 2018
- Jun

2018

Jan 2019
- Jun

2019

Jan 2018
- Jun

2018

Jan 2019
- Jun

2019

Jan 2018
- Jun

2018

Jan 2019
- Dec
2019

Jan 2018
- Jun

2018
         

Weighted average
hedge rate for the
year (including
forward points)

1.17 1.12 126.59 119.89 34.90 35.07   

 1) For its UK operation Accell has decided to hedge the EURGBP and GBPUSD exposure for the full year 2019 to mitigate the currency risk surrounding a potential Brexit (category
'USD' and 'Other').

  2018  2017

 € x 1,000 % of total
loans € x 1,000 % of total

loans

Bank overdrafts 28,885 16% 44,630 24%

Other borrowings - repricing dates:     
6 month or less 130,079 73% 123,479 67%

6-12 months 2,750 2% - 0%

1-5 years 15,000 8% 15,000 8%

Over 5 years 1,765 1% 2,062 1%

Total interest-bearing liabilities 178,479 100% 185,171 100%

Effects of hedge accounting on the financial position and performance
The effects of the foreign currency related hedging instruments on Accell Group’s financial position and
performance are as follows:

 

ii. Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Accell Group’s main interest rate risk arises from borrowings with variable rates, which expose the group to
cash flow interest rate risk. Accell Group manages its exposure to interest rate risk through the proportion of
fixed and variable rate net debt in its total net debt portfolio. Such a proportion is determined once per year by
the Board of Directors on recommendation of Group Treasury as part of the annual budget process. During
2018 and 2017, Accell group’s borrowings at variable rate were mainly denominated in EUR.

Accell Group’s borrowings and receivables are carried at amortised cost. The borrowings are periodically
contractually repriced (see below) and to that extent are also exposed to the risk of future changes in market
interest rates. The exposure of Accell Group’s borrowing to interest rate changes and the contractual re-pricing
dates of the borrowings at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Interest rate swaps   
Hedge ratio 1:1 1:1

Carrying amount -1,046 -191

Notional amount 85,000 53,750

Maturity date
Mar 2024

Jan 2018
- Apr
2018

   

Weighted average hedged rate for the year (excluding margin): 0.64% 2.46%

An analysis by maturities is provided in note 17 Interest-bearing loans. The percentage of total loans shows
the proportion of loans that are currently at variable rates in relation to the total amount of borrowings.

Instruments used by the group
The swap currently in place cover approximately 53% (2017: 32%) of the variable loan principal outstanding. The
fixed interest rates of the swap is 0,64% (2017: 2,46%) and the variable margins of the loans are between 1,0%
and 1,85% above the 3-month EURIBOR which at the end of the reporting period was -0,31% (2017: -0,33%).

The swap contract require settlement of net interest receivable or payable every 90 days. The settlement
dates coincide with the dates on which interest is payable on the underlying debt.

Effects of hedge accounting on the financial position and performance
The effects of the interest rate swap on the financial position and performance are as follows:

 

iii. Sensitivity
In respect of foreign exchange risk Accell Group is primarily exposed to changes in the EURUSD, EURJPY and
EURTWD exchange rates. The sensitivity of the profit or loss to changes in the exchange rates arises mainly
from USD and JPY denominated financial instruments and the impact on other components of equity arises
from foreign forward exchange contract designated as cash flow hedges. The impact of foreign exchange risk
from net investment risk is ignored

In respect of interest rate risk the profit or loss is sensitive to higher/lower interest cost from borrowings as a
result of changes in interest rates. Equity change as a result of an increase/decrease in the fair value of the
cash flow hedges of borrowings through other comprehensive income.



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Notes 151

 Profit before tax Equity

 Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

 2018  2018  
USD (5% movement) 1) 111 -122 5,610 -6,200

JPY (5% movement) 1) 2) -86 95 3,448 -3,811

TWD (5% movement) 1) 6 -7 764 -844

Unhedged variable interest rate
instruments (100 bps movement) 1) -530 1,004 -587 1,113

 1) Holding all other variables constant.
 2) The effect on JPY is opposite to USD and TWD due to a slight overhedge in JPY (103%).

 

Profit and loss is less sensitive to movements in the exchange rates in 2018 than 2017 because the foreign
exchange hedge ratio in 2018 (100%) was higher than in 2017 (92%) and the interest rate hedge ratio in 2018
(53%) was higher than in 2017 (32%). Equity is more sensitive to movements in the exchange rates in 2018 than
2017 because the FX hedge ratio in 2018 (100%) was higher than in 2017 (92%) and the interest rate hedge
ratio in 2018 (53%) higher than in 2017 (32%).

C. Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and favorable derivative financial instruments with banks and
financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to wholesale and retail customers, including outstanding
receivables.

i. Risk management
Credit risk is managed on a group basis. For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties
with a rating between B+ to AA- based on Fitch or S&P ratings are accepted.

If wholesalers and retailers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no
independent rating, management assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in
accordance with limits set by the board. The compliance with the credit limits set for wholesalers and retailers
is regularly monitored by line management. Wholesalers and retailers with accounts receivables balances
greater than € 0.1 million are required to be insured through the global credit insurance program of Accell
Group. Sales to consumers are required to be settled in cash or using major credit cards, mitigating credit risk.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to individual customers,
specific industry sectors and/or regions.

The derivatives are entered into with bank and financial institution counterparties, which are rated BB- to AA-,
based on Fitch or S&P ratings.
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 2018    

 

Weighted-average
loss rate

Trade
receivables

- gross

Credit
loss

allowance

Trade
receivables

- net

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Current (not past due) -0.2% 108,964 -271 108,693

Past due 0-90 days -2.3% 14,259 -329 13,930

Past due 91-360 days -23.5% 6,518 -1,531 4,987

Past due over 360 days -90.0% 7,351 -6,618 733

Total at 31 December  137,092 -8,749 128,343

ii. Impairment of financial assets
Accell Group’s trade receivables for sales of inventory are subject to the expected credit loss model. While
other financial assets, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment
requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 12 month before 31
December 2018 or 1 January 2018 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018 (on adoption of IFRS 9) was
determined as follows for trade receivables:
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Balance at 1 January 10,224 9,516

Initial application IFRS 9 1) 805 -

Restated balance at 1 January 1) 11,029 9,516
Added through business combination 138 -

Amounts written of -3,560 -1,891

Credit losses recognized 1,062 3,025

Effect of movement in exchange rates 80 -426

Balance at 31 December 8,749 10,224
 1) Accell Group implemented IFRS 9 using the modified retrospective approach, meaning that the 2017 comparatives in the 2018 financial statements are not restated.

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;�

probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization;�

default or late payments.�

The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 December 2018 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as
follows:

 

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with Accell Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 360
days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.

Previous accounting policy for impairment of trade receivables
In the prior year, the impairment of trade receivables was assessed based on the incurred loss model.
Individual receivables which were known to be uncollectible were written off by reducing the carrying amount
directly. The other receivables were assessed collectively to determine whether there was objective evidence
that an impairment had been incurred but not yet been identified. For these receivables the estimated
impairment losses were recognized in a separate provision for impairment. 

Accell Group considered that there was evidence of impairment if any of the following indicators were present:

Receivables for which an impairment provision was recognized were written off against the provision when
there was no expectation of recovering additional cash.
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 2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

       

 Limit Usage Undrawn Limit Usage Undrawn

Commited 375,000 172,122 202,878 375,000 183,872 191,128

Uncommited 21,000 6,357 14,643 23,000 1,300 21,700

Total 396,000 178,479 217,521 398,000 185,172 212,828

all non-derivative financial liabilities, and1.
net and gross settled derivative financial instruments for which the contractual maturities are essential for2.
an understanding of the timing of the cash flows.

D. Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet obligations when due. Due to the dynamic nature of
the underlying businesses, Group Treasury maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under
committed credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of Accell Group’s liquidity reserve (comprising the undrawn borrowing
facilities below) and cash on the basis of expected cash flows. This is generally carried out at local level in the
operating companies of Accell Group in accordance with practice and limits set by Group Treasury. These limits
vary by location to take into account the liquidity of the market in which the operating entity operates. In
addition, Accell Group’s liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows in major currencies and
considering the level of liquid assets necessary to meet these, monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against
internal and external regulatory requirements and maintaining debt financing plans.

i. Financing arrangements
Accell Group has access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of the reporting period:

 

Out of the € 275 million revolving credit facility, as set out in note 17 Interest-bearing loans, € 75 million are
allocated to bank overdraft facilities. The bank overdraft facilities may be drawn at any time and are committed
for the same tenor as the long-term funding facilities.

ii. Maturities of financial liabilities
The tables below analyses Accell Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their
contractual maturities for:

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12
months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant. For interest rate swaps the
cash flows have been estimated using forward interest rates applicable at the end of the reporting period.



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Notes 155

  2018     

  Contractual cash flows

 
 Carrying

amount Total < 1 jaar 1-5
year

> 5
year

Notes € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Revolving credit facility 17 -49,194 -49,194 -49,194 - -

Bank overdrafts 17 -28,885 -28,885 -28,885 - -

Terms loans 1) 17 -98,600 -110,155 -2,185 -7,570 -100,400

Other bank loans 17 -1,800 -1,907 -244 -887 -776

Trade and other payables 25 -212,918 -212,918 -212,918 - -

Non-derivative financial liabilities  -391,397 -403,059 -293,426 -8,457 -101,176
       

Interest rate swaps used for hedging (net) 24 -1,046 -2,835 -540 -2,160 -135

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging
(net)

24 8,543 8,543 8,543 - -

Derivative financial liabilities (assets)  7,497 5,708 8,003 -2,160 -135
 1) The exercise of the extension option in Q1 2019 is taken into account in the contractual cash flows (matching the IRS).

  2017     

  Contractual cash flows

 Notes
Carrying
amount Total < 1

year
1-5

year
> 5

year
  € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Revolving credit facility 17 -40,000 -40,000 -40,000 - -

Bank overdrafts 17 -44,630 -44,630 -44,630 - -

Terms loans 17 -98,471 -110,471 -2,512 -107,959 -

Other bank loans 17 -2,070 -2,338 -29 -116 -2,193

Trade and other payables 25 -179,798 -179,798 -179,798 - -

Non-derivative financial liabilities  -364,969 -377,237 -266,970 -108,074 -2,193
       

Interest rate swaps used for hedging (net) 24 -191 -4 -4 - -

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging
(net)

24 -9,339 -9,339 -9,339 - -

Derivative financial liabilities (assets)  -9,530 -9,343 -9,343 - -
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After the 2018 balance sheet date, Accell Group has decided to make a voluntary repayment of € 25 million on
the term loans in the first quarter of 2019. The nominal term loans amounting to € 100 million are included in
the time scale '> 5 years'. In this time scale, the extension option applied early 2019 has already been
processed. The termination date of the group financing, including the term loans, has been extended by 12
months to March 2024.

E. Capital management
There were no major changes in Accell Group's approach to capital management during the year. The Board’s
policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to
sustain future development of the business. Management monitors the return on capital as well as the level of
dividends to ordinary shareholders.

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Accell Group’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to
ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define
capital structure requirements. There have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing
loans and borrowing in the current period.

F. Fair value measurement
1. Accounting classification and fair values
The following table shows the carrying amount and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities,
including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets
and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair
value.
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  2018     

 
 Carrying

amount     

 
 

Fair value -
hedging

instruments

Loans and
receivables

Other
financial
liabilities

Total Fair value
hierarchy

 Notes € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000  

Forward exchange contracts used for
hedging  8,913 - - 8,913 Level 2

Financial assets measured at fair value  8,913 - - 8,913  
 
Other financial assets  - 3,212 - 3,212  

Trade and other receivables 13/14 - 149,730 - 149,730  

Cash and cash equivalents 15 - 26,708 - 26,708  

Financial assets not measured at fair
value

 - 179,650 - 179,650  
 
Interest rate swaps used for hedging 24 1,046 - - 1,046 Level 2

Forward exchange contracts used for
hedging 24 370 - - 370 Level 2

Contingent consideration 25 - - 5,069 5,069 Level 3

Financial liabilities measured at fair
value

 1,416 - 5,069 6,485  
 
Term loans 17 - - 98,600 98,600  

Other bank loans (secured) 17 - - 1,765 1,765  

Other interest-bearing loans 17   35 35  

Revolving credit facility 17 - - 49,194 49,194  

Bank overdrafts 17 - - 28,885 28,885  

Trade and other current liabilities 23 - - 212,918 212,918  

Financial liabilities not measured at fair
value

 - - 391,397 391,397  
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  2017     

 
 Carrying

amount     

 
 

Fair value -
hedging

instruments

Loans and
receivables

Other
financial
liabilities

Total Fair value
hierarchy

 Notes € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000  

Other financial assets  - 2,832 - 2,832  

Trade and other receivables 13/14 - 149,795 - 149,795  

Cash and cash equivalents 15 - 24,123 - 24,123  

Financial assets not measured at fair
value

 - 176,750 - 176,750  
 
Interest rate swaps used for hedging 24 191 - - 191 Level 2

Forward exchange contracts used for
hedging 24 9,339 - - 9,339 Level 2

Financial liabilities measured at fair
value

 9,530 - - 9,530  
 
Term loans 17 - - 98,471 98,471  

Other bank loans (secured) 17 - - 2,062 2,062  

Other interest-bearing loans 17 - - 8 8  

Revolving credit facility 17 - - 40,000 40,000  

Bank overdrafts 17 - - 44,630 44,630  

Trade and other current liabilities 23 - - 179,798 179,798  

Financial liabilities not measured at fair
value

 - - 364,969 364,969  

 

2. Fair value measurement

i. Valuation techniques
The fair value of the forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps is determined on the basis of other
inputs than quoted rates/prices that are observable (level 2). For the determination of the fair value, generally
accepted valuation methods are used. The determined value in this way is equal to the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants.
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Forward exchange contracts
Discounted future cash flow model is used as valuation technique. The fair value is determined using
(interpolated) quoted forward exchange rates at the reporting date and discounted with the appropriate
discount factor derived from the appropriate swap curve.

Interest rate swaps
Discounted future cash flow model is used as valuation technique. The market value of a swap is calculated as
the sum of two different loans. In case of a fixed – floating swap, the interest on the first loan is based on a
fixed rate, while the interest on the second loan is based on a floating rate. Each individual loan (also known as
the leg of a swap) has its own market value. This market value is the sum of the individual future cash flows,
discounted with the appropriate discount factor. The individual future cash flows are based on the rate from
the contract (fixed leg) or on a forward interest rate curve (floating leg). The fair value is subject to a credit risk
adjustment that reflects the credit risk of Accell Group and of the counterparty.

Contingent consideration
The determination of the fair value of the contingent consideration is explained in note 25 Business
combinations.

Other financial liabilities
Discounted cash flows are used as valuation technique. The valuation model considers the present value of
expected payment, discounted using a risk-adjusted discount rate.

ii. Transfers between Level 1 and 2
There were no transfers from Level 1 to Level 2 or from Level 2 to Level 1 in 2018 (and 2017).
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25. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Velosophy
In March 2007 Accell Group acquired 35% of the outstanding ordinary shares of Velosophy. On 9 August 2018
Accell Group acquired  the remaining 65% of the outstanding ordinary shares of Velosophy and obtained control
of Velosophy. Velosophy is a fast-growing innovative player in e-cargo bike solutions for consumers and the
business market. Velosophy is the owner of Babboe, the European market leader in family cargo bikes, the new
premium cargo bike brand CarQon, and Centaur Cargo, a specialist in B2B cargo bikes for ‘last mile deliveries’.
By making this acquisition, Accell Group accelerates its innovation strategy, which is among others focused on
the development of urban mobility solutions.

The goodwill of € 20.8 million arising from the acquisition consists of the strategic advantage Accell Group
gains by acquiring the leading player in the e-cargo bike market, the value of the workforce and the synergies
and economies of scale expected from combining the operations of Accell Group and Velosophy.

The goodwill recognized is expected not to be deductible for income tax purposes. The following table
summarizes the amounts of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed recognized at the acquisition date, as
well as the fair value at the acquisition date of the non-controlling interest in Velosophy and the consideration
paid for Velosophy.

The contingent consideration arrangement requires Accell Group to pay the former owners of Velosophy up to
a maximum amount of € 5.9 million if EBITDA targets in 2018 and 2019 and a revenue target in 2019 are met.
The potential undiscounted amount of all future payments that Accell Group could be required to make under
the contingent consideration arrangement is between € 0 and € 5.9 million.

The fair value of the contingent consideration arrangement of € 4.9 million is estimated by applying the income
approach. The fair value measurement is based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market,
which IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement refers to as Level 3 inputs. Key assumptions include a discount rate
range of 9%-30% and assumed probability-adjusted revenues in Babboe between € 22.7 million and 29.7
million, Carqon of € 2.9 million and Centaur Cargo of € 2.5 million. During 2018 a unwind of the discount of       
€ 0.2 million was recorded in net finance cost in Accell Group's income statement for the year ended 31
December 2018, resulting in a contingent consideration of € 5.1 million per 31 December 2018. As of 31
December 2018, neither the amount recognized for the contingent consideration arrangement, nor the range
of outcomes or the assumptions used to develop the estimates had changed.

Accell Group recognized a gain of € 9.5 million as a result of measuring at fair value its 35% equity interest in
Velosophy held before the business combination. The gain is included in the income from equity-accounted
investees in Accell Group's income statement for the year ending 31 December 2018.

The revenue included in the consolidated income statement since 9 August 2018 contributed by Velosophy
was € 9.8 million. Over the same period Velosophy contributed a net loss of € 0.1 million to the net result. Had
Velosophy been consolidated from 1 January 2018 the consolidated income statement would have included
net revenues of € 23.8 million and a net profit of € 1.8 million.

Acquisition-related costs amounted to € 0.6 million. These cost are included in other operating expenses in
Accell Group's income statement for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Beeline
In the period September 2016-September 2017 Accell Group acquired 32% of the outstanding shares of
Beeline Bikes (‘Beeline’). On 28 March 2018 Accell Group acquired  the remaining 68% of the outstanding
shares and obtained control of Beeline. Beeline, launched 5 years ago in Silicon Valley, is a pioneering mobile
bike service company based on a licensing concept that delivers a turn-key sales, service and data collection
solution tailored for Independent Bicycle Dealers (IBD’s) in North America.

The goodwill of € 3.4 million arising from the acquisition consists of the synergies that the mobile model and
technology platform offer with Accell Group’s traditional brick and mortar channels. Beeline enables Accell
Group to offer expansion to its IBD partners; it brings convenience, high-touch service, and an experiential and
data-driven solution that rapidly expands our consumer reach while bolstering value to our growing network in
North America.

None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. The following table
summarizes the amounts of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed recognized at the acquisition date, as
well as the fair value at the acquisition date of the non-controlling interest in Beeline and the consideration
paid for Beeline.

Accell Group recognized a loss of € 0.3 million as a result of measuring at fair value its 32% equity interest in
Beeline held before the business combination. The loss is included in the income from equity-accounted
investees in Accell Group's income statement for the year ending 31 December 2018.

The net loss included in the consolidated income statement since 28 March 2018 contributed by Beeline was   
 € 1,6 million. Had Beeline been consolidated from 1 January 2018 the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income would have a net loss of € 1.9 million.

Acquisition-related costs amounted to € 0.2 million. These cost are included in other operating expenses in
Accell Group's income statement for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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 Velosophy Beeline Total
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Tangible fixed assets 158 60 218

Identifiable intangible assets 11,016 1,902 12,918

Other financial fixed assets - 136 136

Inventories 2,864 58 2,922

Accounts receivable 1,660 48 1,708

Other current assets 739 153 892

Cash and cash equivalents 2,011 943 2,954

Other interest-bearing loans - -35 -35

Deferred tax liabilities -2,675 -511 -3,186

Short-term loan Accell - -821 -821

Deferred revenue -434 -203 -637

Trade payables -1,303 -51 -1,354

Income tax liabilities -352 - -352

Other current liabilities -462 -19 -481

Total identifiable net assets 13,222 1,659 14,881
Goodwill 20,849 3,359 24,208

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 34,071 5,018 39,089
    

Cash and cash equivalents 17,313 3,289 20,602

Contingent consideration 4,884 - 4,884

Total consideration transferred 22,197 3,289 25,486
Fair value of equity interest held before the business combination 11,874 1,729 13,603

Consideration 34,071 5,018 39,089
    

Cash consideration 17,313 3,289 20,602

Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired 2,011 943 2,954

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition 15,302 2,347 17,649

The following table summarizes the amounts recognized for acquired assets and liabilities at the acquisition
date:
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Total
2018

< 1
year

1-5
year

> 5
year

Total
2017

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Operational lease commitments 35,036 10,870 19,190 4,976 27,394

Property, plant and equipment ordered 50 23 24 3 214

Marketing and merchandising commitments 3,792 1,937 1,855 - 1,821

Other off-balance sheet commitments 11,594 3,835 7,759 - 8,650

Total 50,472 16,665 28,828 4,979 38,079

26. DIVIDEND
The dividend in respect of financial year 2017 was determined at € 0.50 per share or as stock dividend during
the General Meeting of Shareholders of 25 April 2018. After the period in which shareholders could report their
preference, 44% of the shareholders opted for the stock dividend. On 18 May 2018 € 7.4 million was
distributed as cash dividend and 341.480 shares were issued as stock dividend and added to issued share
capital.

The Board of Director proposes to make available to the shareholders a dividend with stock option of € 0.50
per share with respect to the current year. The dividend proposal is subject to approval by the General Meeting
of Shareholders on 24 April 2019 and is not reflected as a liability in these financial statements.

27. OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS
The total off-balance sheet commitments, presented at nominal value, consist of:

Accell Group has commitments from operating lease agreements for buildings and land, IT equipment,
machinery and cars for use in its normal business operations. The commitments arising from marketing and
merchandising mainly concern sponsoring obligations. The other liabilities not included in the balance sheet
mainly include software licensing commitments and commitments related to e-commerce initiatives.

28. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Accell Group’s most significant contingent assets and liabilities are described below.

Per 31 December 2018 Accell Group holds a contingent liability for a conditional compensation for post
combination services, with a maximum of € 1.5 million, which is payable to Velosophy management. The
compensation is conditional on certain revenue and EBITDA targets for the start-ups Centaur Cargo and
Carqon.

Per 31 December 2018 Accell Group holds a contingent liability for a conditional retention bonus, with a
maximum of € 1.8 million, which is payable to key employees in North America.

Per 31 December 2018 Accell Group holds contingent claim of € 1.2 million in respect of custom duties and a
contingent warranty claim of € 0.6 million.
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start / end
date Salary Termination

benefit Bonus Pension
contributions

Share-based
payments

Total
2018

Total
2017

  in € in € in € in € in € in € in €

A.H. Anbeek 1-11-2017 476,000 - 206,743 119,108 14,955 816,806 137,334

R.S. Baldew 1-11-2018 63,333  31,667 10,419 - 105,419 -

J. Both  315,000 - 33,390 68,858 74,731 491,979 481,396

R.J. Takens 1) 25-4-2017 - 279,073 16,819 - - 295,892 1,871,487

H.H. Sybesma 2) 25-4-2018 129,875 1,154,096 - 26,986 - 1,310,957 634,417

J.M. Snijders Blok 2) 25-4-2018 105,000 - - 28,742 - 133,742 496,330

J.M. Snijders Blok 2) 31-12-2018 212,585 48,611 - 57,484 - 318,680 -

Total  1,301,793 1,481,780 288,618 311,598 89,686 3,473,475 3,620,964
 1) In 2018, a tax penalty to the Dutch tax authorities was recognized in relation to the remuneration of Mr. Takens (€ 279.073) and Mr. Sybesma (€ 232.341). This tax is included in Termination benefit in the
table above and was an expense to the employer .
 2) The remuneration of Mr Snijders Blok is divided for his period up to and including 25 April 2018 as a member of the Board of Directors and his subsequent period. The employment contract between Accell
Group and Mr Snijders Blok ended on 31 December 2018.

The other contingent liabilities include a number of customs guarantees with a total amount of € 0.9 million.

29. REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
Board of Directors
The company’s remuneration policy is reflected in the remuneration report that has been presented to the
General Meeting of Shareholders for approval. The bonuses reflected in the financial statements relate to the
financial year and depend on the targets set by the Supervisory Board. For 2018 a bonus varying between 11%
and 50% of the salary will be paid.

The remuneration of the individual members of the Board of Directors is as follows:

 

The resignation of Mr. Sybesma as CFO and Mr. Snijders Blok as COO in 2018
Mr. Sybesma stepped down from the Board of Directors at the General Meeting of Shareholders on 25 April
2018. His employment contract has been terminated taking into account the contractual notice period of six
months. Mr. Sybesma is exempt from work during this notice period. He was also paid a termination payment
of € 738,755. The amount of this compensation and the amount involved in the payment of salary during the
notice period (€ 183,000) are recognized in the profit and loss account 2018 and included in the amount in the
column 'termination benefit’ of the table on the remuneration of the individual members of the Board of
Directors (see above).

Mr. Snijders Blok stepped down from the Board of Directors at the General Meeting of Shareholders on 25 April
2018, while retaining his other duties and since then reporting directly to the CEO. In the meantime, the
employment contract between Accell Group and Mr. Snijders Blok has also been terminated.

Due to the termination of their employment, Mr. Sybesma and Mr. Snijders Blok are unable to meet the
conditions set for the granted conditional options in 2016 and 2017 and the conditional shares granted in
2016, 2017 and 2018.
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Award
date

Number
at 01-01-

18

Issued in
2018

Exercised
2018

Forfeited
in 2018

Number
at 31-12-

18

Exercise
price

Expiration
date

Liability
at 31-12-

18

A.H. Anbeek 8-3-2018 - 1,850 - - 1,850 21.68 8-3-2026 6,697

R.S. Baldew - - - - - - - - -

J.J. Both 8-3-2018 - 2,950 - - 2,950 21.68 8-3-2026 10,679

J.J. Both 9-3-2017 7,850 - - - 7,850 22.05 9-3-2025 21,274

J.J. Both 24-2-2016 6,850 - - - 6,850 18.96 24-2-2024 16,372

R.J. Takens 4-3-2015 11,750 - 11,750 - - 15.92 4-3-2023 -

R.J. Takens 26-2-2014 3,300 - 3,300 - - 14.13 26-2-2022 -

H.H. Sybesma 9-3-2017 8,350 - - 8,350 - 22.05 9-3-2025 -

H.H. Sybesma 24-2-2016 9,550 - - 9,550 - 18.96 24-2-2024 -

H.H. Sybesma 4-3-2015 9,000 - 9,000 - - 15.92 4-3-2023 -

H.H. Sybesma 26-2-2014 2,550 - 2,550 - - 14.13 26-2-2022 -

J.M. Snijders Blok 9-3-2017 6,850 - - 6,850 - 22.05 9-3-2025 -

J.M. Snijders Blok 24-2-2016 7,850 - - 7,850 - 18.96 24-2-2024 -

J.M. Snijders Blok 4-3-2015 7,400 - 7,400 - - 15.92 4-3-2023 -

J.M. Snijders Blok 26-2-2014 2,100 - 2,100 - - 14.13 26-2-2022 -

  83,400 4,800 36,100 32,600 19,500   55,021

The stock option entitlements that have been granted comprise of the following:

 

After awarding the options, the options vest immediately but remain in lock-up for 3 years. After the lock-up
period there is an exercise period of 5 years. The average exercise price of the exercised options during 2018  is
€ 19.37. At 31 December 2018 the intrinsic value of the options is nil because the share price of Accell Group
N.V. was € 18,84 and that is lower than the exercise prices of the options.
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Award
date

Number
at 01-01-

18

Granted
in 2018

Vested
2018

Forfeited
in 2018

Number
at 31-12-

18

Vesting
date

Fair value
at award

date

Liability
at 31-12-

18

A.H. Anbeek 8-3-2018 - 1,830 - - 1,830 8-3-2020 16,531 8,266

R.S. Baldew - - - - - - - - -

J.J. Both 8-3-2018  7,265 - - 7,265 8-3-2020 65,627 32,814

J.J. Both 9-3-2017 6,802 - - - 6,802 9-3-2019 62,499 62,499

J.J. Both 1) 24-2-2016 7,834 1,959 9,793 - - 8-3-2018 - -

R.J. Takens 1) 24-2-2016 12,424 3,106 15,530 - - 8-3-2018 - -

H.H. Sybesma 9-3-2017 8,299 - - 8,299 - 9-3-2019 - -

H.H. Sybesma 1) 24-2-2016 9,549 2,387 11,936 - - 8-3-2018 - -

J.M.Snijders Blok 8-3-2018 - 7,265 - 7,265 - 8-3-2020 - -

J.M.Snijders Blok 9-3-2017 6,802 - - 6,802 - 9-3-2019 - -

J.M.Snijders Blok 1) 24-2-2016 7,834 1,959 9,793 - - 8-3-2018 - -

  59,544 25,771 47,052 22,366 15,897  144,657 103,578
 1) The number of shares at 1 January 2018 concerns the granted conditional shares. Since Accell Group's shareholder return over a consecutive period of three years was 13% or higher than the shareholder return
of shares in the Amsterdam Midcap Index of Euronext, the vesting amounts to 125%. This is the reason that a number is included in the column 'granted in 2018'.

The conditional shares that have been granted comprise of the following:

 

After vesting there is a lock-up period for the shares of 2 years.

At the end of 2018 Mr. Anbeek holds 2,000 shares of Accell Group N.V and Mr. Both holds 5,618 shares.

Internal pay ratio
The pay ratio of the Board of Directors compared to the average employee compensation during 2018 is
14:1 (2017: 15:1). The pay ratios can vary over time as a result of the Accell Group’s annual performance. This
performance impacts the remuneration of the Board of Directors more than of all other employees.

The ratio consists of the average remuneration of the Board of Directors compared to the average cost of all
other employees of Accell Group. The average remuneration of the Board of Directors is calculated from the
sum of the fixed salary, short-term incentives, share based payments, pensions and other benefits of the four
members (2.8 FTE) of the Board of Directors. The average cost of all other employees is calculated from the
personnel costs (Note 2 Personnel expenses) and the average number of employees during the year (3,327
FTE) minus 2.8.
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 2018 2017
 in € in €

A.J. Pasman 68,000 63,004

J. van den Belt 17,333 48,239

P.B. Ernsting 52,000 48,239

A. Kuiper 1) - 35,239

D. Jansen Heijtmajer 2) 37,500 -

G. van de Weerdhof 2) 37,500 -

Total 212,333 194,721
 1) Resigned as a member of the supervisory Board on 19 October 2017.
 2) Assigned as a member of the supervisory Board on 25 April 2018.

 
Transaction values

for the year
Balance outstanding

at year-end

 2018 2017 2018 2017

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Sale of goods and services     
Atala SpA 5,146 3,371 201 660

Raleigh South Africa 23 62 - 43

     

Purchase of goods     
Atala SpA 3,989 3,488 9 670

     

Dividends received     
Atala SpA 174 99 - -

Supervisory Board
The remuneration of the individual members of the Supervisory Board is as follows:

 

30. RELATED PARTIES
Identification of related parties
In addition to the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board (Note 29 Remuneration of the Board of Directors
and the Supervisory Board) Accell Group recognizes related party relationships with its associates and joint
ventures (Note 11 Subsidiaries).

Associates and joint ventures
The transactions during the financial year and balances outstanding at year-end between group companies
and associates and joint ventures are presented below:

 

The amounts outstanding are not provided for and will be settled in cash and cash equivalents. No guarantees
have been given or received. No expense has been recognized for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the
amounts owed by related parties. All sales and purchases are prices on an arm’s length basis. Transactions and
balances between Accell Group and its non-consolidated companies have not been eliminated for
consolidation purposes.
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KPMG
Accountants

N.V.

Other
KPMG

network

Total
KPMG

KPMG
Accountants

N.V.

Other
KPMG

network

Total
KPMG

   2018   2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Audit of the financial statements 691 538 1,229 591 527 1,118

Other audit assignments - 10 10 - - -

Tax services - 15 15 - 29 29

Other non-audit services - - - 5 - 5

Total costs 691 563 1,254 596 556 1,152
 

31. AUDITOR FEES
The total costs for the services rendered by KPMG Accountants N.V. and her network consist of:
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Before profit appropriation (in thousands of euro)

 Notes 31-12-18 31-12-17

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment  625 752

Goodwill 32 10,330 9,996

Other intangible assets  132 575

Deferred tax assets  - 2,358

Financial fixed assets 33 460,327 403,701

Non-current assets  471,414 417,382
Loans to group companies 36 141,208 136,434

Receivables from group companies 37 22,000 2,049

Current tax assets  1,106 4,252

Other receivables  690 7,278

Other financial instruments 38 8,913 -

Cash and cash equivalents  6 -

Current assets  173,923 150,013

Total assets  645,337 567,395
 

EQUITY

Share capital  266 263

Share premium  42,468 43,219

Hedging reserve  2,644 -7,074

Translation reserve  -22,184 -22,483

Other legal reserve  3,273 2,704

Other reserves  275,653 272,191

Unappropriated result  20,271 10,501

Total equity 34 322,391 299,321

PROVISIONS

Provisions 35 9,351 15

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing loans 39 98,600 98,471

Loans from group companies 40 2,226 1,100

Deferred tax liabilities  881 -

Long-term liabilities  101,707 99,571

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Revolving credit facility 39 40,000 40,000

Loans from group companies 36 136,964 68,341

Liabilities to group companies 37 14,653 11,519

Other current liabilities  1,584 2,585

Other financial instruments 38 1,416 9,530

Bank overdrafts  17,271 36,513

Current liabilities  211,888 168,488

Total equity and liabilities  645,337 567,395

 

6.8 COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

The reference numbers following the various items refer to the notes to the company financial statements.The explanatory notes form an integral part of the
financial statements.
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(in thousands of euro)

 Notes 2018 2017
 
Net turnover 41 1,449 4,034
    

Personnel expenses 42 -3,816 -9,560

Other expenses 43 -7,159 -15,613

Total operating expenses  -10,975 -25,173
    

Operating profit  -9,526 -21,139
    

Financial income 44 9,881 10,327

Financial expenses 44 -2,845 -5,496

Net finance cost  7,036 4,831
    

Profit before taxes  -2,490 -16,308
    

Income tax expense  310 4,771

Income from subsidiaries, net of tax 33 22,451 22,038

    

Net profit  20,271 10,501

 

6.9 COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The reference numbers following the various items refer to the notes to the company financial statements.The explanatory notes form an integral part of the
financial statements.
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6.10 NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A. General
The company financial statements are part of the 2018 financial statements of Accell Group N.V.

B. Basis of preparation
The company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Title 9, Book 2 of the Netherlands
Civil Code. For setting the principles for the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities and
determination of the result for its company financial statements, Accell Group makes use of the option
provided in section 2:362(8) of the Netherlands Civil Code. This means that the principles for the recognition
and measurement of assets and liabilities and determination of the result (hereinafter referred to as principles
for recognition and measurement) of the company financial statements of Accell Group are the same as those
applied for the consolidated EU-IFRS financial statements. A reference is made to paragraph 6.6 Notes to the
consolidated financial statements for a description of these principles.

i. Result of participating interests

Participating interests in group companies are accounted for in the company financial statements according to
the net equity value, with separate presentation of the goodwill component under intangible fixed assets.

Participations with a negative net asset value are valued at nil. If Accell Group N.V. guarantees the debts of the
relevant participations, a provision is formed.

ii. Result of participating interests

The share in the result of participating interests consists of the share of Accell Group in the result of these
participating interests. Results on transactions involving the transfer of assets and liabilities between Accell
Group and its participating interests and mutually between participating interests themselves, are eliminated
to the extent that they can be considered as not realized.
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 2018 2017
 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Cost

Balance at 1 January 9,996 10,939

Investments as a result of business combinations - -

Legal restructuring - -

Currency translation differences 334 943-

Balance at 31 December 10,330 9,996

Accumulated impairments

Balance at 1 January - -

Impairments - -

Balance at 31 December - -

Carrying amount

Balance at 1 January 9,996 10,939

Balance at 31 December 10,330 9,996

32. GOODWILL
Changes in goodwill are as follows:
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 Notes 2018 2017
  € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Subsidiaries

Balance at 1 January  385,036 374,695

Initial application IFRS 9  1,810 -

Revised balance at 1 January  386,846 374,695
Profit of participating interests  22,451 22,038

Investments (divestments)  1,503 1,150

Received dividend participating interests  - -

Translation differences  -2,135 -12,707

Actuarial gains and losses  3,752 197

Changes in hedging and fair value adjustments  7,761 -16,020

Legal restructuring  2,381 -

Reclassification subsidiary to provision 35 9,351 -

Other movements  -14,710 15,683

Balance as at 31 December  417,200 385,036

Loans to group companies

Balance at 1 January  18,665 37,696

Loans provided  25,662 -

Loans repaid  -1,200 -19,031

Translation differences  - -

Balance at 31 December  43,127 18,665

Total financial fixed assets  460,327 403,701

33. FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS
Changes in financial fixed assets are as follows:

 

The long-term loans to group companies are provided as long-term financing and are interest-bearing (2.4%).



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Notes to the company financial
statements

174

 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Hedging
reserve

Translation
reserve

Other
legal

reserve

Other
reserve

Unappropriated
result

Total
equity

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Balance at 1
January 2017

258 43,734 3,215 -8,832 6,980 241,733 32,292 319,380

Net profit - - - - - - 10,501 10,501

Other
comprehensive
income

- - -10,289 -13,651 - 197 - -23,743

Total
comprehensive
income

- - -10,289 -13,651 - 197 10,501 -13,242

 
Transfer to
other reserve - - - - - 32,292 -32,292 -

Dividends paid - - - - - -18,616 - -18,616

Stock dividends 5 -5 - - - 11,876 - 11,876

Share-based
payments - -510 - - - 439 - -71

Other changes - - - - -4,276 4,270 - -6

Balance at 31
December
2017

263 43,219 -7,074 -22,483 2,704 272,191 10,501 299,321

34. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
The movement schedule of shareholders’ equity 2017 is as follows:
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Share
capital

Share
premium

Hedging
reserve

Translation
reserve

Other
legal

reserve

Other
reserve

Unappropriated
result

Total
equity

 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000 € x 1,000

Balance at 1
January 2018

263 43,219 -7,074 -22,483 2,704 272,191 10,501 299,321

Initial
application IFRS
9

- - 2,615 - - -805 - 1,810

Revised
balance as at 1
January 2018

263 43,219 -4,459 -22,483 2,704.00 271,386 10,501 301,130

Net profit - - - - - - 20,271 20,271

Other
comprehensive
income

- - 7,103 -1,921 - 3,752 - 8,934

Total
comprehensive
income

- - 7,103 -1,921 - 3,752 20,271 29,205

 
Transfer to
other reserve - - - - - 10,501 -10,501 -

Dividends paid - - - - - -13,141 - -13,141

Stock dividends 3 -3 - - - 5,770 - 5,770

Share-based
payments - -748 - - - 182 - -566

Other changes - - - 2,220 569 -2,797 - -8

Balance at 31
December
2018

266 42,468 2,644 -22,184 3,273 275,653 20,271 322,391

The movement schedule of shareholders’ equity 2018 is as follows:

 

Accell Group has issued share options (Note 19 Share-based payments of the consolidated financial
statements).

Ordinary shares
On 31 December 2018 the authorized capital consists of 55,000,000 ordinary shares, 5,000,000 cumulative
preference shares F and 60,000,000 cumulative preference shares B, each with a nominal value of € 0.01. Of
these, 26,597,354 (2017: 26,255,179) ordinary shares have been issued and duly paid at 31 December 2018, as
a result the issued and paid-up share capital amounts to € 265,974.

Share premium reserve
The share premium concerns the income from the issuing of shares in so far as this exceeds the nominal value
of the shares (above par income).
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Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow
hedging instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.

Translation reserve
The legal translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations.

Other legal reserves
Other legal reserves consist of a legal reserve for participating interests and a legal reserve for capitalized
development costs.

The legal reserve for participating interests, which amounts to € 1.4 million (2017: € 2.3 million), pertains to
participating interests that are accounted for according to the equity accounting method. The reserve
represents the difference between the participating interests’ retained profit and direct changes in equity, as
determined on the basis of Accell Group’s accounting policies, and the share thereof that Accell Group may
distribute. The legal reserve is determined on an individual basis.

In accordance with applicable legal provisions, a legal reserve for the carrying amount of € 1.9 million
thousand (2017: € 0.4 million) has been recognized for capitalized development.

Proposal for profit appropriation (Unappropriated result)
The Board of Directors proposes to the General Meeting that the result after tax in 2018 should be allocated as
follows: to pay out an amount of € 13.3 million as an optional dividend, equivalent to € 0.50 per share (2017: €
0.50) and to add the remaining amount of € 7.0 million to the other reserves. The 2018 result after tax is
presented as unappropriated profit in shareholders' equity.

Dividend
The Board of Director proposes to make available to the shareholders a dividend with stock option of € 0.50
per share with respect to the current year. The dividend proposal of € 13.3 million is subject to approval by the
General Meeting of Shareholders on 24 April 2019 and is not reflected as a liability in these financial
statements. The dividends have not been provided for and there are no income taxes consequences.

The dividend in respect of financial year 2017 was determined at € 0.50 per share or as stock dividend during
the General Meeting of Shareholders of 25 April 2018. After the period in which shareholders could report their
preference, 44% of the shareholders opted for the stock dividend. On 18 May 2018 € 7.4 million was
distributed as cash dividend and 314,480 shares were issued as stock dividend and added to issued share
capital.
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35. PROVISIONS
The negative net asset value of Accell North America Inc. is included under the provisions.

36. LOANS TO AND FROM GROUP COMPANIES
The short-term loans to and from group companies relate to current accounts arising from cash management
within Accell Group N.V. The loans are interest-bearing (3 months Euribor plus margin).

37. RECEIVABLES FROM AND LIABILITIES TO GROUP COMPANIES
The receivables from and liabilities to group companies are current receivables and current liabilities (no
interest).

38. OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A reference is made to note 24 Financial instruments – fair values and risk management of the consolidated
financial statements for the note on other financial instruments; other financial instruments consist of forward
exchange contracts (net financial asset) of € 8.5 million (2017: € 9.3 million of financial liabilities) and interest rate
swaps (financial liabilities) of € 1.0 million (2017: € 0.2 million), both used for hedging purposes.

39. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY
A reference is made to notes 17 Interest-bearing loans and 24 Financial instruments – fair values and risk
management of the consolidated financial statements for the note on interest-bearing loans of € 98.6 million
(2017: € 98.5 million) and the revolving credit facility of € 40.0 million (2017: € 40.0 million). For the note on Accell
Group’s policies in respect of liquidity risk and market risk, consisting of currency risk and interest risk, a
reference is made to note 24 Financial instruments – fair values and risk management of the consolidated
financial statements.

40. LOANS FROM GROUP COMPANIES
The long-term loans of group companies have a financing character. By means of (legal) restructuring, Accell
Group N.V. intends to terminate these loans and simplify its financing structure. As a result, the loan of € 1.1
million has been repaid in August 2018; in 2018 the interest on this loan is 5%. At the end of 2018, a loan of €
2.2 million was taken over as a result of the liquidation of a group company. 0% interest is owed on this loan. In
2019 Accell Group N.V. intends to settle this loan.

41. NET TURNOVER
Net turnover comprises charges to group companies with regard to management fees.
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42. PERSONNEL EXPENSES
As of 1 January 2018, the employees of Accell Group N.V. are transferred to Accell Services B.V. and Accell
Operations B.V., after which only the board of directors remains in Accell Group N.V. The remuneration of the
Board of Directors, including pension charges as referred to in Section 2: 383, subsection 1 of the Dutch Civil
Code, charged in the financial year to Accell Group N.V. amounted to € 3.5 million (2017: € 3.6 million) and to €
0.2 million (2017: € 0.2 million) for the members of the Supervisory Board. For details on the remuneration of the
Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board a reference is made to note 29 Remuneration of the Board of
Directors and the Supervisory Board of the consolidated financial statements.

Personnel costs also include an amount of € 38 thousand (2017: € 448 thousand) for social security costs and €
92 thousand (2017: € 122 thousand) for conditional shares for directors of group companies. For details on this
conditional share plan, reference is made to Note 19 Share-based payments of the consolidated financial
statements.

43. OTHER EXPENSES
The other expenses include implementation costs of the strategy, IT costs, consultancy costs, audit costs and
travel expenses.

44. NET FINANCE COST
Financial income amounts to € 9.9 million (2017: € 10.3 million) and mainly comprises results from treasury
activities for group companies and interest income related to loans to group companies. The financial expenses
amount to € 2.8 million in 2018 (2017: € 5.5 million) and include interest expenses, bank fees and currency
results on bank balances and overdrafts.

45. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Operational lease commitments
Accell Group N.V. has financial commitments of € 0.1 million arising from operational lease agreements cars for
use in the ordinary course of business.

Several liability and guarantees
The legal entity Accell Group N.V. has issued declarations of joint and several liabilities for debts arising from
the actions of Dutch consolidated participating interests. Notices to that effect have been filed with the
chamber of commerce where the legal entity on whose behalf the notice of liability has been given is
registered.

At 31 December 2018, Accell Group N.V. holds a group guarantee to the trustees of the English defined benefit
plan, whereby in the event of a bankruptcy of the English subsidiary, Accell Group N.V. guarantees any deficits
in the UK pension scheme up to a maximum of £ 8.7 million. In addition, Accell Group has provided a rental
guarantee, whereby in the event of a bankruptcy of the Dutch subsidiary, Accell Group guarantees any rental
income up to a maximum of € 1.3 million. The other contingent liabilities consist of a number of smaller
customs guarantees, bank guarantees and rental guarantees totaling € 1.5 million.

In addition, declarations of joint and several liability have been issued for debts to suppliers arising from the
purchase transactions of consolidated participating interests.
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Fiscal unity
The Company constitutes the fiscal unity ‘Accell Group N.V.’ with its subsidiaries for corporate income tax
purposes and value added tax; the standard conditions prescribe that each of the companies is liable for the
corporate income tax payable by all companies belonging to the fiscal unity.

 
Supervisory Board
 A.J. Pasman, chairman
G. van de Weerdhof, vice-chairman
P.B. Ernsting
D. Jansen Heijtmajer

Board of Directors
A.H. Anbeek, CEO
R.S. Baldew, CFO
J.J. Both, CSCO

Heerenveen, 11 March 2019
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the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of�

Accell Group N.V. as at 31 December 2018 and of its result and its cash flows for 2018, in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
the accompanying company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Accell�

Group N.V. as at 31 December 2018 and of its result for 2018 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code.

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018;1.
the following consolidated statements for 2018: the income statement, the statements of comprehensive2.
income, changes in equity and cash flows; and
the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.3.

the company balance sheet as 31 December 2018;1.
the company income statement 2018; and2.
the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.3.

7 OTHER INFORMATION

7.1 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To: the General Meeting of Shareholders and the Supervisory Board of Accell Group N.V.

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2018 included in the annual report

OUR OPINION
 
In our opinion:

WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

We have audited the financial statements 2018 of Accell Group N.V. (“the company”) based in Heerenveen. The
financial statements include the consolidated financial statements and the company financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements comprise:

The company financial statements comprise:
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BASIS FOR OUR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements’ section of our report.

We are independent of Accell Group N.V. in accordance with the EU Regulation on specific requirements
regarding statutory audits of public-interest entities, the ‘Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties’ (Wta, Audit
firms supervision act), the ‘Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten’
(ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other
relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the ‘Verordening
gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants’ (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Audit approach
Summary
 

 

Materiality
Based on our professional judgement we determined the materiality for the financial statements as a whole at
EUR 2,0 million (2017: 1,75 million). The materiality is determined with reference to profit before tax (5,6%)
(2017: 5,8%). We consider profit before tax as the most appropriate benchmark as the main stakeholders are
primarily focused on profit before tax. We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible
misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users of the financial statements for qualitative reasons.

We agreed with the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board that misstatements in excess of
EUR 100,000 which are identified during the audit, would be reported to them, as well as smaller
misstatements that in our view must be reported on qualitative grounds.

Scope of the group audit
Accell Group N.V. is at the head of a group of components. The financial information of this group is included in
the financial statements of Accell Group N.V.
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Based on the size and/or risk profile of the group components or activities, we have performed full scope audit
procedures on the financial information for the key group components in the Netherlands, Germany, France,
the UK, Turkey and Hungary. We performed audit of specific items for the group components in the United
States and specified audit procedures related to inventory in Spain, Sweden, Denmark, Belgium, Finland and
the Netherlands. In addition, we have performed specific audit procedures at group level aimed at amongst
others goodwill, trademarks, current and deferred taxes and derivatives. Overall, this has resulted in a coverage
of 86% of the total revenue and 87% of the balance sheet total. The remaining 14% of the total revenue and 13%
of the balance sheet total concern a number of reporting components, each accounting for less than 5% of the
total revenue or balance sheet total. For these remaining components, we have performed a number of
procedures, including analytical reviews, to substantiate our judgement that there are no relevant risks of
material misstatement.

The group audit team provided detailed instructions to all component auditors who were part of the group
audit, covering the significant audit areas, including the relevant risks of material misstatement and set out the
information required to be reported back to the group audit team. The group audit team has made site visits to
the United States, Hungary and Germany and has audited the Dutch group component. Regardless of whether
group components were visited, there have been telephone conferences with the local auditors for most group
components and, where considered necessary, with local management. During the site visits, the planning of
our audit, our risk assessment, our audit approach and the key audit findings and objectives were discussed. In
Hungary and Germany file reviews were performed.

By performing the procedures mentioned above at group and local entities, together with additional
procedures at group level, we have been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the
group’s financial information to provide an opinion about the financial statements.

The audit coverage as stated in the section summary can be further specified as follows:

 

Audit scope in relation to fraud
In accordance with the Dutch Standards on Auditing we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance
that the financial statements taken as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud
or error. In determining the audit procedures we will make use of the evaluation of management in relation to
fraud risk management (prevention, detection and response), including ethical standards to create a culture of
honesty.
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fraud risk related to revenue recognition, focusing on manual and revenue increasing adjustments�

fraud risk in relation to management override of controls.�

evaluation of the of internal controls relevant to mitigate these risks;�

data analytics are part of our audit approach to address fraud risks which could have a material impact on the�

financial statements. This also relates to audit procedures carried out to address the risk of management
override of controls.
supplementary substantive audit procedures, including test of details and reconciliation of source�

documentation of journal entries in:
revenues;�

non-routine transactions.�

In our process of identifying fraud risks we assessed fraud risk factors, which we discussed with management
and the Supervisory Board. Fraud risk factors are events or conditions that indicate an incentive or pressure to
commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud.

We addressed the following fraud risks that were relevant to our audit:

Our audit procedures related to these fraud risks consisted of:

Our audit procedures differ from a specific forensic fraud investigation, which investigation often has a more
in-depth character.

Audit scope in relation to laws and regulations
We have identified laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
financial statements from our general and sector experience as well as based on discussions with
management. We have discussed the policies and procedures of Accell Group N.V. regarding compliance with
laws and regulations. We communicated identified laws and regulations within our audit team and remained
alert to any indications of non-compliance with these laws and regulations throughout the audit.

The effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, Accell Group N.V. is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements,
including the financial reporting standards. We assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and
regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statements items.

In addition Accell Group N.V. is subject to other, sector specific, laws and regulations where the consequences
of non-compliance could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures and in the financial statements, for
instance through the imposition of fines or litigation. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to
identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to inquiry with management and inspection of (board)
minutes and regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. These are part of our procedures on the financial
statements items.
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Our key audit matter
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit matter to the Board of Directors and the
Supervisory Board. The key audit matter is not a comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.

This matter is addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.
 

Goodwill and trademarks amount to EUR 82,3 million and EUR 47,1 million respectively as at 31 December
2018. Under EU-IFRS, the Company is required to test the amount of goodwill and trademarks with an
indefinite life for impairment at least annually. The impairment tests performed by management were
significant to our audit due to the complexity of the assessment process and judgements and assumptions
involved which are somewhat subjective.

At Accell Group N.V. goodwill is allocated to the cash generating units (CGUs) which are similar as the operating
segments. For trademarks an impairment test has been performed for each trademark, in which Accell used
the expected revenue development and royalty income for the respective trademark.

 

The Company uses assumptions with respect to future market and economic circumstances which are based
on the budget 2019 and the strategic plan 2020-2022. For our audit we assessed and tested management’s
key assumptions, the weighted average cost of capital (‘WACC’) and the model used by the Company.
We compared the assumptions with historical and external data, such as expected inflation percentages,
growth percentages for specific markets and royalty percentages, and by analysing sensitivities in the group’s
valuation model.
We included a valuation specialist in our team to assist us with our audit procedures. We specifically focused
on the sensitivity in the available headroom (difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying
amount) for the cash generating units and trademarks for which we evaluated whether a reasonably possible
change in assumptions could cause the carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount. We also assessed
whether the Company's disclosures as included in note 9 and 10 in the financial statements are adequate
based on EU-IFRS.
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Board report contains chapters:�

Accell Group in 2018;1.
Strategy ‘Lead Global. Win Local’;2.
Report of the Board of Directors;3.
Corporate Governance;4.
Report of the Supervisory Board;5.

7. Other information;�

8. Additional disclosures.�

is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements; and�

contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.�

Based on our procedures performed we consider the Company’s key assumptions used in the annual
impairment test to be reasonable and the outcome within the acceptable range. In addition we determined that
the Company’s disclosures meet the requirements of EU-IFRS.

Report on the other information included in the annual report
In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report contains other
information that consists of:

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of
the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material
misstatements.

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code
and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is substantially less than the scope of
those performed in our audit of the financial statements.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the Board report in
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the other information pursuant to Part 9 of
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Engagement
We were engaged by the General Meeting of Shareholders as auditor of Accell Group N.V. on 26 April 2016, as
of the audit for the year 2016 and have operated as statutory auditor ever since that financial year.

No prohibited non-audit services
We have not provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to in Article 5(1) of the EU Regulation on
specific requirements regarding statutory audits of public-interest entities.
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Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements

Amstelveen, 11 March 2019
KPMG Accountants N.V.

Appendix: Description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

 

 

 

 

T. van der Heijden RA

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the appendix
of this auditor's report. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board for the financial statements

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the
evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not
detect all material errors and fraud during our audit.

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and
appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks mentioned, the
Board of Directors should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so. The Board of Directors should disclose events and circumstances that may cast
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, the Board of Directors is
responsible for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to�

fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the risk resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;
obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that�

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the company’s internal control;
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates�

and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors;
concluding on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting,�

and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause a company to cease to continue as a going concern;
evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the�

disclosures; and
evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner�

that achieves fair presentation.

APPENDIX
We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit,
in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our
audit included among others:

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising and
performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures
to be carried out for group components. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the group components
or operations. On this basis, we selected group components for which an audit or review had to be carried out
on the complete set of financial information or specific items.

We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identify
during our audit. In this respect we also submit an additional report to the audit committee in accordance with
Article 11 of the EU Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audits of public-interest entities.
The information included in this additional report is consistent with our audit opinion in this auditor’s report.
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We provide the Supervisory Board with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Supervisory Board, we determine the key audit matters: those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, not communicating the matter is in the public interest.
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7.2 STATUTORY PROVISIONS RELATED TO PROFIT
APPROPRIATION
ARTICLE 25 (IN PART)
 
SECTION 4
Subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, the Board of Directors is authorised to determine which
proportion of the profit will be reserved after payment of dividend to holders of both preference shares B and
preference shares F.

SECTION 5
The profit then remaining shall be at the disposal of the General Meeting of Shareholders for holders of
ordinary shares. At the proposal of the Board of Directors, approved by the Supervisory Board, the General
Meeting of Shareholders may decide to make any dividend to holders or ordinary shares payable not in cash,
but rather in part or entirely in shares in the company’s capital.
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(in millions of euro, unless stated otherwise)

 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
 
Result

Net turnover 1,094.3 1,068.5 1,048.2 986.4 882.4

Operating profit (EBIT) 33.0 38.0 60.4 58.5 44.1

Depreciation, amortization and impairments 12.3 11.1 10.3 10.1 8.9

Net finance cost -7.6 -8.2 -8.3 -9.1 -8.8

Taxes 15.6 19.7 20.4 16.2 9.3

Net profit 20.3 10.5 32.3 32.3 26.5

Free cash flow 1) 15.9 -4.9 61.3 -31.2 38.3
 
Balance sheet

Balance sheet total 6) 761.9 705.3 703.4 731.7 631.8

Property, plant and equipment 66.5 69.4 71.7 69.8 68.1

Capital employed 2) 513.7 486.2 494.1 532.3 461.2

Group equity 322.4 299.3 319.4 305.9 281.1

Net debt 151.8 161.0 147.3 200.0 152.3
 
Data per share 3)(in euros)

Group equity 12.18 11.33 12.13 11.61 10.68

Free cash flow 0.60 -0.19 2.33 -1.18 1.46

Net profit 0.77 0.40 1.23 1.22 1.01

Dividend 4) 0.50 0.49 0.68 0.65 0.54

Closing price of share 18.84 23.43 21.91 21.07 13.60
 
Ratios (in %)

EBIT/Capital employed 6.4 7.8 12.2 11.0 9.6

Operating profit/turnover 3.0 3.6 5.8 5.9 5.0

Net profit/turnover 1.9 1.0 3.1 3.3 3.0

Free cash flow/turnover 1.5 -0.5 5.8 -3.2 4.3

Solvency (based on group capital) 5) 42.3 42.4 45.4 41.8 44.5

Net debt/EBITDA 3.4 3.3 2.1 2.9 2.9

Working capital/turnover 26.4 29.5 29.2 34.2 30.5
 
Other information

Average number of employees (fte) 3,327 3,088 3,124 3,371 2,796

Number of issued shares at year-end 26,597,354 26,255,179 25,834,236 25,270,327 24,864,956

Weighted average number of issued shares 26,474,308 26,101,222 25,623,405 25,116,249 24,685,681

Market capitalization 501.1 615.2 566.0 532.4 338.2
 
 1) Free cash flow is defined as the balance of the net cash flow from operating- and investment activities.
 2) Capital employed is the balance sheet total minus cash and cash equivalents and current non-interest bearing obligations (including current part of provisions).
 3) The data per share are calculated based on the weighted average number of issued shares. The data per share for the years 2014-2017 have been adjusted for the dilution resulting from the issue of stock dividend charged to the share
premium reserve in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IAS33). The adjustment factor that was applied in the reporting year for 2017 and for previous years is 0.98816.
 4) The dividend per share relating to the financial year 2017 concerns the proposal to be submitted to the General Meeting of Shareholders.
 5) Balance sheet total and solvency 2016 are determined after offsetting the balances in the notional cash pooling arrangements.

8 ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES

8.1 HISTORICAL OVERVIEW AND AGENDA 2019
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FINANCIAL AGENDA 2019
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8.2 MATERIALITY AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS
MATERIALITY DETERMINATION
In 2017, Accell Group used an online survey, via research bureau GfK, to put a brief list of
material aspects to a large group of internal and external stakeholders, including around
4,500 consumers from GfK’s consumer panel in France, Germany and the Netherlands. The
respondents were asked to indicate for each aspect to what extent the respondent
believed it has an impact on the group they represent, society as a whole and on Accell
Group. Respondents were also asked to rank the various aspects in terms of importance
and were given the chance to add what they believed to be missing aspects.

The outcome of this online survey was put to representatives of the senior management and the Board of
Directors in a round table session to arrive at a final ranking. This is how we took into consideration the four
principles of GRI standards (stakeholder engagement, sustainability context, materiality, completeness) for the
determination of the content of this annual report.

The table below describes the (current) highly material aspects.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS
Accell Group recognises the importance of the so-called Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) drawn up by
the United Nations. As a first step, we have determined the goals that we can contribute to as an organisation
and the extent to which we do so already. In 2018, we continued to refine our CSR strategy and that also
includes our contribution to the SDGs.

In terms of our product, the bicycle, we focus primarily on SDG 3 and SDG 11. These themes receive extra
attention in product development and marketing. But the other three SDGs are also part of our daily activities.
We explain our initiatives in these areas in more detail in the sections 3.6 Brands and products, 3.7 Processes
and information technology and 3.8 Organization and people.
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ISO / TC 149 (Technical Committee of the International Organisation for Standardisation)�

CEN TC 333 Cycles (Technical Committee of the European Committee for Standardisation)�

CENELEC (European Committee for Electrotechnical Standardization)�

NEN (Dutch Standards Institution) commission NC 330 043 Bicycles�

TSE (Turkish Standards Institution) / MTC - Mirror Technical Committees�

Bicycle Theft AVC (Dutch national platform approach bicycle theft)�

Foundation ART (bicycle locks)�

CONEBI (Confederation of the European Bicycle Industries)�

WBIA (World Bicycle Industry Association)�

CIE (Cycling Industries Europe)�

RAI Vereniging (Dutch industry association mobility), sector bicycles�

Union Sport & Cycle (French industry association)�

BPSA (Bicycle Product Suppliers Association)�

UVT (Finland outdoor industry association)�

FAPIC (Danish industry association)�

Cykelbranschen (Swedish bicycle industry organisation)�

MKKSZ (Hungarian industry association)�

Bicycle Association of Great Britain (Industry association)�

WFSGI (World Federation of the Sporting Goods Industry): application of the WFSGI Code of Conduct.�

Relevant local organisations in the field of (bicycle) battery recycling: financial commitment.�

Relevant local organisations in the field of recycling electronic equipment: financial commitment.�

People for Bikes (United States)�

8.3 NETWORKS AND STAKEHOLDER DIALOGUE
Accell Group maintains a constant dialogue with its stakeholders throughout the year, and
we do our utmost to ensure that we actually follow up on any issues raised in that
dialogue.

ENGAGEMENT AND SUPPORT
We are affiliated with various national and international industry organisations and initiatives, some of which
focus specifically on corporate social responsibility. Below we provide an overview, organised per theme, of the
industry and advocacy organisations where we have a seat on the board or for which we actively participate in
working groups.

Consumer safety

Theft prevention

Bicycle industry – healthy & green mobility

Health & sustainability
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STAKEHOLDER INITIATIVES
We determined who our most important stakeholders are by putting all our stakeholders in a matrix and
prioritising them. The Board of Directors approved the matrix. The overview below shows the main
communications and initiatives with respect to our stakeholders. Section 9.2 Materiality and sustainable
development goals includes the materiality matrix in which we indicate the aspects our stakeholders consider
priorities.
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Data are derived from various HR information systems

8.4 EMPLOYEE DATA
We report our non-financial data, such as employee information, in this annual report for the period 1
December 2017 through 30 November 2018. On the reference date of 30 November 2018, Accell Group had
2,738 full-time employees (FTEs). This figure differs somewhat from the average number of FTEs in 2018,
partly because we work with a fixed reference date and partly because not all companies (92%) were included
in the data collection related to corporate social responsibility for 2018. On the reference date, 39% of our
employees were covered by a collective labour agreement.

The tables below show the data collection.
All figures have been rounded off to improve readability. This may result in small rounding differences.
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Data are derived from various HR information systems.
* Temporary worker is defined as e person who works for a company that provides services to Accell Group (no employment contract with Accell Group).
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The amount of hours is determined based on data derived from HR systems and from the financial administration, interviews and are in part estimated and
extrapolated.
 

Data are derived from various HR information systems.
* Relative: is defined as the period of absence divided by total working hour.
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Data are derived from various HR information systems.

In 2018, there were two accidents that resulted in long-term injury. One member of staff had an unfortunate
fall during a photography session and one member of staff was seriously injured in the production process
while operating a press. We added extra safety features to the equipment following the latter incident and we
have adjusted and intensified instructions and training. Following a number of smaller production accidents,
we also made changes to the equipment and working environment and tightened up the instructions. The
majority of the accidents were the result of inattentiveness.

Although absenteeism as a result of accidents is relatively low (0.1%), the number of accidents once again
shows why we see safety and accident prevention as one of our top priorities. At the end of the day, every
accident is one too many.
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8.5 SCOPE OF THE REPORTING
This annual report offers an overview of the main developments and the performance of
Accell Group in 2018 and is based on aspects highly material to Accell Group. All the
reported financial data pertain to the 2018 financial year that ran from 1 January to 31
December. As in previous years, non-financial data is reported for the period 1 December
2017 to 30 November 2018.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK AND DATA COLLECTION
This annual report is intended for all our stakeholders and in particular for our shareholders and staff. We want
to use this integrated report to demonstrate how sustainable our operations are and how this strengthens our
strategy, governance, performance and outlook and generates (social) value for the short, medium and long
term.

The financial data in this report is generated by a standardised and automated reporting system. The internal
risk management system safeguards the reliability of these financial data. The external auditor also audits the
financial statements that are part of this report. In doing so, the external auditor also determines whether the
notes to the financial statements in this report are a fair representation of the financial statements.
 
The data related to corporate social responsibility is collected once a year. The collected data and reporting are
not verified by the external auditor. In 2018, the sustainability-related data collection covered 92% of Accell
Group’s operations. This percentage is determined by dividing the turnover of the companies from which data
is collected by the total turnover. The quantitative and qualitative information related to corporate social
responsibility is based on qualitative interviews and quantitative data requests. To this end, we address the
responsible staff members at our companies and staff departments. The persons responsible at our
companies provide the requested quantitative data and direct the sustainability aspects and priority actions.
The team responsible for corporate social responsibility at group level uses a plausibility check to verify the
data obtained.

DEVIATIONS FROM THE 2017 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
The transition to the new organisational structure, in which business units have been rearranged, has an
impact on the reliability and scope of the data collection for corporate social responsibility purposes. Where
necessary, we have adjusted the figures for previous years in the tables for comparison purposes. This may
result in some tables deviating from those presented in the 2017 annual report.
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Integrated Reporting framework. Accell Group applies several fundamental concepts, guidelines and content�

elements of the Integrated Reporting framework of the International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC) in its
reporting.
International Financial Reporting Standards. Accell Group’s financial reporting is based on the International�

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). All Accell Group companies and the group itself comply with these
standards.
Global Reporting Initiative. The Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) is the international standard in the field of�

sustainability reporting. The Accell Group report has been drawn up on the basis of GRI Standards 'Core'.
Dutch Corporate Governance Code. Compliance with the Dutch Corporate Governance code is described in�

section 4.3 Compliance with the Code of this report. We report on this subject on the basis of the ‘comply or
explain’ principle and adjusted our reporting for 2018 to comply with the amended code.
EU directive for reporting non-financial information and diversity-related information. As of the 2017�

reporting year, there are tightened legal requirements for transparency regarding non-financial data in the
annual reports of large public interest entities. We report on this on the basis of the ‘comply or explain’
principle.

8.6 REPORTING STANDARDS AND GUIDELINES
The following standards, policies and guidelines have been applied in full or in part in this annual report.
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Disclosure number Disclosure Title Item - Location
101 Reporting principles Principles are applied throughout the report

Organizational profile

102-1 Name of the organisation Accell Group

102-2 Activities, brands, products, and services Profile, Operating activities , 3.6 Brands and
products

102-3 Location of headquarters 8.10 Colophon

102-4 Location of operations 8.8 Addresses

102-5 Ownership and legal form 6.6 Notes to the consolidated financial
statements

102-6 Markets served Profile, Operating activities

102-7 Scale of the organisation At a glance

102-8 Information on employees and other workers 3.8 Organization and people 8.4 Employee
data

102-9 Supply chain 2.4 Update Strategy 2018-2022 (Value
creation model)

102-10 Significant changes to the organisation and
its supply chain

8.5 Scope of the reporting

102-11 Precautionary principle or approach 3.6 Brands and products

102-12 External initiatives 8.3 Networks and stakeholder dialogue

102-13 Membership of associations 8.3 Networks and stakeholder dialogue

Strategy

102-14 Statement from senior decision-maker Message from the CEO

102-15 Key impacts, risks, and opportunities 3.3 Risk management and internal controls

Ethics and integrity

102-16 Values, principles, standards, and norms of
behaviour

4.1 General, 4.3 Compliance with the Code

Governance

102-18 Governance structure 4.1 General

102-21 Consulting stakeholders on economic,
environmental and social aspects

3.3 Risk management and internal controls

102-22 Composition of the highest governance body
and its committees

1.2 Board of Directors

102-23 Chair of the highest governance body 1.2 Board of Directors

102-24 Nominating and selecting the highest
governance body

4.1 General

102-25 Conflicts of interest 4 Corporate Governance

102-26 Role of the highest governance body in
setting purpose, values and strategy

Chapter 2 Strategy ‘Lead Global. Win Local.’,
4.1 General

GRI STANDARDS CONTENT INDEX 
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Disclosure number Disclosure Title Item - Location

Governance

102-27 Collective knowledge of highest
governance body

1.2 Board of Directors

102-28 Evaluating the highest governance body's
performance

4.1 General

102-29 Identifying and managing economic,
enivironmental, and social impacts

Chapter 2 Strategy ‘Lead Global. Win Local.’, 4
Corporate Governance, 8.3 Networks and
stakeholder dialogue

102-30 Effectiveness of risk management
processes

3.3 Risk management and internal controls

102-31 Review of economic, environmental, and
social aspects

3 Report of the Board of Directors

102-32 Highest governance body's role in
sustainable reporting

3 Report of the Board of Directors

102-33 Communicating critical concerns 4 Corporate Governance

102-35 Remuneration policies https://www.accell-group.com/en /corporate-
governance/remuneration /remuneration.htm

102-36 Process for determining remuneration 5.3 Selection and remuneration
committee,https://www.accell-group.com/en
/corporate-governance/remuneration
/remuneration.htm

102-37 Stakeholder involvement in remuneration https://www.accell-group.com/en /corporate-
governance/remuneration /remuneration.htm

102-38 Annual total compensation ratio https://www.accell-group.com/en /corporate-
governance/remuneration /remuneration.htm

Stakeholder engagement

102-40 List of stakeholder groups 8.3 Networks and stakeholder dialogue

102-41 Collective bargaining agreements 8.4 Employee data

102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders 8.3 Networks and stakeholder dialogue

102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 8.3 Networks and stakeholder dialogue

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 8.3 Networks and stakeholder dialogue

102-45 Entities included in the consolidated
financial statements

6.6 Notes to the consolidated financial
statements

102-46 Defining report content and aspect
boundaries

8.2 Materiality and Sustainable Development
Goals

102-47 List of material aspects 8.2 Materiality and Sustainable Development
Goals

102-48 Restatements of information 8.5 Scope of the reporting

102-49 Changes in reporting 8.5 Scope of the reporting

https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/remuneration/remuneration.htm
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/remuneration/remuneration.htm
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/remuneration/remuneration.htm
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/remuneration/remuneration.htm
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/remuneration/remuneration.htm
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/remuneration/remuneration.htm
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/remuneration/remuneration.htm
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/remuneration/remuneration.htm
https://www.accell-group.com/en/corporate-governance/remuneration/remuneration.htm
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Disclosure number Disclosure Title Item - Location

Stakeholder engagement

102-50 Reporting period 8.5 Scope of the reporting

102-51 Date of most recent report March 2018

102-52 Reporting cycle annually

102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the
report

8.10 Colophon

102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance with the
GRI Standards

Core

102-55 GRI content index 8.6 Reporting standards and guidelines

102-56 External assurance 4.1 General

Management approach

103-1 Explanation of the material aspect and its
boundaries

8.2 Materiality and Sustainable Development
Goals

103-2 The management approach and its
components

3.6 Brands and Products, 3.7 Processes and
information technology, 3.8 Organization
and people

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 3.6 Brands and Products, 3.7 Processes and
information technology, 3.8 Organization
and people

Materials

301-1 Materials used by weight or volume 3.7 Processes and information technology

Energy

302-1 Energy consumption 3.7 Processes and information technology

Emmissies

305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions 3.7 Processes and information technology

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 3.7 Processes and information technology

Emissions

306-2 Waste by type and disposal method 3.7 Processes and information technology

Occupational health and safety

403-2 Types of injury and rates of injury,
occupational diseases, lost days and
absenteeism, plus number of work-related
fatalities

3.8 Organization and people, 8.4 Employee
data

Training and education

404-1 Average hours of training per year per
employee

3.8 Organization and people, 8.4 Employee
data
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Current/foreseable impacts
(GRI-indicator) Material aspect Reference

Environmental

energy use (301-1) Energy consumption 3.7 Processes and information
technology

greenhouse gas emissions (305-1,
305-2)

Energy consumption 3.7 Processes and information
technology

use of materials (301-1) and waste
processing (306-2)

Sustainable production 3.7 Processes and information
technology

sustainable commuting (% sustainable
commuting)

Healthy, safe & green mobility 3.8 Organization and people

Social & Employee

diversity policy (Board of Directors and
Supervisory Board)

Governance 4 Corporate Governance

labour conditions (number of audits) Supply chain 3.7 Processes and information
technology

health & safety (403-2) Health & safety 3.8 Organization and people

work satisfaction and welfare (404-1) Work satisfaction & welfare 3.8 Organization and people

Respect for human rights (G4-HR11)

 Supply chain 3.7 Processes and information
technology

Anti-corruption

 Profitability 4 Corporate Governance

Bribery

 Profitability 4 Corporate Governance

 

SUMMARY TABLE EU DIRECTIVE ON THE
DISCLOSURE OF NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION
AND INFORMATION ON DIVERSITY
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8.7 OUR BRANDS



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Our brands 214



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Our brands 215



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Our brands 216



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Our brands 217



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Our brands 218



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Our brands 219



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Our brands 220



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Our brands 221



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Our brands 222



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Our brands 223

 



Accell Group Jaarverslag 2018 Addresses 224

8.8 ADDRESSES

Accell Suisse AG | Switzerland | • accell-suisse.ch

 

Oldenburger Straße 4 – DE-48429 Rheine
T +49 5971 8601-0
E info@batavus-baeumker.com

Batavus Bäumker GmbH | Germany | • batavus-baeumker.com

Koedijkerweg 12A – 3816 BV Amersfoort
T +31 337 410 740
E info@babboe.nl

Babboe B.V. | The Netherlands | • babboe.com

(Elevator 12F) 11F., No.287, Sec. 3, Nanjing E. Rd., Songshan Dist. – Taipei City 105
T +886 2 2740 2214

ATC Limited | Taiwan

Industriestraße 21 - CH-6055 Alpnach Dorf
T + 41 41 670 2190
E info@accell-suisse.com

6004 South 190th Street - Suite 101 - Kent, WA 98032
T +1 253 395 1100

Accell Group N.V. | The Netherlands | • accell-group.com

Accell North America, Inc. | United States of America

Industrieweg 4 – 8444 AR Heerenveen
T +31 513 638 999
E info@accell.nl

Accell Nederland B.V. | The Netherlands | • accellnederland.nl

Parkoló tér 1 – H-5091 Tószeg
T +36 56 586 481
E info@accell-hunland.hu

Accell Hunland Kft. | Hungary | • accell-hunland.hu

Organize Sanayi Bölgesi 3. Kisim – Ahmet Tütüncüoglu Caddesi No. 1 – 45030 Manisa
T +90 236 213 0045
E info@accellbisiklet.com.tr

Accell Bisiklet A.S. | Turkey | • accellbisiklet.com.tr

Postbus 435 – 8440 AK Heerenveen - Industrieweg 4 – 8444 AR Heerenveen
T +31 513 638 703 
E info@accell-group.com 

http://www.accell-group.com
http://www.accellbisiklet.com.tr
http://www.accell-hunland.hu
http://www.accellnederland.nl
http://www.accell-suisse.ch
https://www.babboe.com/
http://batavus-baeumker.com
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Centaur Cargo B.V.| The Netherlands | • centaurcargo.com

Raleigh UK Ltd | United Kingdom | • raleigh.co.uk

Varusmestarintie 26 - FI-20360 Turku
T +358 (0)10 27 33 200

Tunturi-Hellberg Oy Ltd. | Finland | • tunturi.fi

Industriestraße 21 – CH-6055 Alpnach Dorf
T +41 41 620 7455

swissbike Vertriebs GmbH | Switzerland

2685 Park Center Drive Suite C - Simi Valley, CA 93065
T +1 800 377 4532
E info@raleighelectricorders.com

Raleigh Electric | United States of America  | • raleighelectric.com

2124 London Lane – Oakville, Ontario L6H 5V8
T +1 905 829 5555
E info@raleigh-canada.ca

Raleigh Canada Ltd | Canada | • raleigh-canada.ca

136 Church Street – Eastwood, Nottingham NG16 3HT
T +44 1773 532 600
E info@raleigh.co.uk

An der Tongrube 3 – DE-95652 Waldsassen
T +49 9632 9255-0
E info@ghost-bikes.de

Koedijkerweg 12A – 3816 BV Amersfoort
T +31 332 022 692
E centaur@centaurcargo.com

Ghost-Bikes GmbH | Germany | • ghost-bikes.com

Datavej 12 – DK-5220 Odense SØ
T +45 65 99 24 11
E info@cycleservicenordic.com

Cycles Service Nordic ApS | Denmark | • cycleservicenordic.com

Avenue de l’Industrie - FR-42160 Saint Cyprien
T + 33 967406543

Cycles France Loire S.A.S. | France

Rue Edmond Voisenet - FR-21000 Dijon Cédex
T +33 380 525 186
E contact@cycles-lapierre.fr

Cycles Lapierre S.A.S. | France | • cycles-lapierre.fr

Polígono Erratzu 440 - ES-20130 Urnieta (Gipuzkoa)
T +34 943 331 393
E comet@comet.es

Comet Distribuciones Comerciales S.L. | Spain | • comet.es

http://centaurcargo.com
http://www.comet.es
http://www.cycles-lapierre.fr
http://www.cycleservicenordic.com
http://www.ghost-bikes.com
http://www.raleigh.co.uk
http://www.raleigh-canada.ca
http://raleighelectric.com
http://www.tunturi.fi
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Vartex AB | Sweden | • vartex.se
Batterivägen 14 - SE-432 32 Varberg
T +46 340 64 60 00
E respons@vartex.se

E. Wiener Bike Parts GmbH | Germany | • bike-parts.de
Max-Planck-Straße 8 – DE-97526 Sennfeld
T +49 9721 6501-0
E info@bike-parts.de

Winora-Staiger GmbH | Germany | • winora-group.de
Max-Planck-Straße 6 – DE-97526 Sennfeld
T +49 9721 6501-0
E info@winora-group.de

http://www.vartex.se
http://www.bike-parts.de
http://www.winora-group.de
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8.10 COLOPHON
TEXT
Accell Group - Heerenveen, The Netherlands
CFF Communications - Amsterdam, The Netherlands
Good Company - Rotterdam, The Netherlands

DESIGN & LAY-OUT
Boerma Reclame - Gouda, The Netherlands

WEBSITE
Mattmo Creative - Amsterdam, The Netherlands

PRINTING & DISTRIBUTION
Printweb Media B.V. - Nieuwegein, The Netherlands

 

Additional information
Accell Group N.V.
Tel: +31 (0) 513 638 703
E-mail: info@accell-group.com
 





Accell Group N.V.
P.O. Box 435, 8440 AK Heerenveen
Industrieweg 4, 8444 AR Heerenveen
The Netherlands
T +31 (0)513 638 703
E info @ accell-group.com
www.accell-group.com




